
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held Virtually - www.youtube.com/graveshamtv on Wednesday, 16 December 
2020 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 5)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

a) 20200343 - Land At Market Square And Horn Yard Car Parks New 
Swan Yard, Gravesend, Kent - Erection of 242 no. residential units 
for Build to Rent (C3 Use Class), within three blocks ranging from 3 
to 10 storeys, together with multi-storey car park as well as access, 
pedestrian links, landscaping, highway and other associated works 
- report herewith

(Pages 7 - 160)

b) 20200561 - Former St Johns Ambulance, Brigade H Q, Armoury 
Drive, Gravesend - Demolition of vacant brick buildings and 
erection of 2 no. one bedroom bungalows and a two storey block 
containing 4 no. two bedroom flats with associated access from 
Albert Murray Close and Armoury Drive, car parking, landscaped 
amenity and ancillary enclosure - report herewith

(Pages 161 - 
186)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Steve Thompson

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 25 November 2020 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Steve Thompson

Laura Caiels
Wendy Lane

Principal Lawyer (Place), Medway Council
Assistant Director (Planning)

Richard McEllistrum
Dave Herrington
Lauren Wallis

Planning Manager (Development Management)
Digital Manager
Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

24. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received.

25. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 30 September 2020 were 
signed by the Chair.

26. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made. However, for reasons of transparency Cllr Jordan 
Meade advised that he was one of the Ward Councillors for the Woodland ward.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 25.11.2020

2

27. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

27.1 20200912 - Land adjacent to The Haven 22A Chalky Bank, Gravesend 
DA11 7NY - Demolition of garages, erection of outbuilding and 
incorporation of land into the garden curtilage of 22A Chalky Bank 

The Committee considered an application reference 20200912 for the demolition of two 
garages, the erection of an outbuilding and incorporation of land into the garden curtilage of 
22A Chalky Bank, Gravesend.

The Planning Manager (Development Management) explained that the application was 
before the Committee as the applicant was the husband of a Borough Council employee. 
Members were shown a number of photographs of the front and rear of the property which 
showed the demolished garages, the newly constructed fences enclosing the amended 
curtilage and the newly installed hard standing area to the front of the dwelling which 
provided parking for two vehicles together with maps which showed that position of the 
proposed outbuilding and the change in curtilage of the site. It was noted that one the 
garages came within the ownership of The Haven, 22A Chalky Bank and the other belonged 
to 402 Wrotham Road and that the garages were not considered a useful size for the 
storage of vehicles.

The proposed outbuilding would be 7 metres wide, 2.9 metres in height and 8 metres in 
depth with 2 roof lights.  The Planning Manager (Development Management) described the 
key planning issues with regard to this site and advised, in relation to the Principle of 
Development, the proposal would leave enough usable garden, was not of a large scale, 
was in the same position of the garages and the same height.

Four objections had been received, three from the same household. A potential noise issue 
from the proposed outbuilding had been raised and the officer noted that noise would not 
typically limit noise using planning conditions. If there was a problem in the future, then it 
would be dealt with by the Council’s Environmental Service. 

In conclusion, the officer recommended that permission be granted subject to the conditions, 
reasons and informatives as set out in the report.

The following points were raised during discussion on this application:

 The Planning Manager (Development Management) confirmed that the ownership of 
the garages at the time of their demolition was not a planning consideration and that 
the transfer of the ownership of the garage owned by 402 Wrotham Road was a 
private issue between the owners. Members were advised officers understood the 
land to now been transferred between the parties.

 Members were advised that the change of curtilage, including the extension into the 
driveway was all been included in the planning application.

 The officer confirmed that the proposed outbuilding would be abutted to the rear and 
flank boundaries of the garden. As a consequence the external walls of the building 
would be more difficult to maintain. However, this was not a planning consideration 
but for the applicant to resolve.

Resolved that application 20200912 be PERMITTED subject to the conditions, 
reasons and informatives as set out in the officer’s report.

Page 4



Planning Committee 25.11.2020

3

28. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Planning & Development) 
under delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 7.15 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20200343

Site Address:
Land At Market Square And Horn Yard Car Parks 
New Swan Yard, Gravesend, Kent

Application 
Description:

Erection of 242no. residential units for Build to Rent (C3 Use 
Class), within three blocks ranging from 3 to 10 storeys, together 
with multi-storey car park as well as access, pedestrian links, 
landscaping, highway and other associated works.

Applicant: Reef Group

Agent: Knight Frank

Ward: Riverside 

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 26th January 2021

Publicity Expiry 
Date: 27th November  2020

Decision Level: Planning Committee 16th December 2020

Reason for referral: Major Development Proposal 

Recommendation: See Supplementary Report (Appendix C)

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

Unchanged from July Supplementary Report (Appendix C).

Reason for report

1.1 The applicant has submitted a revised planning application form, with the changes relating only to the 
notice given / publicised to owners of the site.  The information originally provided on the prior 
application form was incomplete, specifically as there were very small portions of the site which are 
‘unregistered’ land, in that the ownership is unknown, and notice has to be made in the local press of 
the application to attempt to make those potential owners aware of the application.

1.2 In order to be fully transparent and consistent with the relevant planning law, where a declaration of 
this type on the application form is confirmed to have originally been incorrect, it is considered to be 
necessary to make the application ‘invalid’ and then ‘valid’ again upon receipt of the corrected 
application form and ownership certificate, and re-consult all parties, neighbours and consultees 
again.

1.3 The correct process in regard to notice and publicity of the making of the application has now been 
followed, and the relevant time periods have passed.

1.4 This technically error does not affect in any way the validity of any conclusions previously made 
regarding the merit of the development made by officers, or members of the Planning Committee.

Page 7 Agenda Item 5a



July Planning Committee Resolution

1.5 The application went before the Planning Committee on 22 July 2020 where the following resolution 
was agreed by Members, that:

20200343 to be DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Development Management) in 
consultation with the Chair of the Planning Committee, for the issue of planning permission 
subject to planning conditions as set out in the report and the completion of a Section 106 
Legal Agreement.

Subsequent Matters / Progress

Secretary of State Call In request 

1.6 On 16 September 2020 the Secretary of State (MHCLG) e-mailed the case officer stating the 
following: 

The Secretary of State (MHCLG) has received a 3rd party request to call in the above application for 
his determination. We understand that the application was considered by the Planning Committee on 
22 July. The Secretary of State does not act on a third party request to call in a planning application 
until the relevant Planning Committee have resolved to approve the application. 

As the Committee are minded to approve the application then we request the local planning authority 
give an assurance that they would not issue a Decision Notice until the Secretary of State has 
considered whether or not to call in the application. Alternatively, if the authority cannot undertake not 
to issue the decision notice, the Secretary of State could issue an Article 31 holding direction.

I would be grateful if you could confirm whether you are content not to issue a decision notice in this 
case until the Secretary of State has decided whether or not to call in the application.

1.7 On 23 September 2020, officers confirmed they would not issue a decision until the Secretary of 
State had decided whether or not to call in the application.

1.8 The Secretary of State confirmed on 9 October 2020 that they would not be calling in the application 
and it can be determined by the Council.

Additional information submitted

1.9 The applicant has set out in their covering letter of 23 October 2020 the reasoning for submitting 
revised information, stating:

“The Revised Application Form (dated 23rd October 2020), has been amended to correctly 
incorporate ‘Certificate C’. 

In accordance with ‘Certificate C’ the Revised Application Form identifies those known owners and/or 
agricultural tenants upon whom the relevant notice(s) have been served, as well as the reasonable 
steps that have been taken to identify any unknown owners and/or agricultural tenants. 

In light of the presence of unknown owners and/or agricultural tenants, and in accordance with 
‘Certificate C’, a Public Notice was published in the Gravesend Messenger on Thursday 22nd October 
2020 (evidence of which is also provided). 

It should be noted that the content of the Application Form otherwise remains unchanged.”

1.10 In addition to the revised application form a revised site location and block plan has been submitted to 
show an updated OS base. The applicants covering letter states the following:

Page 8



It has been brought to our attention that the Site Location Plan (Ref. 3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-0005-D) 
and Block Plan (Ref. 3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-0006-D) originally submitted with the Full Planning 
Application did not include the recently constructed property known as ‘Market Court’. 

Therefore, as requested, we hereby enclose a Revised Site Location Plan (Ref. 3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-
A-0005-F) and Revised Block Plan (Ref. 3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-0006-F) which utilises the updated 
Ordnance Survey base plan, correctly including the property at ‘Market Court’. Please note that the 
red line boundary included within the Revised Site Location Plan and Block Plan remain unchanged.

1.11 No changes are proposed to the development and the revised information relates purely to an 
updated application form and updated OS  base plan showing the building known as ‘Market Court’

2. Consultation Update

2.1 A full re-consultation was undertaken (site notice, press notice and letters to surrounding properties 
and contributors). The date of the consultation expired on 27th November 2020. 

2.2 To avoid any confusion the description on the letters and notices sent / placed is clear, with the 
following wording included at the top of the description of development:

Revised information relating to site ownership only – No changes to the form of development 
proposed.

2.3  The following further consultee responses have since been received.

Internal 

Gravesham Highways Development Management Officer
No objection, highway issues and any land requirements have been/are being discussed with Kent 
County Council as Highway Authority.

External

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation
It is noted that the revised information relates to site ownership details with no changes to the 
proposed development itself. On this basis EDC has no further comment.

Natural England
The proposed amendments to the original application are unlikely to have significantly different 
impacts on the natural environment than the original proposal.

Kent Highways and Transportation 
It would appear that the revised drawings submitted do not have any impact on the public highway 
and my previous consultation response still stands.

Highways England
No objection

Kent Public Rights of Way and Access Service
On balance, our earlier response to this application (Letter dated: 7 May 2020, Reference:  96390) 
remains appropriate and should therefore be considered at determination.

Kent Floor and Water Management
No further comments to make

Kent Economic Development
Many thanks for this notification which does not appear to affect the KCC contribution request dated 5 
May2020.

Page 9



Kent Heritage
No further comments to make

Environment Agency
No further comments to make

Sports England
No further comments to make

Port of London Authority
No further comments to make

Southern Water
Repeating comments on 26 May 2020 (no objection)

3rd Party Representations 

2.4 As a result of this round of consultation process 34 further responses proposal have been 
received. It should be noted that within these comments the objectors have provided some positive 
feedback and suggestions. The additional comments do not raise any specific material objections 
not previously recorded and addressed in the July Committee Report.  The matters raised within 
the further responses are summarised below.

Objections (32 responses)

 Adverse impact on existing residents who would walk across the site at night.
 Harmful to the heritage of the town centre.
 Loss of public car park.
 Adverse impact on highway network
 Multi-storey car park will result in anti-social behaviour and unsafe for future occupiers.
 Adverse impact on parking for medical centre
 Principle of development not acceptable in this location
 Loss of parking for market
 Loss of outlook
 Will increase crime
 Out of scale for the area
 Should not be rental but encouraged for first time buyers
 Poor living conditions 
 Loss of riverside views
 Architecture out of keeping with the area
 Apartments are not family size and will not create a community
 Dominate the historic market.
 The open car park is more secure environment than the proposed development 
 Strain on NHS resources
 Height of development is unacceptable.
 Lack of open space
 Contrary to local and national planning policy
 No economic benefit with this development
 Scheme has not been considered against other major developments within the town centre.
 No viability report has been submitted with the application.
 Adverse impact on the amenity of surrounding properties.
 Adverse impact on the PROW, Dark and Gloomy
 No need for the amount of apartments proposed.
 Missed opportunity for riverside development.
 Loss of light and sunlight to surrounding properties
 Does not reflect the historic street pattern of the area

Page 10



 Empty properties in the borough could be used before these types of developments are 
considered.

 The site could be used for a museum or other community use
 No demand for a multi-storey car park
 Scheme will fail to regenerate the area
 Harm to the outlook, overlooking/shadowing into the habitable rooms of 1 to 10 Market Court.
 Concern that not viability assessment has been submitted with the application.
 If the previous approval was not viable why would this one be?
 The OS plan is incorrect
 The speed of the application being brought before the committee was too fast.

A single new matters was raised in the additional objections provided:

 Adding more shops is simply nonsensical.

(Though this new matter is in any case irrelevant, as no retail element is proposed.)

Support (1 responses)

 Positive development for the area and welcomes the scheme

Neutral Comments (1 response)

 Include swift bricks at the top of the buildings
 Using electric heating over gas supply and make them clean electric.

2.5 A number of non-material planning considerations have also been raised by neighbour 
representation letters. As they are non-material considerations they are not summarised here.

3. Planning Policies  & Material Considerations Update

3.1 Since the 22nd July 2020 Planning Committee the following planning policy changes at a local and 
national level are relevant.

3.2 On the 10th September 2020, members of Kent County Council resolved to adopt the Kent Mineral 
Sites Plan and the early partial review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30. 

This has no material impact on this proposal.

3.3 From 9am on Friday 23rd October 2020 until 5pm on Thursday 31 December 2020 the Local Authority 
is undertaking a Regulation 18 (Stage 2) consultation on the partial review of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy, Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Document. 

This has no material impact on this proposal.

3.4 A number of Planning Practice Guidance documents have been updated by the government which 
are ‘fees for planning applications’, ‘neighbourhood planning’, ‘town centre and retail’ and ‘when is 
permission required’. 

These changes do not materially impact on this proposal.

3.5 Permitted Development legislation has recently been extended, relating to the upwards extension of 
buildings allowing existing purpose-built detached blocks of flats, buildings in a terrace that are 
houses or in certain commercial uses, and in mixed uses with an element of housing to extend 
upwards to create new self-contained homes.  These do not affect this proposal as they only apply 
where the building was constructed between 1st July 1948 and 5th March 2018. 

Page 11



3.6 The Use Classes Order has seen non-residential Use Classes reorganised, other new Permitted 
Development rights and Covid related allowances to limits on the commencement of development 
have also been applied in recent months.  None of these changes make a material impact upon the 
merits of the proposed development. 

3.7 A number of planning permissions in the town centre have been issued in the period since the July 
Committee, including the major development at Clifton Slipways.

These permissions do not raise any new matters of material significance regarding the proposed 
development.

Conclusion

3.8 In summary there have been no material changes within either planning policy, guidance or planning 
legislation which undermine the weight or relevance of the planning policy, guidance or planning 
legislation against which the Committee considered the application in July.

4. Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

S106 Contributions Update

4.1 The 22 July 2020 Supplementary Committee Report  (Appendix C) at paragraphs 8.1 to 8.33 set out 
the S.106 contributions to be secured for this development. All the contributions were requested and 
have been agreed between the applicant and the LPA.

4.2 In order to provide clarification the applicant has confirmed that no viability report has been submitted 
with the application and applicants letters of 23rd October 2020 states the following:

Further to the revised / additional information set out above, we wish to take this opportunity to 
confirm that a Viability Report has not been submitted in support of the Full Planning Application. 

The Covering Letter (dated 31st March 2020) originally submitted with the Full Planning Application 
incorrectly stated that a Viability Report had been submitted in support of the Full Planning 
Application.  

4.3 The Heads of Terms for the S.106 are set out in paragraph 8.33 of the 22 July 2020 supplementary 
Committee Report  which is summarised as follows:

Obligation Sum
KCC Secondary Education £158,900
KCC Community Learning £3,973.64
KCC Libraries £13,418.90
Travel Plan £948
Kent and Medway Clinical Commissioning Group  £155,232.00
Gravesham Leisure Services £285,268.00
Financial contribution towards SAMMS £60594.38
Affordable Housing 48 Apartments 
Air Quality Monitoring £10,400.00
Management Scheme N/A
Highway Improvements N/A
Car Park Signage N/A
Total Figure: £688,734.92

4.4 The supplementary report was clear in paragraphs 8.15 and 8.16 that KCC Youth Services 
contributions would be requested.  However, that Report (paragraph 8.33) heads of terms list did 
not include KCC Youth Services. It, and the corrected total contribution figure is listed below.

Page 12



Additional Omitted Obligation Sum
Youth Services £15,851
Revised Total Figure: £704,585.92

KCC Highway Improvements (Plan Updated)

4.5 The initial draft legal agreement intended to require the following:

Not to allow not cause to allow the Occupation of any Dwelling on the Site until the Owner/Developer 
has entered into a section 278 or section 38 under the Highways Act 1980 (as amended) with the 
County Council to provide for the partial realignment of Bank Street, the addition of a larger turning 
head at the southern end of Swan yard and improvements to/widening of the pedestrian areas along 
Bank Street and New Swan yard in accordance with the approved plans (Watermans 14364-WIE-ZZ-
ZZ-DR-D-05027-P03).

4.6 Kent  Highways & Transportation Services raised the following issue with Watermans 14364-WIE-ZZ-
ZZ-DR-D-05027-P03

This is the correct original plan which was included in the TA (Transport Assessment) except that it 
was subsequently amended to exclude the parking bays along New Swan Yard so that they could be 
specifically dedicated to the Medical Centre. It should therefore be updated and attached to the S106 
Agreement as an Appendix. Also, to be complete it should extend further along New Swan Yard to 
the north as the drawing you have attached to your email appears to stop short of the area to be 
adopted and should be fully included.

4.7 The above amendments were taken into account and Drawing No. 14364-WIE-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-950 was 
submitted on 14th September 2020. 

4.8 Kent Highways & Transportation Services were re-consulted and confirmed on 15th September 2020 
this drawing is acceptable to accompany the S.106 agreement.  With this drawing dealing with 
technical matters relating to highways matters which are to be the subject of a separate Highways 
legal agreement, re-consultation with third parties was not required.

KCC Secondary Education (targeting of contributions)

4.9 KCC Economic Development in their request letter of 5th May 2020 requested £158,900 towards 
for school capital works within the Gravesham & Longfield Non-selective and selective Planning 
Groups. This included a possible 9 schools which are listed below.

4.10 It was deemed that the above list was too vague and in consultation with the chair of the Planning 
Committee,  two schools within a 3km range were selected which were:

 Mayfield Grammar School, Pelham Road, Gravesend
 St Georges Church of England School, Meadow Road, Gravesend

Page 13



4.11 KCC Economic Development and the applicant have agreed to the above contribution request and the 
S.106 agreement has been amended to reflect this.

KCC Youth Services

4.12 KCC Economic Development in their letter of 5th May 2020 referred to Miracles Youth Centre and 
Northfleet Youth Centre. Below is an extract from the KCC Economic Development letter dated 5th 
May 2020.

4.13 The Supplementary Report (paragraph 8.18) supported the above request. However, at the 
Planning Committee meeting the Chair raised concern that Miracles Youth Centre was dissolved 
in 2011 and Northfleet Youth Centre is over 2km from the site.

4.14 To address this concern Members agreed that the KCC Youth Services money would be collected 
but would go towards the cost of the expansion and enhancement of The Grand, King Street 
Gravesend and associated mobile/outreach programme. The applicant has agreed to this. KCC 
have acknowledged the administration error in relation to requesting monies for Miracles Youth 
Centre and are satisfied with the financial request being towards The Grand, King Street 
Gravesend and associated mobile/outreach programme

SAMMS

4.15 The Council, as the competent authority, has undertaken the Habitat Regulation Assessment 
(HRA) Screening Matrix and Appropriate Assessment (AA) Statement as informed by the 
applicant’s supporting evidence and the advice that we have received. As well as the scheme 
specific measures, the agent has paid £60,594.38 towards the North Kent Strategic Access 
Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS).

Signage

4.16 Queuing vehicles may lead to impacts on air quality and noise to surrounding residents. Paragraph 
3.25 of the Supplementary Report records that the applicant agreed to Multi-storey Car Park 
(MSCP) capacity signage (direct provision) to minimise any vehicles queuing to enter the MSCP.  
This matter will be secured within the s106 with the following clause:

“Not to cause or allow the Occupation of any Dwelling on the Site until full details of the location, 
wording of signage to the new car park and an implementation date has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Council in consultation with the County Council.”

Affordable Housing and Build to Rent

4.17 The 20% affordable housing / discount market rent (48) units has been secured using the 
guidance set out in paragraph 002 (Build to Rent) of national Planning Practice Guidance and in 
consultation with Gravesham’s New Homes Development and Strategy Manager.

4.18 Secondly using the guidance set in by the Government in the section titled “What happens if homes 
within a build to rent scheme are sold off into separate ownership?” The S.106 has been agreed in 
line with government guidance.

5. Third Party Comments received.

Page 14



5.1 As noted above, the development is not being amended and the changes purely relate to a revised 
application form and the OS base map being updated. No amendments to the development are 
proposed.

5.2 One third party objection letter was received following the July 2020 Planning Committee along 
with 34 comments received with the revised publication. 

5.3 The comments received have not raised any fresh objections which were not adequately 
addressed in the 22 July 2020 Planning Committee, but for clarity its worth addressing the key 
points raised by objectors in regard to the updated plans relating to Market Court, lying outside fo 
the site. 

Inaccurate OS Plan

5.4 To address the concern that the OS Plan and block plan did not accurately show the existing 
building of Market Court the applicant has, along with the new application form / ownership 
declaration, submitted revised plans to correctly show the position of that building.

5.5 It should be noted that the daylight sunlight test was based on the correct OS base plant.  As such 
the daylight / sunlight assessment (paragraphs 3.26 to 3.41) of the Supplementary Report is correct.

5.6 This is demonstrated below, which shows the modelling of 1-10 Market Court.

5.7 Paragraph 3.27 of the Supplementary Report includes the correct OS base plan used in the 
daylight/sunlight assessment (see below). As such Members would have clearly understood the 
position of Market Court in relation to this proposal.

Page 15



5.8 Officers’ assessment of the application was not inhibited by the previous omission of Market Court on 
the application plans.  Officers undertook numerous site visits and undertook their own assessment 
based upon what is actually on the ground, thus the previous inaccurate OS Plan not showing Market 
Court did not undermined the consideration of the impact of the scheme on that property.

5.9  This was previously demonstrated, for example by paragraph 3.20 of the Supplementary Report 
which stated:

As the above image shows, the Multi Storey Car Park results in there being very limited windows looking 
into the east facing windows of 12/14 High Street [Market Court] (opposite the centre – right hand side of 
this elevation). The windows fronting 12/14 High Street on the western elevation of E02 are secondary 
windows. To protect the occupiers of 12/14 High Street these windows being secondary windows will be 
conditioned to be obscure glazed and top hung only.

Page 16



5.10 The above image was not to show the exact distance between the proposed development and Market 
Court, but to demonstrate the potential overlooking from the secondary windows in the western 
elevation of E02.  

5.11 Block E02 fronts the rear yards of the High Street, apart from Market Court which is a residential block 
that was under construction when the previously implemented (2012) scheme was approved. Both 
this proposal, and the implemented scheme, have a similar distance to Market Court.  However, the 
difference with this scheme is the reduction in its height over previous scheme, and thus the impact on 
Market Court is reduced.  The following image shows the western elevation of E02/MSCP/E03, with 
the red outline showing the height of the previous permission’s built form on this elevation.

Page 17



5.12 Notwithstanding this, the proposed development (within the redline boundary) was and remains 
shown correctly, and all impacts on surrounding properties took into account the buildings on the 
ground at the time that the recommendation was made (and no changes have since occurred to 
warrant any change to the recommendation made in July).  Planning Committee Members were 
aware of the impact in this area, as shown on Slide 2 from the officer’s Committee presentation in 
July 2020. This clearly showed Member the eastern elevation of Market Court which will be facing 
E02/E01.

Balcony impact on Market Court 

5.13 As regards the potential impact from the baloncies on Market Court to the west, as set out in 7.3 of 
the supplmentary report, the final details of the balconcies will be conditioned.  As the conditions were 
resolved to be agreed in consultation with the Chair, the condition will be drafted to include details of 
screening on the western elevation of the baloncies for the apartments at the south west corner of 
E02. To ensure all surrounding properties can provide comment on the proposed glazing, the 
condition will be consulted upon with the surrounding properties if the applications for discharge are 
received.The balconies in question are highlighted below.

5.14 As set out in 5.158 of the main report (amenity of future occupiers) the same was applied when the 
case officer considered the impact on E01 on all surrounding properties including Market Court It 
should be noted that between the balconies of E01 and E02 fronting each other in Bank Street a 
distance of 17m is maintained. Whilst this is less than the 21m between two habitable windows, as 
set out in the 1996 residential layout guidelines, this distance between two facing buildings is 
considered acceptable within a close-knit night urban environment. To ensure privacy of the 
balconies are maintained, the final detailing of balconies will be conditioned. 

6. Planning Conditions Update

6.1 Paragraphs 7.1 to 7.3 of the Supplementary Report is clear that the conditions headings listed are 
not exclusive and there may be a requirement to amend/change conditions.

Page 18



6.2 The only condition listed in the Supplementary Report which is no longer included is the Water 
supply demand condition as Southern Water are not requesting this condition for this 
development.

6.3 The list below is a comprehensive list of all conditions to be applied, should permission be granted.  
Those conditions added, refined or revised following the July Committee Meeting, are identified in 
italics**.  A full copy of the conditions and informatives is attached at Appendix G

6.4 Pre-commencement conditions (agreed by the applicant)  
 Phasing plan
 Code of construction practice (previously listed as Construction management plan)
 Archaeological works
 Highway works
 Managing car parks during closure 
 Maintaining existing pedestrian and vehicular accesses to and through the site
 Contaminated land strategy

The following conditions will have the trigger point of ‘above grounds works’

 Sustainable surface water drainage
 Foul and surface water sewerage disposal 
 Air quality mitigation 
 Noise mitigation
 Crime prevention measures 
 External facing materials
 Section details (this has added to ensure acceptable finish to the development)**

The following conditions will have the trigger point of ‘prior to occupation’ 

 Broadband
 Verification report (contaminated land)
 Hard surface and boundary treatments
 Soft landscaping scheme 
 Formation of parking spaces (Added to ensure car parking spaces are created)
 Allocation and safeguarding of parking spaces
 External lighting
 Cycle storage
 Refuse arrangements
 Electric charging points
 Sound insulation (Added to protect amenity of apartments  in E02 and E03 from MSCP)**
 Details of balconies and balustrades
 Bat/bird roosting opportunities
 Crooked Lane link implementation 
 Management plan (For the scheme communal area etc)
 Car parking management plan
 Deliveries and servicing the proposed development
 Travel plan
 Obscure glazing

6.5 The following conditions will have the trigger point of prior to Installation 
 Plant equipment (this was listed as restriction of plant equipment in the supplementary report)

6.6 The following are on-going conditions 
 Infiltration of surface water drainage
 Watching brief
 Piling
 Dishes/telecommunication restrictions 

Page 19



 Generators

6.7 The Code of Construction Practice condition will require the input from County and Borough 
Highways Engineer as well as Gravesham Regulatory Services. To ensure the wording for this 
condition is acceptable it has been shared with the relevant parties and the final wording of this 
condition reflects all comments now received.

6.8 The noise mitigation scheme condition makes reference to 45DB whilst sound insulation condition 
relating to the MSCP states 53DB. These two levels are different DB levels. 

6.9 The Regulatory Services Manager provided clarification on the DB difference on 16th September 
2020 by stating the following:

The Building Regulations require separating floors (between residential only) to provide a minimum of 
43dB sound insulation, i.e. from one floor to the next.  Because they do not provide values for 
between commercial premises (where noise levels are expected to be greater and less controllable 
than in residential properties) and residential dwellings, we usually require an enhancement of at 
least 10dB to compensate for this in order to protect residents living directly above or below a 
commercial unit and apply the associated condition – as the 43dB level would likely be insufficient.  
This is where the 53dB comes from, i.e. the 43dB set out in the building regs + 10dB.  

The 45dB level in the noise mitigation scheme is an ‘LAmax’ level – that is to say, a maximum single 
noise level arising from a single external event, rather than an average over a period of time. This is a 
totally separate matter to the one outlined above:

BS8233:2014 deals with internal acoustic environments appropriate to their functions.  We (and all 
other LAs) tend to focus on dwellings meeting or exceeding the ‘Indoor Ambient Noise Levels for 
Dwellings’ set out within Table 4 of the document:

These basically relate to average noise levels experience over a period of time though (that’s what 
the LAeq but means) and so because BS8233:2014 doesn’t deal with peak/maximum noise levels 
from short-lived events, we would also draw on guidance set out in the Professional Practice 
Guidance On Planning & Noise and the WHO Guidelines for Community Noise which both state that 
maximum internal noise levels should not normally exceed 45dB LAmax more than 10 times per 
night.  

By applying both the BS8233:2014 ‘average’ level limits, and the above mentioned 45dB single 
event limits, residents are afforded acceptable acoustic living environments according to the 
appropriate national standards – this is all quite standard and not asking for anything above and 
beyond; any acoustician employed on behalf of the developers would more than likely say this is fair 
enough.

6.10 As expressed by Members at the Planning Committee, to ensure that surrounding occupiers/owners 
can provide comment on the final finish of the development, the decision notice will also include an 
informative that when the applicant applies to discharge the following conditions (3, 4, 7, 8, 15, 19, 
20, 28 and 35) 3rd parties will be consulted to allow surrounding properties to express views on the 
following.
 Phasing plan
 Code of construction practice

Page 20



 Managing car parks during closure 
 External facing materials
 Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments
 Soft Landscaping Scheme 
 Details of balconies and balustrades
 Obscure Glazing

6.11 In addition the following informatives will be included: 

 statement of positive and proactive approach to decision-making;
 reason for imposition of pre-commencement conditions;
 discharging condition (consultation);
 deviation from approved plans;
 Kent county council highways and transportation;
 building regulations and party wall act;
 utilities;
 naming & numbering;
 southern water;
 piling;
 discharging condition 14; and
 drainage/sewerage.

7. Conclusions (Update) 

7.1 The change to the application form ownership certificate has not exerted any significant effect on the 
conclusions previously reached by officers, and is not considered to undermine the reasons for which 
members previously reached their resolution to grant planning permission.

7.2 No changes to planning policy or guidance have occurred since the July Committee resolution or 
sufficient significance to warrant any change to the recommendation made by officer, nor to now 
undermine the reasons for which members previously reached their resolution to grant planning 
permission.

7.3 No changes to the circumstances of the site, or of the adjoining or local area have occurred of any or 
any significant significance to warrant any change to the recommendation made by officer, nor to now 
undermine the reasons for which members previously reached their resolution to grant planning 
permission.  

7.4 No additional or new material matters or objections have been raised by consultees or members of 
the public or any significant significance to warrant any change to the recommendation made by 
officer, nor to now undermine the reasons for which members previously reached their resolution to 
grant planning permission.    

8. Overall Balancing Exercise

8.1 The proposal remains a sustainable form of development and as set out in 5.16 to 5.27 of the 
Committee Report, the principle of development has been established.  The application site is it as a 
key site within Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area (sub-area 3.1 Town Centre) and the 
development accords with national and local policy planning policy and will provide an acceptable 
scheme within the urban area of Gravesend.

8.2 The proposal will provide much needed housing providing a net increase of ‘242’ dwellings would offer 
a significant contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, this has been accorded 
significant  weight in support of the application.

Page 21



8.3 In terms of the assessment of the impact of the development the key considerations, beyond the form 
and principle of the development, have been:

 Design, Character and appearance (Including Heritage)
 Sustainability
 Amenity of Future Occupiers
 Neighbouring Amenity
 Open Space
 Wind / Microclimate
 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 
 Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking
 Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
 Contaminated Land
 Ecology and Biodiversity including Habitat Regulation Assessment
 Planning Obligations/Affordable Housing
 Financial Considerations

8.4 These matters have been carefully considered during the processing of the application and 
additional technical information/clarification, where necessary, has been sought. There are no 
overriding adverse consultation comments to the development which is considered to be overall 
policy compliant with local and national planning policy.

8.5 3rd party comments received including those raised at or after the Planning Committee have been 
addressed and no fresh material planning considerations have been raised which were not 
already addressed at the July Planning Committee. 

8.6 The decision notice is clear (Informative 3) that when the applicant applies to discharge 
conditions the LPA will consult surrounding properties on conditions 3, 4, 7, 8, 15, 19, 20, 28 and 
35. As such surrounding properties will be able to provide comment on final details such as 
soft/hard landscaping, and which windows will be obscure glazed and fixed shut.

8.7 Furthermore, there has been no objections from statutory consultees to the proposal with the 
likes of Gravesham Conservation Architect, Historic England and Kent Highways & 
Transportation Services raising no objection to the proposal subject to suitable conditions. 

8.8 When agreeing the planning conditions all the suggested conditions from internal and external 
consultees have been included where they meet the relevant tests as set out in in paragraph 56 
of the NPPF (2019).

8.9 It is recognised that the development is likely to take place on a phased basis due to the tight 
nature of the site and to ensure the development comes forward in an orderly fashion the 
applicant has agreed to a pre-commencement condition (condition 3) requiring a phasing plan to 
be submitted prior to any work commencing on site. To further ensure the impact of the phased 
development is minimised, the applicant has agreed to a pre-commencement condition 
(condition 4) to cover code of construction practice). 

8.10 Therefore, on balance, the recommendation for permission as set out to the Planning Committee 
within the supplementary report of 22 July 2020 stands and officers recommend that permission 
should be issued, subject to conditions and a legal agreement.

Recommendation

Page 22



It is recommended that the application is DELEGATED to the Planning Manager (Development Management) 
to issue planning PERMISSION subject planning conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement. 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A: Application Site plan

Reference 20200343

Address Land At Market Square And Horn Yard Car Parks 
New Swan Yard, Gravesend, Kent 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20200343

Site Address:
Land At Market Square And Horn Yard Car Parks 
New Swan Yard, Gravesend, Kent

Application 
Description:

Erection of 242no. residential units for Build to Rent (C3 Use 
Class), within three blocks ranging from 3 to 10 storeys, together 
with multi-storey car park as well as access, pedestrian, 
landscaping, highway and other associated works.

Applicant: Reef Group

Agent: Knight Frank

Ward: Riverside 

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 14.07.2020

Publicity Expiry 
Date: 19.05.2020

Decision Level: Planning Committee 

Reason for referral: Major Development Proposal 

Recommendation: See Supplementary Report

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

See Supplementary Report.

1. Proposal 

1.1 The proposal is for the re-development of the two public surface car parks (Horn Yard 
(88 spaces) and Market Square (123 spaces)) which are to the north and South of 
Bank Street and construct 242 Build to Rent (BTR) apartments which would be the first 
of this type within Gravesham and a multi-storey car park (MSCP).

1.2 The development will be split over three residential blocks (referred to as E01, E02 and 
E03) and a freestanding MSCP between E02 and E03. The breakdown of this 
development is as follows:

 E01 – 172 Units (up to 10 storeys in height)
 E02 – 42 Units (up to 7 storeys in height)
 E03 – 29 Units (up to 8 storeys in height
 MSP – 6 split level car park providing 186 spaces

Page 27



1.3 In regard to the mix of the apartments for the proposal, the following table outlines the 
proposed accommodation schedule across the development. 

1.4 The proposed development will include 25 accessible units, including 20 two-bed (4 
person) apartments; 4 one-bed (2 person) apartment and 1 two-bed (3 person) 
apartment  All communal corridors are 1500mm minimum clear width, to facilitate 
wheelchair movement, and all wheelchair accessible apartments above ground floor 
level will be served by two lifts.

1.5 20% (49 apartments) of the apartments will be Discounted Market Rent (DMR) and will 
be made available at least 20% below market rent (including any service charge).

1.6 BTR is new form of residential tenure which the government first addressed in the 2017 
Housing White Paper ‘Fixing our broken housing market’ and provides clear support for 
the BTR concept with the first guidance set out in ‘Build to rent’ page on the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) website in September 2018. In addition the NPPF (2019) now 
defines BTR in Annex 2 as the following:

Purpose built housing that is typically 100% rented out. It can form part of a wider multi-
tenure development comprising either flats or houses, but should be on the same site 
and/or contiguous with the main development. Schemes will usually offer longer 
tenancy agreements of three years or more, and will typically be professionally 
managed stock in single ownership and management control.

1.7 The residential product remains within the C3 Residential Use Class, The National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 states that affordable housing on build to rent 
schemes should be provided by default in the form of affordable private rent / 
Discounted Market Rent, a class of affordable housing specifically designed for build to 
rent. The NPPF (2019) advises 20% is a suitable benchmark for the level of affordable 
private rent homes to be provided (and maintained in perpetuity) in any build to rent 
scheme.

Page 28



1.8 Each block will incorporate provision for secure cycle parking as well as private and 
communal amenity space.

1.9 Next to each building core are refuse stores which can be accessed internally by 
residents.

1.10 With regard to car parking, the MSCP is nestled between E02 and E03 and will provide 
186 car parking spaces which will be split between the public, residents and a further 9 
spaces are being provided to replace the lost spaces for the adjacent Medical Centre. 
On street a further 7 disabled spaces will be provided.

1.11 Access to the car park will be via Bank Street and onto New Swan Yard.

1.12 A lay-by is provided along Bank Street for both drop off and deliveries. The proposed 
development provides for refuse to be collected from the Site by refuse collection 
vehicles (RCVs) entering and exiting via Bank Street and Queen Street. This area will 
accommodate vehicles up to 12 metres in length for servicing both the proposed 
development and adjacent land uses.

1.13 Surrounding the built form various improvements are proposed to the public realm 
including a new pedestrian link from the bottom of New Swan Yard onto Crooked Lane. 

2. Relevant Planning History

20191286 - Request for a screening opinion in accordance with The Town and 
Country Planning Act (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 in 
respect of the redevelopment of the existing car parks (Market Square & Horn 
Yard), including the construction of three buildings comprising of up to 250 
Residential Units and 194 car parking spaces with associated highway works and 
landscaping.  EIA Not required 20.12.2019

20190190 - Application for approval of conditions C4 and C6 attached to planning 
permission reference no. 20120931 relating to the construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) and a scheme for maintaining existing pedestrian and 
vehicular accesses. Permitted 01.03.2019

20190088 - Application for non-material amendment to planning permission 
reference number 20120931 to allow for the wording of the following condition to be 
amended: Conditions relating to Eastern Quarter only (Detailed Permission) - 
Condition C2 to be amended to allow for below ground works to be undertaken in 
the Eastern Quarter prior to binding the Eastern Quarter to the 2014 s106 legal 
agreement, in line with the trigger of this legal agreement (i.e. obligations triggered 
on commencement of development, which does not include below ground works), 
and Condition C7 to be amended to allow for works to be undertaken within 
'Archaeological Zone 1', in line with the findings of the Interim Archaeological Field 
Evaluation for Archaeological Zone 1. Permitted 12.02.2019

20181317 - Application for approval of condition C5 attached to planning permission 
reference no. 20120931 relating to details of a programme for managing the 
existing and replacement public car parking during the construction phase (to 
include details of access, signage and circulation). Permitted 03.01.2019

20181288 - Application for non-material amendment to planning permission 
reference number 20120931 to allow the wording of the following condition to be 
amended: Conditions relating to Eastern Quarter only (Detailed Permission) 

Page 29



Condition C11 to be amended to change the conditions from pre-commencement to 
prior to above ground works. Permitted 20.12.2018

20181266 - Application for approval of condition C 10 attached to planning 
permission reference no. 20120931 relating to surface water drainage scheme. 
Permitted 05.02.2019

20180995- Application for approval of condition C8 (a) and (b) attached to planning 
permission reference no. 20120931 relating to details of the contaminated land 
assessment. Permitted 25.09.2018

20180645 - Application for non-material amendment to planning permission 
reference number 20120931 to allow the wording of the following conditions to be 
amended:

Conditions relating to whole development
Condition B11, B14, B18 and B19 to be amended to change the conditions from 
pre-commencement to prior to above ground works and remove reference to the 
western quarter/whole development.

Conditions relating to Eastern Quarter only (Detailed Permission)
Conditions C12, C13, C16, C17, C18, C19, C20, C21, C22, C24, C25, C26, C32, 
C34, C35 and C39 to be amended to change the conditions from pre-
commencement to prior to above ground works. Permitted 02.07.2018

20120931 – Hybrid planning application (part outline and part detailed) for the 
demolition of buildings and redevelopment of land in Gravesend Town Centre 
known as the Heritage Quarter comprising the Western Quarter and Eastern 
Quarter.  The Western Quarter comprising the West Street and St. George's Centre 
car parks, St. George's Church and Gardens, part of the existing St. George's 
Centre, the Blockbuster site and the river walkway between Elizabeth Gardens and 
Town Pier.  The Eastern Quarter comprising Horn Yard and Market Square car 
parks and St. Andrews Gardens.  

The proposal comprises:

Western Quarter:
Outline proposal (including details of access only with all other matters reserved) for 
a mix of uses including retail and food & drink (Use Classes A1, A2, A3, A4 and 
A5), offices (Use Class B1), between 164 no. and 187 no. residential units (Use 
Class C3), community space (Use Class D1), public and private car parking, public 
realm and amenity space as well as associated servicing, landscaping and highway 
works.

Eastern Quarter:
Detailed proposal for the erection of 3 no. buildings to provide 141 no. residential 
units (Use Class C3), restaurant space (Use Class A3), a 50 no. bedroom hotel 
(Use Class C1) as well as public and private car parking and associated servicing, 
landscaping and highway works. Permitted 01.05.2014

20080696 - Hybrid application (Outline permission & Full Planning Permission) for 
the demolition of buildings & redevelopment of land in Gravesend Town Centre 
known as The Heritage Quarter (Split into the Western & Eastern Quarters). The 
Western Quarter being The West Street & St. George's Centre Car Parks, St. 

Page 30



George's Church & Gardens, Part Of The Existing St. George's Centre & The River 
Walkway Between Elizabeth Gardens & Town Pier.  The Eastern Quarter being 
Horn Yard & Market Square, St. Andrews Gardens and Clarendon Lawn, Royal Pier 
Road.

Proposal comprises:-
Western Quarter:-  Outline planning application (including details of access only 
with all other matters reserved) for a mix of uses including retail and food & drink 
(Classes A1 retail, A2 financial & professional services, A3 restaurants & cafes, A4 
drinking establishments and A5 hot food takeaways), offices (Class B1 business 
offices), residential units (Class C3), replacement church hall (Class D1) to the north 
of St. George's Church, car parking and amenity space, with associated servicing, 
landscaping and highway works.

Eastern Quarter: - Erection of three buildings (E01, E02 and E03) and associated 
servicing, landscaping and highway works and being: - Building E01 - Erection of a 
5 storey building with one level of underground car parking comprising 1,426m2 
(gross external area) floorspace of Classes A2, A3, A4 and A5 uses and 94 
residential units (comprising 45 x 1 bed, 45 x 2 bed/duplex and 4 x 3 bed);
Buildings E02 and E03 - Erection of two buildings, 4-7 storeys (E02) and 4-5 
storeys (E03) in height with two levels of combined underground car parking.  
Building E02 comprises 40 residential units (27 x 1 bed and 13 x 2 bed) and 
Building E03 comprises a 42 room hotel (Class C1), an electricity sub-station and 
16 residential units (5 x 1 bed and 11 x 2 bed/duplex units). Refused 29.09.2010

19900686 - Continued use and use of additional land as a surface car park for 106 
spaces together with landscaping scheme. Permitted 29.01.1991

19900682 - Continued use and use of additional land as a surface car park for 127 
spaces together with landscaping scheme. Permitted 29.01.1991

19890827 - Erection of blocks of 54 flats over 2 deck u/ground car park between 
Crooked Lane, bank Street. & High Street & erection of two 4 storey offices with 
ancillary car park and replacement Market Square & store on land between Bank 
Street, High Street, Queen Street, and covered market & alts to Queen Street and 
Crooked Lane junction. Permitted 27.09.1990

19870009 - Application under Regulation 4 of the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1976 for formation and laying out of a temporary car park. 
Temporary Permission 18.03.1987 

19870007 - Application under Regulation 9 of the Town and Country Planning 
General Regulations 1976 for formation and laying out of a temporary car park. 
Temporary Permission 18.03.1987

3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) (September 2014):
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS05 – Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area 
• CS08 – Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy
• CS10 – Physical and Social Infrastructure

Page 31



• CS11 – Transport
• CS12 - Green Infrastructure
• CS13 – Green Space, Sport and Recreation
• CS14 – Housing Type and Size
• CS15 - Housing Density
• CS16 - Affordable Housing
• CS18 - Climate Change
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles
• CS20 - Heritage and the Historic Environment

3.1 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2019) sets out those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, 
and should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal requirement as 
set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012.

3.2 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and The review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02 
due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted 
and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved 
policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) general conform with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019), the Council will also seek to replace these saved 
policies via the emerging Local Plan.

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (LPFR) (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network
• T5 – New Access onto Highway Network
• LT6 – Additional Open Space in New Housing Developments
• TC2 – Listed Buildings
• TC3 – Conservation Areas

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
● Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 4 – Decision-making
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
• Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
• Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
• Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015; and
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards
• KCC Guide to Development Contributions and the Provision of Community 

Infrastructure (2007)
• National Design Guide (October 2019)
• Kent Design Guide

Page 32



• Planning Guidance on Waste Collection Requirements (2019)

3.3 The Council has a statutory duty under 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects the settling of listed buildings, to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

3.4 Section 72(1) of the Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990 (as 
amended) requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area.

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Internal 

Waste Services
No objection subject to a condition on secure bin storage details and the refuse 
arrangements for the development being covered by a management plan for site.

Regulatory Services (Final Comments)

Air Quality
It is strongly advised that to overcome any impact of the street canyon on the residential 
units that the installation of forced air systems in all apartments be included, with 
openable windows and balcony doors,, as already mentioned in the noise comments for 
this development, so as to ensure a healthy environment within the residential units and 
giving residents choice as to whether they have the windows open or not. 

The emergency generators should be conditioned so they are only used in emergencies. 
The clarification that the testing of the generators is to be managed “by the maintenance 
company to reduce disruption – testing would take place at pre-determined times, and 
residents would be made aware of the testing regime” is welcomed. 

Electric Vehicle (EV) charging points or the associated ducking should be installed.

This service will be seeking a contribution of £10,400 towards the provision of passive air 
quality monitoring in the locality of the development, the operation of the air quality 
station at Painters Ash which is used for the verification of the diffusion tube data used in 
LAQM and in the planning process.as well as the review and assessment of that data 
and the implementation of the measures in the Final Action Plan – made up as follows:

£2400 towards the diffusion tube monitoring of five local sites to the development, some 
or all of which may be existing, for a period of five years commencing as soon as 
possible £4000 contribution towards the operation of the council’s roadside analysers 
and £4000 contribution towards the implementation of the measures in the council’s 
action plan.

The draft construction environmental management plan needs to be agreed and finalised 
and implemented at all times. It also needs to be a live document that can be reviewed 
and updated where necessary should some measures not be effective at this site. This 
should be done by agreement with the planning service. 

Noise

Page 33



The conclusion of the report is that the noise assessment indicates that through 
incorporation of good acoustic design and selection of appropriate glazing and 
ventilation, suitable residential amenity would be provided. Potential impacts associated 
with the operation of the development can be controlled rendering them negligible 
provided careful attention is paid to the building design, plant selection, installation and 
noise attenuation. The Development is considered compatible with surrounding land 
uses and would not adversely impact on the existing residential amenity.

No objection to the noise assessments but would request appropriate conditions are 
included to ensure all appropriate mitigation measures are included.  

Conservation Architect
The scale is apparent in the drawings submitted and the context will clearly be 
dramatically changed from the open car park adjacent to the historic High Street and 
Queen Street to a series of multi-storey residential buildings dwarfing the adjacent 
historic streetscape and open views towards the river.

This is however not necessarily to be seen as a negative impact on the town centre, 
which has evolved in other parts in an effort to cater for the needs of residents and 
businesses alike.  The open site was once occupied by a tightly knit series of streets and 
alleyways that were replaced with improved traffic circulation and parking provision.  The 
re-establishment of built form will re-integrate the area into the town scape and offer the 
opportunity for increased footfall from the new residential buildings requiring retail and 
commercial services from adjacent shops and offices.  This has always been the 
ambition of the project and this potential needs to be considered when assessing the 
proposals.

The approach to scale and bulk was established with the previously approved proposals 
and in essence this approach is reflected in the current application.  On balance there is 
no further harm to adjacent heritage assets, designed and non designated, as a result of 
the current proposal when compared with the previously approved proposals.

Samples of materials will need to be approved and lighting will need to be agreed, 
particularly for the multi storey car park, where we raised concerns previously.

On balance and subject to detail design and materials being approved the proposals 
should contribute to the sustainability of this part of the town centre and no adverse 
comments are raised.

Economic Development
Overall these development proposals are to be welcomed as they will bring more people 
into the Town Centre to live, shop, work and enjoy the Town. They present an 
opportunity to encourage more spend and investment and to help reinforce Gravesend’s 
location as one benefiting from enhanced connectivity via Highspeed1. They will also 
support the case for additional river transport services to and from London.

I note the discussions that have taken place to maintain servicing to the eastern side of 
the High Street during and post construction and ask that these be developed into a 
detailed plan to mitigate impacts on local businesses.

Where possible, opportunities are taken to enhance digital technology in the form of ultra 
fast and future-proofed connectivity in this part of the Town Centre; to facilitate home 
working as well as leisure activities. It will be important to anticipate future network 
capacity requirements.

Page 34



Town Centre and Market Management
The development should look to minimise the impact on the Market during the 
construction phase and exterior signage possibilities and ‘way finding’ on future 
hoardings for the build if it gets granted permissions. 

Parking Services
There is sufficient capacity in our other town centre off street car parks to accommodate 
displacement of vehicles that usually park in Market Sq/Horn Yard.  That said, it is 
difficult to anticipate where users would park, if at all but I would assume the most likely 
car parks would be West Street or St Georges given their location to the town centre.  

Housing Strategy
Turning to the applicant’s intention to deliver 48 homes as affordable private rent, upon 
first let there will need to be consideration as to the mix of homes available for this 
tenure.  This will need to be in the form of an Affordable Housing Scheme to be agreed 
by the Council through s.106 discussions.

Allocation of the Affordable Housing Scheme will be made through a lettings policy 
entered into with the Council with second and subsequent lets also being subject to the 
lettings policy to ensure that the agreed 20% affordable private rent remains across the 
development.  The details of the lettings plan will be prepared as part of the s.106 
discussions.

It is good to see the use of balconies to provide some private amenity space which for 
many is very important.  Balconies will need to be of a good size with particular attention 
being given to the materials used both in terms of visual appearance and fire safety.

Overall, the delivery of residential homes back into the town centre is a positive step and 
one which will help breathe life into the town.  The provision of Build to Rent as the 
alternative tenure, both market and affordable, will encourage new households to move 
to Gravesham as a place of choice with it’s heritage and excellent transport links, whilst 
also providing local essential workers with much needed, decent, affordable private 
housing. 

Private Housing
The development should consider fire safety and comply with all relevant Building 
Regulations legislation 

Horticultural Services
Currently the site contains a number of mature and semi mature trees however, they are 
not of particularly high value.  Most of these will require removal to facilitate the 
development however I don’t consider this to be a great loss due to the mitigation 
detailed.

The landscape plan indicates that the trees will be replaced on an approximate 2 for 1 
basis with new trees planted in suitable locations.  

Due to the current usage of the site it will currently have a low biodiversity value. Overall 
the development will improve biodiversity and increase habitat.

Any contributions should seek enhancements to St. Andrews gardens and the following 
is recommended.
 The site is currently fairly devoid of trees so selective tree planting in appropriate 

locations would be the first priority.

Page 35



 If funds allowed, the top section above the Clarendon Hotel would benefit from a 
perimeter path to make it more accessible.

 Whilst there are a good number of benches along the river frontage area there is 
scope to put more benches further back towards the road which is raised.  
Additionally, the top section of the gardens above the Clarendon Hotel does need 
new benches and bins.

 To increase biodiversity certain areas of the site could be planted up as wildflower 
meadows and perimeter hedging could planted and existing areas enhanced.

Leisure Services
Policy CS13 and the NPPF (2019) recognise that access to high quality open spaces and 
for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-being 
of communities. 

Based on all the assessment data currently available including, the Open Space, Sport & 
Recreation Assessment compiled by Knight Kavanagh & Page in 2016 and  taking into 
consideration the development’s location within the borough and real time 
need/deficiencies on the ground, the development would be expected to make a financial 
contribution towards upgrading and improving existing leisure provisions,  Using Sport 
England Sports Facility Calculator (SFC), and if we assume 605 residents within the new 
development (based on an average of 2.5 residents per dwelling), the SFC gives an 
indicative contribution figure of approximately £285,268.

Highway Development Management Officer 
The Transport Assessment submitted in its final formal reflects the extensive 
consultations held between the developer, Kent County Council and Gravesham Council.  
As a result of these discussions some public car parking has been retained to serve this 
part of the town, particularly the market.

The development is well served for bicycle parking and car parking availability for 
residents is limited and this reflects the common practice requirements for reduced car 
parking in town centres, and complies with both Kent County Council and Gravesham 
Borough Council residential car parking supplementary planning guidance.  The 
development should not have an adverse impact on the town centre road system in 
terms of traffic generation.

External

Kent County Council Highways and Transportation
Overall it is considered that the proposed development will not have any significant 
impact on the local highway network and no objection to the proposed development is 
raised on highway grounds subject to the following being conditioned  and included 
within the legal agreement (where appropriate)
1 - A Construction Management Plan
2 - A Car Parking Management Plan
3 - A full Travel Plan
4 -A Delivery and Servicing Management Plan is submitted to and approved by the LPA 
prior to first occupation.

The following issues should be included in a Section 106 Agreement.
- Monitoring by KCC Highways of the Travel Plan with fees paid by the Developer
(Currently £948 for 5 years monitoring)
- Contribution to Fastrack for improvements to the proposed Barrack Road bus
Interchange adjacent to the station. To help promote and encourage sustainable travel.

Page 36



- Contribution to residents’ bus travel (season ticket?) and/or cycle purchase. To help
Promote and encourage sustainable travel.
- Contribution towards new / improved interactive car park direction signing in the town
Centre to assist drivers in locating car parking spaces as a result of the closure of the
Existing Horn Yard and Market Square car parks and help avoid additional traffic
Circulating around the town searching for parking spaces (in liaison with GBC Parking
Manager)

Kent County Council Flood and Water Management
Kent County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed the Flood Risk
Assessment and Outline Drainage Strategy report by GDP (9 April 2020) and have the
Following comments to provide:
The strategy presented within the report is acceptable to the LLFA in principle and have
no objections to make. It is acknowledged that agreement with Southern Water was
made in relation to discharge rates (65 l/s for 100+40%) and note that this is a
significant improvement over the existing situation.

If permission is granted appropriate conditioning should be included.

Kent County Council Biodiversity Officer
The ecological impact assessment has made recommendations to enhance the site for 
reptiles and bats but no plan has been provided demonstrating where they will be 
located. We advise that prior to determination a plan is submitted demonstrating the 
locations of the bat and bird boxes.

Kent County Council Public Rights of Way Officer (PROW)
Given the scale of this proposed development and its proximity to the right 
of way, it is expected that public use of this footpath will increase. In preparation for this 
expected increase in use, the path surface should be upgraded to an appropriate 
standard by the applicant, with the specification approved in advance by the PROW 
Officer and access service.  

On balance, I have no objection to the proposal provided that our considerations are 
taken into account and the Public Rights of Way network is not obstructed by the 
development.

If permission is recommended suggested conditions are recommended.

Kent County Council Heritage (Archaeology)
In light of the archaeological potential of the site, the degree of modern recent impacts 
and the nature of the proposed development, recommends the standard archaeological 
works condition is included.

Kent County Council Economic Development

Page 37



Kent Police
If this application is to be approved we strongly request a CPTED/SBD Condition be 
included to address the points below and show a clear audit trail for Design for Crime 
Prevention and Community Safety to meet our and Local Authority statutory duties under 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.   

Kent Fire and Rescue Service
Confirms that on this occasion it is my opinion that the off-site access requirements of the 
Fire & Rescue Service have been met.

Historic England
Final comments of 20th May 2020 attached in as appendix 

Page 38



Southern Water
No objection subject to a condition requiring details of foul, surface water and Sewerage 
disposal being conditioned. Southern Water can provide a water supply to the site. 
Southern Water requires a formal application for connection and on-site mains to be 
made by the applicant or developer.

It is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the development 
site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an investigation of 
the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works commence 
on site.

Highways England
No objection

Network Rail
No objection, but notes the aggregate demand increase from developments like these 
can be significant, and capacity for commuters into central London is projected to 
become increasingly congested without investment.  

Port of London Authority (LPA)
The PLA’s Thames Vision Team have been in discussions with local recreational groups 
and there might be the opportunity through application 20200343 to provide funding, 
either in full or in part, for a rebuilt rowing club house to increase the available floorspace 
and to serve the fixed and sliding-seat rowing communities with boat storage at ground 
level and clubhouse facilities above, all designed to meet TE2100 requirements. It is 
understood that the recreational user’s needs were discussed in a meeting with 
representatives from the Council in February 2020 as part of the Council’s Scrutiny 
Committee Maritime Strategy sub group work. There might also be the opportunity to 
extend the Town’s Cultural Quarter to the River and it might be possible through 
application 20200343 to secure funding towards a feasibility study.

The Interim Travel Plan and Transport Assessment specifically reference the Gravesend 
to Tilbury Ferry, but it is not clear in the tables the expected use of the ferry by residents 
of the proposed development. Information on the ferry would be provided in the travel 
information pack but there appears to be no specific mode share for the ferry and the 
reasoning behind this is not clear

Environment Agency
No objection subject to conditions relating to flood risk, and ground water and 
contaminated land being included.

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
No detailed comments to make on the proposed development, but request that 
consideration is given to how it should contribute to local sustainable transport 
improvement schemes such as delivery of the planned Fastrack bus route between 
Northfleet Embankment and Gravesend Town Centre.

Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Commissioning Group
The CCG has assessed the implications of this proposal on delivery of general practice 
services and is of the opinion that it will have a direct impact which will require mitigation 
through the payment of an appropriate financial contribution of £155,232.

Sports England

Page 39



The proposed development does not fall within either our statutory remit (Statutory 
Instrument 2015/595), or non-statutory remit (National Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 
Par. 003 Ref. ID: 37-003-20140306), therefore Sport England has not provided a detailed 
response on this application

Natural England
Subject to the appropriate financial contribution being secured, Natural England is 
satisfied that the proposal will mitigate against the potential recreational impacts of the 
development on the site(s).  However, our advice is that this proposed development, and 
the application of these measures to avoid or reduce the likely harmful effects from it, 
may need to be formally checked and confirmed by your Authority, as the competent 
authority, via an appropriate assessment in view of the European Site’s conservation 
objectives and in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats & Species 
Regulations 2017.  

Publicity

4.1 This application was advertised as a major development proposal by publication of a 
press notice, display of site notices and by neighbour notification letters sent to 
addresses in the vicinity of the site. 

4.2 As a result of the consultation process 65 responses all objecting to the proposal 
have been received. It should be noted that within these comments the objectors 
have provided some positive feedback and suggestions.

Objections 

 Adverse impact on existing residents who would walk across the site at night.
 Lead to traffic congestion.
 Harm the outlook of existing properties.
 Noise disruption.
 Out of keeping with the character of the area
 Daylight and sunlight impacts on surrounding properties.
 Overdevelopment in respect of height, bulk and mass. 
 10 storey development harmful to the heritage of the town.
 Modern appearance is not acceptable.
 Lack of parking for the public.
 Increase in traffic on the surrounding highway network.
 Bank Street would be unpleasant wind tunnel.
 No wider benefits to the town.
 Lack of community space.
 Rental accommodation is not the best long term use for this site.
 Lack of relationship with the surrounding historic environment.
 Harmful to the surrounding commercial premises with the reduction in public car 

parking.
 Overlooking and harm to the amenity of surrounding residential properties.
 Increase in residents would put a strain on the NHS.
 No need for additional housing within the town.
 Insufficient links with riverside.
 Harmful to the market to the north of the site.
 Rental apartments would attract residents of a transient nature who may not buy into 

a healthy self management of their rental and surrounding area.
 Increased strain on school places.

Page 40



 Lack of affordable housing proposed.
 Loss of views to and from the river.
 The car parks should not be developed.
 Overshadowing and loss of light to surrounding properties.
 Gravesend western quarter should be developed first.
 Poor level of accommodation with single aspect flats and long corridors
 E01 courtyard will appear cramped for future occupiers.
 Not all flats have private amenity space.
 Noise and air pollution impact on future residents from Crooked Lane.

Suggestions
 Look at putting some swift bricks towards the top of the buildings. Swifts are one of 

our declining birds, mostly due to the lack of nesting sites on buildings.
 Ground source heat pumps could be considered at the ground clearing and 

foundation stage These take the natural heat from the ground and using a 'reverse 
refrigerator' principle produce hot water pipes above ground level. 

 no polluting gas is incorporated anywhere for heating.

Support
 The outlook for business is currently dire especially with COVID19. Several hundred 

more people living here, even if they work outside must help Gravesend's retail.

4.3 A number of non-material planning considerations are also raised by neighbour 
representation letters. As they are non-material considerations they are not 
summarised.

4.4 The comments above received are all of those received up until 4pm on Thursday 9th 
July 2020. Any additional 3rd party comments received up to midday on 20th July 2020 
will be summarised in the supplementary report. Any further comments received will 
be verbally updated to the Planning Committee.

5. Service Manager (Development Management) Comments

Site History and Context

5.1 The application site comprises of two public car parks known as Market Square and 
Horn Yard, Bank Street and Market Alley and the land to the rear of 3-4 High Street and 
surrounding highway land. 

5.2 The application site was once a heavily developed part of Gravesend town centre, and 
comprised of a series of east west running narrow streets and alleys which formed a 
continuation of the surrounding tightly knit urban grain.

5.3 West Street once extended into East Street which turned into Thames Terrace and then 
Royal Pier Road.  These roads were lined with buildings on both sides as shown on the 
1838 OS plan below:

1838 OS Plan

Page 41



 

5.4 The 1955 OS plan below shows that there were no direct north/south views from the 
Market or surrounding area and buildings blocked all north/south views apart from the 
High Street.

1955 OS Plan

5.5 It was not until 1955 that the urban grain within the context of the application site started 
to change. In 1955 St. Andrews Gardens was created by demolishing a number of 
buildings on the north side of East Street and Royal Pier Road.

5.6 In 1958 the ring road was constructed connecting West Street with the Terrace via 
Crooked Lane.

5.7 In the late 1980’s, the remaining buildings were cleared from the application site and the 
car parks were created bringing the current north-/ south views across the site came into 
existence. Therefore there were never any historical views north/south from market. The 
below OS Plan and aerial photograph show the site as it currently is.

Page 42



   

5.8 Planning approval 20120931 was lawfully implemented in 2020 but works were halted on 
site whilst this application was being determined. Whilst these works have ceased they 
can be commenced at any point and are material planning consideration for this proposal 
and represents a fall-back position.

5.9 With the adoption of Gravesham Core Strategy (2014) the site has been allocated for 
development being within a town centre opportunity area as set out in Policy CS05 
(LPCS).

5.10 In the wider context of town centre the area to the west and north of St. George’s centre 
has been allocated under Policy CS05 (LPCS) as a key development site for high 
quality, mixed use development.

5.11 Further to the west of St. Georges Centre is the former hospital site known as M Block 
(which was originally taken to June 2020 Planning Committee (reference 20190504) and 
is being brought back to the July 2020 committee). The proposal includes an 11 storey 
side extension to the existing building and below is an extract which shows that 
extension.

M Block CGI Image

Page 43



5.12 West of M block is Clifton Slipways which have a live planning application (reference 
20191122) for 227 units and includes a 20 storey tower above the pier level.

CGI Image of Clifton Slipways

5.13 The following aerial image puts the context of this application site in relation to other town 
centre sites.

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Screening

5.14 Having regard to the 2017 EIA Regulations, current national Planning Practice Guidance 
the application submitted an EIA screening opinion request in 2019 (ref 20191286). 

5.15 The Local Planning Authority concluded based on the evidence submitted with 
20191286, that the proposal would not be EIA development and accordingly an 
Environmental Statement is not required to accompany this planning application.

Page 44



Housing Need and the Principle of Development

5.16 Notwithstanding the principle of a residentially-led mixed use development being 
established on the application site with 20120931 being lawfully implemented, the 
housing need considerations still need to be taken into account for this proposal. 

5.17 Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing over 
the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there is a need for at least 6,170 new 
dwellings during the period. Evidence now available shows that the Council is not able to 
demonstrate a five-year housing supply. This engages the first part of footnote 7 of the 
NPPF (2019) and this means for decision-taking that planning permission for 
applications involving the provision of housing should granted in line with the 
requirements of the NPPF (2019) Para 11(d) unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed. 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

5.18 The proposed development for a net increase of ‘242’ dwellings would offer a 
significant contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, officers 
considers that this should be accorded significant  weight in support of the application. 
However, this has to be balanced against other requirements of the NPPF (2019) and 
in particular Sections 2,6,9,15 and 16 of the NPPF (2019) which requires development 
to be sustainable, add to the overall quality of the area, conserve, heritage, be visually 
attractive, sympathetic to local character and create acceptable amenity for future 
occupiers.

5.19 Notwithstanding the implemented permission on site, the site is it as a key site within 
Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area (sub-area 3.1 Town Centre). It should be 
noted that the Key Site strategic allocation was previous named as Heritage Quarter 
West and Heritage Quarter East (the site now named The Charter which is the subject 
of this planning application).

5.20 The supporting text for CS05 advises “Heritage Quarter East lies to the north of the 
Borough Market. It consists of the open air Horn Yard and Market Square car parks. 
Given the clear opportunities to make more efficient use of these under-used areas, 
improve townscape character and improve links to the river, the High Street and 
surrounding areas, both are identified as a Key Site”.

5.21  Paragraph 4.6.40 of the policy states the following:

Development of the Heritage Quarter will provide a high quality, mixed use 
development of around 330 dwellings, around 10,500 sq m gross of, primarily 
comparison, retail floorspace (use class A1), some office floorspace (use class B1a) 
and a hotel. It will reconnect the town centre with the River Thames, High Street and 
surrounding areas and reinforce Gravesend’s character as a riverside heritage town.
Replacement public car parking and improvements to the open space at St Andrew’s 
Gardens will be provided as well as a replacement St George’s Church Hall.

Page 45



5.22 For clarity, the development quantities given in the policy are the combined 
development quantities for the Key Site strategic allocation i.e. Heritage Quarter West 
and Heritage Quarter East.

5.23 This application will deliver a 100% residential scheme on this site where as the 
implemented scheme (20120931) provided a hotel, restaurant space at ground floor 
and residential apartments. The applicant has explained in the supporting material for 
this application and during public consultations, they intend that the more commercial 
elements of their proposal will be delivered in the area to the west and north of St. 
George’s Church. The following image shows an extract from the applicant’s press 
release on the possible development proposals around St. George’s Church.

5.24 As such is it considered this proposal complies with Policy CS05 (LPCS).

5.25 In regard to the principles of development more generally, Policy CS02 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) prioritises development in the urban area 
as a sustainable location for development. It seeks to achieve this by promoting 
regeneration by prioritising redevelopment and recycling of previously developed land. 

5.26 The application site consists of two open air car parks and some surrounding highway 
land. The site meets the definition of Previously Developed Land as stated in Annex 2 
of the NPPF (2019).

5.27 In summary, the principle of development is acceptable here subject to the detailed 
elements of the scheme complying with local and national policy. The key issues to be 
considered are as follows:

5.28 The key issues to be considered are as follows:

● Design, Character and appearance (Including Heritage)
● Sustainability
● Amenity of Future Occupiers

Page 46



● Neighbouring Amenity
● Open Space
● Wind / Microclimate
● Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 
● Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking
● Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
● Contaminated Land
● Ecology and Biodiversity
● Planning Obligations/Affordable Housing
● Financial Considerations

Design, Character and appearance (Including Heritage)

5.29 When considering the design of this proposal, it needs to be considered against the 
relevant local and national planning policy.  Policy CS15 (LPCS) states that sites will be 
developed at a variety of densities depending on the sites location and accessibility to 
public transport.  Furthermore, development needs to be delivered at a density that 
achieves good design and does not compromise the character of the area.
 

5.30 Policy CS19 (LPCS) states that the design, layout and form of new development will be 
derived from a robust analysis of local context and character and will make a positive 
contribution to the street scene, the quality of the public realm and the character of the 
area. The NPPF (2019) sets out that the creation of high quality buildings and places is 
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve and add to 
the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the 
development.

5.31 Policy CS20 (LPCS) sets out that the Council will accord a high priority towards the 
preservation, protection and enhancement of its heritage and historic environment as a 
non-renewable resource central to the regeneration of the area and the reinforcement of 
sense of place.  Proposals and initiatives will be supported which preserve and, where 
appropriate, enhance the significance of the Borough’s heritage assets, their setting 
where it contributes to the significance of the asset and their interpretation and 
enjoyment, especially where these contribute to the distinct identity of the Borough.  
Saved Policy TC2 (LPFR) requires the setting of the Listed Buildings to be protected and 
Saved Policy TC3 (LPFR) expects development to make a positive contribution to 
Conservation Areas.

5.32 At a national level, the NPPF (2019) Section 12 states development should create high 
quality buildings and places which will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area for the lifetime of the development.  Section 16 set out national policy on heritage 
matters and it states that great weight should be given to a heritage asset’s conservation.  
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance 
of heritage assets. 

5.33 Prior to this application being submitted, extensive pre-application discussions took place 
between the applicant and officers and these discussions include expert input from both 
Historic England and Design South East which helped evolve the scheme to address 
initial concerns. 

5.34 Taking into account the extant scheme and the surrounding built form the following issues 
were taken into account by the architect when designing this proposal:
 The scale of the existing buildings in terms of height and in relation to the density and 

ratio of building mass to open space.

Page 47



 Part of the site is within a conservation area and there are surrounding conservation 
areas and listed buildings and these have determined the scale, proposed materials 
and overall style of the development.

 Views of the St George’s Church are noted and whilst not defined as a principle view 
provides both a constraint and opportunity.

 Views to and from the Thames provide a constraint and an opportunity.
 The surrounding roads and structures define the site boundary.
 Access and serving to surrounding premises (rear of High Street & Market) must be 

maintained.
 Topography of the site with surrounding buildings and roads determines the proposed 

levels on the site.
 Below ground services determines building alignments.
 The site currently provides parking for town centre uses and the proposed 

development will need to maintain an element of this parking within the development.

5.35 In addition, when designing the proposal, a number of environmental factors have 
influenced the design.

 North of the application site is within a flood zone and this dedicates the amount of 
development to the north of Bank Street.

 West Street and Crooked Lane are within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
and this has determined the lay of the buildings and their locations.

 Whilst it was desirable to seek to reinstate the historic street patterns within the 
town centre this has to be taken into account against current legislation regarding 
overlooking between residential buildings. 

Design Evolution 

5.36 The starting point with this this scheme is building upon the extant scheme which has 
been lawfully implemented but works have not been completed.

5.37 It was identified by the architects that the extant scheme raises the following concerns 
since the extant scheme was originally conceived:
 The square surrounded by restaurants is isolated from the town centre to the west 

and there may be a conflict between the ground floor commercial uses and the 
residential units above.

 Possible lack of demand for a 50 bed hotel in this location.
 The development does not maximise the use of the brownfield site which is a 

requirement of the NPPF (2019) and the quantity of dwellings provided is fairly low for 
a highly sustainable town centre location.

 Building layout provides no defined street edge to Crooked Lane and the scheme 
does not provide or encourage football along New Swan Yard.

 In general architectural terms on reflection it is considered the southern block lacks 
variation in the roof line and the building does not reflect Gravesend’s smaller street 
patterns.

 The northern block roof forms are not in keeping with those typical of Gravesend.
 Questions arise if the use of render and timber would weather well given its exposed 

location close to the Thames.
 The existing services below ground would be expensive and restrict the size and 

efficiency of underground parking.
 Amenity space for future occupiers of the southern block would be limited.
 A limited reduction in C02 and to adapt to future changes by occupier.

Page 48



5.38 The following CGI image of the implemented schemes helps illustrate the above 
concerns.

5.39 The application submitted is a result of extensive pre-application discussions and 
comprises of 242 residential apartments and 186 car parking spaces and consists of four 
structures. The structures are as follows:
 E01 - To the south of Bank Street and consists of 171 apartments up to 10 storey’s in 

height.
  E02 – To the north of Bank Street and consists of 42 apartments up to 8 storey’s in 

height
 E03 – At the far north end of the site and comprising of 29 apartments up to 8 storey’s 

in height.
 Between buildings E02 and E03 is 6 split level MSCP providing 186 spaces. 

5.40 The following proposed block plan identifies the above areas mentioned above

Page 49



E01

5.41 E01 is situated adjacent to the Market and the architect states ‘the design has been 
carefully considered to ensure the design works in harmony with the surrounding built 
form including the market directly to the south and to enhance the overall public realm of 
the area’.

5.42 When considering E01 it should be noted that the extant scheme had a 5 storey building 
with no variation in the roof scape and this proposal is varied in height with a maximum 
height of 10 storeys in the north east corner.

5.43 Due to the gradient of site (slopping downwards to the River Thames) the ground level of 
the building is split level with the ground level at the northern end of the building 
consisting of around two thirds of the building footprint. This floor consists of two lobby 
entrances (north elevation and north east corner of the building and entrance on the north 
elevation to the amenity space in the centre of the building). On the east and west 
elevations of the building are the secure bin stores which can be accessed internally by 
residents. On collection day, the bins stores can be accessed externally. The ground floor 
includes three separate cycle stores which are all accessed from the central courtyard 
and am On the ground floor of the building at the northern end of an amenity room for 
future occupiers of 71m² and has windows looking into the central courtyard

5.44 To appreciate the split level of the building the following plan shows how the part ground 
floor of the building would sit within the context of the site.

Page 50



5.45 E01 at the northern end of the building consists of two lobby entrances on the south 
east/west corners of the building and combined with the two entrances on the north of the 
building provides 4 entrances to the building. Combined with one entrance to the amenity 
space on the north elevation along with the two amenity entrances on the south elevation 
will provide an active footfall around the building. 

5.46 The building is set 11.5m away from the Market at ground floor (as there is an under croft 
on south elevation) to provide a defensive barrier for future occupiers of the duplex, dual 
aspect apartments fronting the market.  At first floor this gap is reduced down to 9.7m.

5.47 The units at ground floor fronting the market are dual aspect duplex units with private 
amenity space in front of these windows and the bedrooms are at first floor. Details of 
how this defensible amenity space will designed will be appropriately conditioned. 

5.48 Within the centre of the building, there is a communal courtyard which will only be 
accessed by future occupiers and not the general public. The design of this courtyard will 
be important to provide future occupiers with a strong sense of place. At this stage the 
design is still evolving and the final details would be subject to a pre-occupation planning 
condition. 

5.49 At the 4th floor the south west corner of the development is broken up and a roof terrace 
is provided (178m²amenity space). This is demonstrated on the below CGI Image.

Page 51



5.50 As the above CGI image shows, creating this terrace and stepping in the building helps 
create a building that will not dominate the surrounding public realm and facilitates the 
potential for the creation of an attractive spill out area from the market and respects the 
building scale of the surrounding built form. 

5.51 As the building progresses in height, the plans indicate a change of materials on this 
external face which adds further character and interest to the building and helps break up 
the massing of the building. 

5.52 By the 7th floor the building is reduced to two sections, the taller element in the north east 
corner which forms the focal point on Crooked Lane/Bank Street. Secondly the North 
West corner of the building fronting the medical centre. To add character to the roof the 
north elevation linking the two corner sections has gabled roof taking a warehouse style 
approach and this is also reflected on the west elevation. The south elevation is simple 
flat roof design. This is demonstrated on the following CGI image when looking at the 
north elevation and east elevation of E01. 

Page 52



North Elevation 

West Elevation

5.53 At level 8 and 9, the North West section is the only is the only elements of the building 
remaining. Level 10 of the building is the roof which contains plant equipment. It is 
important to note that a parapet around the flat roofs will hide the plant machinery and the 
only item that will be visible will be the lift shafts. To ensure the roof does not become 
cluttered conditions deal with plant equipment will be included.

5.54 In order to show how the varied roof designs works within the context of the site this is 
best demonstrated on the below image.

Page 53



CGI Image of E01

5.55 Whilst the bulk and massing of the building is deemed acceptable, the careful choice of 
external finish of the building is of the upmost importance. Therefore the external building 
finish to the entire development will be conditioned. E01 will provide a rich and varied 
architectural response that will make reference to the historic core of Gravesend Town 
Centre.

5.56 The North West corner of the site has a focal 10 storey  block and through the vertical 
emphasis of this building broken up by different extension finishes and the use of 
balconies creates an positive focal point when viewed form the surrounding area. provide 
a striking building visually in-keeping with the varied townscape  Whilst taller than the 
post-war flats to the east (4 storeys) the building does not dominate the street scape or 
surrounding area. Historic England raises no concern with 10 storey element of E01. The 
following CGI image demonstrates the 10 storey element of EO1

Page 54



North east corner of E01

5.57 As outlined, the supporting Design & Access statement the architect states “a relatively 
small palette of materials has been chosen but these have been allocated in a way to 
create variety and interest. Selected materials also consider the marine environment due 
to the location of the River Thames to the north.

5.58 The scheme’s architect explains that as brick is the predominant material in Gravesend, 
especially in the historic building stock, this scheme will use three different types of brick 
and different bonds will help introduce a varied design to the building.

5.59 In addition timber effect boarding will be used which the architect states “the look of the 
fibre cement board with timber patterning is amazingly realistic and it provides a long 
lasting and low maintenance alternative. We have used this material on a number of 
elevations above ground level similar to their use on the High Street”.

5.60 According to the architect’ the scheme will also include the use of standing seam metal, 
metal cladding and slate effect roof tiles’. To ensure appropriate external facing materials 
are used for this development taking into account the sites close proximity to the Thames, 
surrounding highway network and adjacent conservation areas details of materials will be 
conditioned. 

5.61 It is considered that E01 is an architectural improvement over the extant scheme which 
lacks variety. 

E02 /E03

5.62 To the north of Bank Street you have E02 and E03 which is situated around the MSCP 
and the following CGI images shows this element of the scheme.

Page 55



5.63 Prior to the application being submitted, Design South East reviewed the scheme and 
stated they have no design concerns with E02/E03 as the design is varied and dynamic, 
with interesting rooflines and elevations which drawn on historic wharfs for inspiration.  
This view is shared by Historic England and the Council’s Conservation Architect.

5.64 The western elevation of the buildings E01/MS01/E03 front onto the rear of New Swan 
Yard and will be visible with the north/south vista views. A simple design for this elevation 
has been undertaken with the core of the car park creating the focal point of this 
elevation. 

5.65 The north elevation of E03 fronting Crooked Lane is 7 storeys in height (with a basement 
at lower ground floor) with the top floor apartments being duplex units with a gable roofs 
and private balconies.  This is shown below.

North Elevation E03

5.66 On the curve of Crooked Lane, where it meets Bank Street and Queen Street, the 
building is triangular in shape with recessed balconies and the building steps up in height 
to reflect the height of building E01 to the south. This helps create a positive focal point 
which is supported by Historic England and the Council’s Conservation Architect.

E02 on the Corner of Bank Street/Crooked Lane and Queen Street

Page 56



5.67 The north elevation of E02 fronting Bank Street follows the warehouse style approach 
with gabled roofs running east/west. This is demonstrated on the below CGI Image.

5.68 The north elevation of E02 has two lobby entrances at ground floor on Bank Street which 
provides two cores to the building. The flats at ground floor are duplex units with their 
own front doors and this helps create an active street frontage.

5.69 E02 the footprint the floor are consistent where on at level the floor ends in the south east 
corner as the building starts to step back.

5.70  A gap of 3.37m is maintained from the eastern edge of the car park and E02 to allow for 
natural ventilation of the car park and further break up the massing of the building when 
viewed from the north. This gap is shown to be landscaped.

Page 57



MSCP

5.71 With the car park being enclosed within E02 and E03, it will only be visible from the 
western elevation fronting New Swan Yard and more widely from Crooked Lane. This is 
demonstrated below:

Crooked Lane Elevation

New Swan Yard Elevation

5.72 The choice of external finish to the MSCP has been carefully considered and the architect 
explains this within the supporting Design & Access Statement “the elevation of the 
northern buildings includes that of the car park. This has been designed to reflect that of 
a residential elevation with punched openings but set in a less ordered way. Their 
positions however are not random and respond to the car park layout behind so that the 
lower windows align with parking bays rather than aisles to limit light from car headlights 
beaming out through the facade. The facade material itself is textured and allows natural 
ventilation to the car park”.

5.73 Notwithstanding the architects comments the final material/finish to the MSCP will be 
conditioned to give sufficient flexibility should issues arise around availability of materials.

5.74 The following images demonstrate the potential finish to the MSCP (final details to be 
conditioned).

Page 58



Car park Fenestration Details
 

5.75 As the MSCP will be naturally ventilated it needs to be as open as possible but at the 
same time screening needs to be in place to ensure the vehicles parks on each level are 
not highly visible. To achieve this, screening is proposed with various openings. This 
approach is deemed acceptable but to ensure a satisfactory finish the external screening 
will be conditioned. The screening will also help contain noise within the MSCP as it 
avoids the car park elements being open.

5.76 In order to understand why the top level of the MSCP is not covered further clarification 
has been sought with the applicant and this will be reported within the supplementary 
report.

5.77 To ensure there is no adverse light pollution the MSCP a condition for a lighting plan will 
be required which will seek to minimise any light pollution. The car park management 
plan will also seek to address how the car park is operated during the evening/night to 
avoid any potential anti-social issues. 

5.78 E03 is located to the south of the car park and fronts onto Crooked Lane and is one of the 
prominent views of the site. The design of E03 includes balconies in brickwork, and a 
gable roof with split level flats which are stepped back from the frontage.

Page 59



5.79 There are no flats at ground floor fronting Crooked Lane (air quality and noise would 
create a poor environment) and this space is utilised to provide amenity space, two 
secure cycle rooms and a bin store for the flats. The inclusion of windows helps provide 
active frontage at ground floor.

5.80 This building has a height of 7 storeys with the top level being split level maisonettes 
which help breakup the massing of the building. To distinguish this building from E02, the 
materials are deliberately different but uniform throughout this building.

5.81 It should be noted that Historic England, Design South East and the Council’s 
Conservation Architect are supportive of the development south of Bank Street.

Streetscape

5.82 With the tightknit nature of the site there is limited scope within a town centre location to 
provide open space. However the scheme addresses this through appropriate uses of 
surface treatment and ensuring the proposal is not a car dominated scheme. Careful 
consideration has been undertaken to ensure the entire development provides 
acceptable layout for future occupiers, visitors, existing residents and an enhanced 
environment for surrounding commercial uses. 

5.83 The overall strategy for the development is to create a welcoming environment, opposed 
to the existing car park which is a scare on the landscape with the development having 3 
nodes which will act as pausing points along the western edge of the development. This 
is shown below.

Page 60



Node 1 
Market Alley will be a newly defined street and will provide an important setting for the 
market. It is also a desirable route for pedestrians crossing east / west through this part of 
Gravesend as it links through the Historic Town Hall. The generous width creates an 
attractive environment for the market which terminates at a space created where New 
Swan Yard meets the Town Hall and which allows the market to spill out for external 
trading and events. The use of duplex units on the elevation fronting the market with their 
own front door helps create further activity to this new street.

Node 2 and 3
5.84 The second node is on the corner and New Swan Yard and junction of Bank Street with 

the third node being the new pedestrian link between New Swan Yard and Crooked Lane. 
This physical connection now aligns with a desire line linking the town with the river and 
is considerable an added scheme benefit which was absent from the extant scheme.

5.85 The following CGI Image shows Bank Street with the proposed surface treatment and 
tree planting along with the landscaping master plan.

Page 61



5.86 The architect’s vision for the streetscape is that the development will sit within a unified 
landscape of sequential spaces with clearly defined functions and characters. The 
different spaces and places will satisfy the needs of different people, age groups, 
residents and visitors alike, whilst responding positively to the site context and the 
surrounding land uses.

5.87 In order to ensure the public realm is appropriate to the context of the surrounding area, 
the public realm design will use locally distinctive materials to reinforce a sense of place.  
Street furniture and hard and soft landscaping and materials will be of good quality and 
appropriate to their town centre location.

Page 62



5.88 The streetscape will be designed at a human scale to allow people movement but to also 
create places to dwell and enjoy, for outdoor relaxation.  The existing cut-through to the 
High Street will be retained.

5.89 The positioning of the lobby entrance and the gap between the MSCP and E02 will 
provide glimpse views of the Thames to the North.

5.90 The wind analysis report has highlighted a few areas which may result in windier 
conditions. The majority of these are at entrances or roof terraces. It is proposed that 
planting be used as a screening to provide protection from wind. 

5.91 To ensure the above vision is achieved for this development, the details indicated above 
will covered through appropriate hard and soft landscaping conditions.

Heritage

5.92 In considering this proposal, the impact on heritage assets needs to be considered. 
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character and appearance conservation areas and sections 66(1) of the Act 1990 
requires the Local Planning Authority amongst other things to have special regard to the 
setting of listed buildings. These duties are reflected in Section 16 of the NPPF (2019) 
and in Policy CS20 (LPCS) and saved policy TC2 and TC3 (LPFR). 

5.93 Paragraph 190 of the NPPF (2019) states ‘Local Planning Authorities should identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a 
proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking 
account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this 
into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or 
minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal.’

5.94 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF (2019) states that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater 
the weight should be. The courts have determined that considerable importance and 
weight should be given to harm found to the significance of listed buildings.

Page 63



5.95 Paragraph 194 of the NPPF (2019) requires that any harm to, or loss of, the significance 
of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development 
within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. This application is 
accompanied by a substantial Townscape, Visual and Heritage Assessment.

5.96 The application site consists of two open air car parks which has no heritage value and 
result in a scare to the wider town streetscape. When looking at the heritage impacts of 
this proposal a material consideration is the extant scheme which has been lawfully 
implemented on site, but works have currently halted on site. These works could resume 
and the scheme could be constructed on site which would offer less heritage benefits 
than this proposal.

5.97 The below CGI images compares the extant scheme and the proposed scheme.

Extant Scheme

Proposed Scheme

5.98 Whilst only the extremity of the application site is within the High Street/Queen Street 
Conservation Area, the remainder of the application site abuts or is in close proximity to 
the High street/Queen Street and Riverside Conservation Areas. See below map which 
shows the application site in relation to the surrounding conservation areas.

Page 64



Proximity of Conservation Area to application site

 

5.99 In addition to the Conservation Areas surrounding the site are the following listed 
buildings.

The Three Daws Public House – Grade II 
3& 3A High Street – Grade II 
4& 5 High Street – Grade II
The Kent Public House – Grade II 
The Town Hall Grade II* 
St Andrew’s Arts Centre & The Mission- Grade II 
Thames House – Grade II

5.100In the wider context of the area are the following heritage assets 

       George’s Church- Grade II* 
 The Town Pier – Grade II* 

       Royal Clarendon Hotel and 1-4 Royal Pier Terrace – Grade II
       Gravesend Blockhouse - scheduled monument
       New Tavern Fort - scheduled monument
       Tilbury Fort - scheduled monument

5.101Turning first to the impact on the surrounding Conservation Areas, the High Street/Queen 
Street Conservation Area appraisal identifies a number of positive views that cross the 
application site. The Conservation Area appraisal extract below identifies these positive 
views as approximately following the line of Bank Street towards the High Street/Queen 
Street Conservation Area from St. Andrews Garden and The Terrace. 

Page 65



5.102This proposal will result in Bank Street being more aligned with its historic position and 
will ensure that views to St. Georges Church spire will be possible from the junction of 
The Terrace, Queen Street and Bank Street. Whilst there may be a slight reduction of 
views from St. Andrews Gardens across the car park this will be replaced by high quality 
sympathetic built form. It should be noted that Historic England and the Council’s 
Conservation Architect have raised no concern with this proposal on the setting/impact on 
St. Georges Church or views being altered by redeveloping the site. 

5.103Members should note that with the extant scheme would have a similar impact on views 
to this proposal. To appreciate the differences between this proposal and the extant 
scheme the following CGI image a view towards St. Georges Church from both 
applications.

Proposed Scheme

Page 66



Extant Scheme

5.104The supporting heritage statement includes 5 key views (St Andrews Garden, Windmill 
Hill, north bank of the Thames, north side of The Terrace and the eastern side of Queen 
Street) to analysis the impact of this proposal on the surrounding heritage assets. The 
report concludes there will be no adverse impact on surrounding heritage assets and this 
view is shared by the Council’s Conservation Architect.

5.105The extant scheme will provide views north/ south through an opening in the buildings 
south of Bank Street and the building north of Bank Street (which are void of built form in 
the middle to provide views to St. Andrew’s Gardens). This means you would be able to 
stand in the doors of the Market and have glimpses of the river/gardens. The below CGI 
image from the extant scheme demonstrates the above.

Page 67



5.106This proposal would not provide the above view and as demonstrated on the below 
historic map extracts, there never was an historic view looking north from the market and 
the view only came into existence when the car parks were created in the late 1980’s.  

5.107Historic England and The Council’s Conservation Architect raise no concern regarding 
this view not being included within this scheme as this proposal will create a higher 
density more closely resembling the historic street pattern of the area.  The below map 
extracts show the street patterns of the application site between 1838 to1955 and the 
photo shows the density of the Street pattern in the area. 

     

5.108Notwithstanding the above Gravesham Conservation Architect  acknowledges this 
proposal and its benefit to the wider town centre townscape outweigh the loss of the 
existing views across two open air car parks. With this scheme, people entering the 
western side of the site onto New Swan Yard will have a view north of the Thames as well 
as a physical link down to Crooked Lane. This is demonstrated on the below CGI Images.

View looking south                    View looking north

  

5.109A concern with the extant scheme was the impact of views from St. Andrews Gardens. 
The Heritage Assessment has carefully considered this and the development provides a 
suitable urban setting to St. Andrews Gardens. This development will relate back to the 
higher historic density of the site which is more in keeping with a riverside location within 
a town centre location.

Page 68



5.110Although of greater scale than the existing buildings to the left of the view (post war flats), 
the open nature of the space and the breadth of the view mean that they are not 
overwhelmed by the proposals. The below image extract from the heritage assessment 
demonstrate this.

5.111Historic England, in regard to the development north of Bank Street, conclude in their 
comments ‘we do not have concerns regarding the development north of Bank Street, 
which we think is sympathetic to the adjacent conservation areas and listed buildings. 
The design is varied and dynamic, with interesting rooflines and elevations which draw on 
historic wharfs for inspiration’.  This view is shared by The Council’s Conservation 
Architect. 

5.112Turning to the land south of Bank Street Historic England state ‘they acknowledge that 
the block south of Bank Street is an improvement on the proposal seen at pre-application 
stage in terms of its massing, and the inclusion of double pitched roofs in the central bays 
are positive.

5.113However Historic England state ‘they have some small concerns regarding the southern 
block which the applicant could address through minor design changes. The comments 
from Historic England are clear that they raise no concern with the bulk or massing of the 
buildings provide and their suggestions relate to the choice of external finish of the 
buildings along with a concern regarding the amount of balconies proposed.

5.114 For the avoidance of doubt, Historic England’s subjective views on the external finish are 
as follows: 

 The building to the south of Bank Street does not remain as lively as the proposed 
block north of Bank Street, and creates a rather monotonous elevation on the 
approach to the High Street and Queen Street conservation area.

Page 69



 The elevation of the block facing Bank Street, bar the central bays with double 
pitched roofs, does little to create a sense of rhythm such as that which enlivens the 
elevation on the northern side.

 The rigid pattern of projecting balconies is quite relentless. Providing interspersed 
projecting and recessing balconies could be a way of breaking this up and providing 
more interest in this elevation.

5.115The suggested design changes by Historic England would not have been possible as the 
balcony benefits of providing amenity space, outweigh the minor changes being muted by 
Historic England. Changing the roof would impact on the internal layout of the 
apartments. In summary, the proposal before Members has carefully considered the 
impact on heritage and is considered to a high quality design and further amendments 
are not required. 

5.116 Whilst Historic England comments have been taken into account it is clear their 
comments are subjective design recommendations on minor design issues. Whilst their 
concerns are noted it is considered the above amendments are not required to ensure 
there is no harm to the preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of the 
adjacent Conservation areas. The Local Planning Authority is the decision maker and 
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 has 
been taken into account when determining this application. 

5.117With regard to the impact on the listed buildings in the vicinity and the wider scheduled 
monuments, it is considered this proposal will not have any adverse impact on their 
setting. For the avoidance of doubt, Historic England raises no concern on the impact on 
setting of any listed buildings or scheduled monuments. 

5.118The Council’s Conservation Architect has been consulted on this application and raises 
no objection to the proposal subject to suitable conditions on external facing materials 
being agreed especially the exposed elements of the multi-storey car park. 

5.119In regard to Paragraph 190 NPPF (2019) the supporting heritage statement fully 
considers the impact on surrounding heritage assets and taking into account the extant 
application on site and the current use of the site. It is considered that this well designed 
and sympathetic proposal, which has been reactively improved in response to 
stakeholder concerns, will enhance the area and be appropriate scale of development 
within the vicinity of designated heritage assets. 

Archaeology

5.120To be addressed in the supplementary report as awaiting applicant to confirm findings 
from the 2020 archaeological dig.

Sustainability 

5.121Policies CS01 (LPCS) requires the Council to take a positive approach that reflects 
the presumption in favour of Sustainable development contained with the Core 
Strategy and the NPPF (2019). Policy CS02 (LPCS) requires development to prioritise 
the redevelopment and recycling of underused, derelict and previously developed land 
in the urban area. This application site meets all of these definitions.  Policy CS18 
(LPCS) sets out that new development should aim to reduce the overall carbon 
footprint of on development.  Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires (where relevant) that new 
development will provide carbon reduction and provision for low carbon and 
renewable imagery, minimising energy consumption and water use.

Page 70



5.122At a national level, the NPPF (2019) states in paragraph 8 that achieving sustainable 
development means improving biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, 
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, 
including moving to a low carbon economy. Paragraph 103 of the NPPF (2019) states 
the planning system should actively manage patterns of growth in support of these 
objectives. Significant development should be focussed on locations which are or can 
be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice 
of transport modes. This can help to reduce congestion and emissions, and improve 
air quality and public health. However, opportunities to maximise sustainable transport 
solutions will vary between urban and rural areas, and this should be taken into 
account in both plan-making and decision-making.

5.123Gravesham Borough Council recognises the importance of sustainability and on 25 
June 2019 at its full Council meeting declared a climate emergency and this includes 
the target to make the borough Carbon Neutral by 2030. 

5.124Accompanying this application to address sustainability is the Design & Access 
Statement, Planning Statement and Mechanical, Electric, Public Health and 
Sustainable Energy Report (Stage 2).

5.125 The Mechanical, Electric, Public Health and Sustainable Energy Report (Stage 2) 
outline the proposed package of sustainability measures to tackle climate change 
issues and ensure the proposed development is sustainable. 

5.126It is clear from the supporting information with this application that sustainable 
construction and energy conservation has influenced the design of the scheme, from 
the design of the proposed apartments to the layout of the overall scheme. 

5.127In order to ensure this proposal complies with the required sustainability requirements, 
the applicant proposes the following.
 Each apartment will have an in-house display that shows their electricity usage.
 Internal lighting shall be provided throughout the development, designed in line with 

Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers lighting guides. Energy efficient 
LED luminaires shall be utilised throughout.

 Each apartment shall be heated via local electric heating, with domestic hot water 
being provided by local hot water cylinder with electric immersion heaters.

 Ventilation for the apartments will be based on the 'whole house' approach using 
continuous mechanical extract ventilation with heat recovery (MVHR), as defined 
within the building regulations approved document Part F1 (System 3).

 Electric (Panel) Room heaters.
 LED lighting throughout.
 All residential blocks will also accommodate roof mounted solar photovoltaic (PV’s) 

Integrated Fabric PV (this is fabric with embedded photovoltaic (PV) cells which 
generate electricity when exposed to light).

 Naturally ventilated car park.
 Car parking has been provided but to encourage sustainable car use, 5% or the 

parking bays will have electrical charging with infrastructure provide to allow 100% of 
the bays to be adapted for E-charging.

 The car park structure itself can be demolished at a future date without impacting on 
the rest of the development and the car park site can then be developed for 
alternative uses if the car parking is no longer required in the future.

 In terms of the residential units, these will be naturally ventilated and cooled. Other 
measures to ensure the units are “leaner” include 100% energy efficient lighting, 

Page 71



efficient mechanical, electrical and plumbing (MEP) equipment and low fabric U-
values.  U-values measure how effective elements of a building's fabric are as 
insulators. Broadly, the better (i.e. lower) the U-value of a building's fabric, the less 
energy is required to maintain comfortable conditions inside the building.  

Broadband provision 

5.128Section 10 of the NPPF (2019) acknowledges that reliable high quality 
communications is essential for economic growth including full fibre connections and 
new development shall look to provide full fibre connections.

5.129In order to ensure this occurs, a planning condition will be included; requiring details 
of how broadband to the premises will be provided to the serve the development and 
be available at first occupation.

5.130In summary, the proposed development is considered to be sustainable form of 
development that is designed to minimise the impact on climate. As such there is no 
conflict with Policies CS01, CS02, CS18 and CS19 (LPCS) and section 2 of the NPPF 
(2019).

Amenity of Future Occupiers

5.131 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires that all development should be ‘fit for purpose’ and be 
‘adaptable to allow changes to meet the need of users’ and that ‘the design and layout 
of new residential development, including conversion, will accord with the adopted 
Residential Layout Guidelines’.  On 25 March 2015, the Government issued a written 
ministerial statement which introduced new technical housing standards in England.

E01

5.132Building E01 will contain a total of 171 apartments with a varied mix of units which are 
outlined in the following table. 

5.133The second table shows the apartments broken down by the amount being single and 
dual aspect.

Page 72



5.134From the outset, the applicant has taken care and attention to provide acceptable living 
conditions for future occupiers.

5.135 During discussions at pre-application stage, concern was raised with E01 that the 
building needed reconfiguration to avoid long dark corridors which would be 
unwelcoming for future occupiers and visitors.

5.136To address this, 4 entrances are now provided to this building and the building is 
served by 4 separate cores.  Each entrance has a large lobby area which is inviting for 
both occupiers and visitors.

5.137With the site being in the town centre, with various commercial uses around the site, 
careful consideration was needed to protect the privacy of ground floor apartments. To 
achieve this, all the ground floor units fronting the highway have their own front doors 
and are duplex units with bedrooms being at first floor. 

  
5.138At this stage full details of how the amenity space in front of the ground floor windows 

will be screened will be reserved as a pre-occupation condition. 

5.139 On the North elevation of E01, there are 6 units which will front directly onto Market 
Alley and there is the potential for amenity impact from people using the market (spill 
out) or walking/cycling along market alley. To address this, each of these 6 flats are 
duplex units with a defensible barrier of private amenity space in front of them (1.4m 
deep). The details of the amenity space and boundary treatment will be conditioned.

5.140The ground floor of these apartments are open plan, dual aspect to provide as much 
natural light as possible for future occupiers. On the south elevation all the 
kitchen/diner which looks into the courtyard of E01. Details of the amenity space in the 
central courtyard will be conditioned to ensure the privacy of these windows will be 
protected.

5.141The first floor of these duplex units will contain two bedrooms (one which has an en-
suite) and a family bathroom. The larger bedroom will be south facing with the smaller 
bedroom being north facing. 

5.142Within the upper floors of the building, the layout has been arranged so that residents 
have access to each apartments via two cores. This will provide for alternative means 
of escape in case of emergency and alternative lift provision should one be 

Page 73



unavailable. The corridors all end with windows proving natural light in into the 
communal corridors. 

5.143A number of apartments proposed could be occupied by families’ and weight is 
attached to the need to provide open space to meet the needs of future residents as 
required through Policy CS 13 (LPCS). The NPPF (2019) recognises that access to 
high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an 
important contribution to the health and well-being of communities. It is worth noting 
that this is town centre location which is constrained by the surrounding highway 
network and existing built form; notwithstanding this the Thames will offer visual open 
space to future occupiers. 

5.144Saved Policy LT6 (LPFR) requires proposals for new housing development to make 
provision for open space and play space appropriate to the scale of development and 
type of housing, having regard to the provision and proximity to existing open space in 
the locality.

5.145The explanatory text states that as a guide, open space should be provided in 
accordance with the National Playing Fields Association recommended minimum 
standard for outdoor play space. This has now been updated in “Guidance for Outdoor 
Sport and Play: Beyond the Six Acre Standard” published by Fields in Trust (FIT). 

5.146For the future occupiers of this development all the residents would have access to the 
communal amenity space in the central courtyard. 

5.147Apart from the courtyard in the centre, the building will offer three private roof gardens 
which will provide private amenity space for future occupiers. This landscaping will 
have to be appropriately conditioned to ensure that any windows from adjacent flats 
that look onto the amenity will need to have their own defensible private amenity 
space. To ensure this occurs, this will be conditioned. With the use of these private 
roof top gardens the issue of time of use needs to be carefully considered. To ensure 
they are not used at anti-social times which could disturb surrounding flats and the 
wider area the management plan for site will include when these areas are accessed 
by future occupiers. The following image shows the location of the central courtyard 
amenity area along with the three rough gardens (highlighted in red).

Page 74



5.148On the north elevation of E01 duplex units are provided which make use of the gable 
roofs.

5.149Looking into the courtyard of E01 are a number of habitable windows.  Due to the 
positioning and aspect of these windows there may be some instances where 

Page 75



windows/screening may be required to ensure there is no overlooking into windows 
from adjacent apartments. To ensure this is adequately addressed a condition would 
be required to deal any potential issues. One such example locally where potential 
overlooking was addressed through design was the former Cygnets House in 
Gravesend Town centre. 

Former Cygnet House

E02

5.150E02 contains a total of 42 units spread over 9 floors with varied mix of units which are 
outlined in the following table. 

5.151The second table shows the apartments broken down by the amount being single and 
dual aspect apartments.

Page 76



5.152E02 is located to the North of Bank Street with Crooked Lane to the north and New 
Swan Yard and forms an L shaped block that cloaks the majority of the MSCP. 
Notwithstanding this the proposal still manages to provide 50% dual aspect 
apartments.

5.153The ground floor of E02 provides a central lobby area on the south elevation of the 
building which provides access to the core of the building (two lifts and a stairwell). 
All 7 ground floor flats fronting Bank Street are duplex units with bedrooms at first 
floor and defensible space at ground floor in front of their own windows. Each flat 
has a front door onto the road which helps enhance/create an active street. 

5.154With the warehouse style pitched roofs, duplex apartments are provided to 
maximise the amount of habitable space within the development.

5.155Unlike E01, it was not possible for the communal corridor to provide a window at 
each end of the corridor but where possible windows have been inserted into this 
corridor (in the void between the east of the MSCP and E02).

5.156 A higher amount of private balconies are provided for this development, with the 
ones fronting Crooked Lane having excellent views of St. Andrew’s Gardens and 
the Thames. 

5.157It should be noted that between the balconies of E01 and E02 fronting each other in 
Bank Street a distance of 17m is maintained. Whilst this is less than the 21m 
between two habitable windows, as set out in the 1996 residential layout guidelines, 
this distance between two facing buildings is considered acceptable within a close-
knit night urban environment. To ensure privacy of the balconies are maintained, 
the final detailing of balconies will be conditioned. 

5.158 As per E01, roof garden are included within the scheme to provide future occupiers 
with private amenity space which will include excellent views northwards and the 
hours of access will need to be appropriately conditioned through a management 
plan. For example ensuring that under 8s cannot access the roof gardens without 
supervision and it is expected that new tenant’s would have a welcome pack 
outlining the rules for communal space. This will be addressed through the 
management scheme for the development.

Page 77



E03

5.159 The third building is E03 which fronts Crooked Lane, New Sawn Yard and backs 
onto the MSP. This development contains a total of 29 apartments with the mix 
being shown below:

5.160 Of the 29 apartments proposed, 25 will be dual aspect as shown below. As can be 
seen, the majority of units in E03 are dual aspect and all units have balcony space 
with some units benefitting from two balconies. All terraces and balconies in E03 
take advantage of the fantastic views over the river.

5.161 E03 is the northern most block and apartments within this building are accessed via 
the entrance core on New Swan Yard with between 4-5 apartments at each floor.
 

5.162Ancillary spaces such as internal amenity, storage, bin and bike stores sit at the 
lower floor (-2) which fronts Crooked Lane and which is beneath the flood level and 
residential use at ground floor would not be acceptable. 

5.163Upper levels are duplex units with set back roof terraces. 

5.164The large majority of units in E03 are dual aspect and all units have balcony space 
with some units benefitting from two balconies. All terraces and balconies in E03 
take advantage of the fantastic views over the river and the River Thames .This 
block does not contain any communal roof spaces but the majority of the flats are 
dual aspect and have balconies providing excellent views of the Thames. 
Furthermore directly to the north future occupiers would have access to the public 
amenity space of St. Andrews’ Gardens. With the adjacent Gardens and Thames to 

Page 78



the north this will provide open space to future occupiers which would create 
opportunity for sport and recreation.

Daylight and Sunlight for future occupiers.

5.165Having concluded the layout and size of the apartments are acceptable the issue of 
daylight, sunlight and overshadowing for future occupiers needs to be considered.

Internal Daylight

5.166To determine if the development will provide acceptable daylight for future 
occupiers, a sample of residential apartments have been selected for assessment in 
the supporting Daylight and Sunlight assessment.

5.167The sample apartments are at ground floor (20 apartments in Block E01 and 13 
apartments across Blocks E02 and E03) and represents a mix of apartment types. 

5.168Where duplex apartments have been assessed, the habitable rooms on the upper 
floors have been included in the sample. The sample assesses the lowest floor of 
residential accommodation, and it follows that the levels of daylight achieved by the 
apartments on the floors above will inevitably achieve improved levels of daylight 
due to having greater access to unobstructed sky.

5.169Of the 103 room tested 30 will achieve the target values as set out in the BRE 
guidelines. The vast majority of the rooms (50 of the 73 rooms) are not achieving 
target values are bedroom which are considered less important in terms of daylight 
amenity requirements by BRE.

5.170 It is considered that the amount of communal amenity space provided (which was 
lacking in the extant scheme) and in order to make the most efficient use of the 
brownfield land the internal daylight is not deemed to create unacceptable living 
conditions. For example, the majority of ground floor apartments are duplex and 
many are dual aspect which helps further enhance the living conditions for future 
occupiers. 

5.171This stance is reflected in paragraph 123 (c) of the NPPF (2019) which states when 
looking at BRE Guidelines local planning authorities should refuse applications 
which they consider fail to make efficient use of land, taking into account the 
policies in this Framework. In this context, when considering applications for 
housing, authorities should take a flexible approach in applying policies or guidance 
relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would otherwise inhibit making efficient 
use of a site (as long as the resulting scheme would provide acceptable living 
standards).

Internal Sunlight

5.172 The supporting Daylight and Sunlight assessment had undertaken a  sample of 
residential apartments, comprising  of all residential apartments at ground floor 
facing within 90 degrees due south (8 apartments in Block E01 and 7 units across 
Blocks E02 and E03) and represents a mix of unit types. Where duplex units have 
been assessed, any habitable rooms on the upper floors facing within 90 degrees of 
due south have been included in the sample.

5.173 The report concludes that northerly, or predominately east / westerly facing 
windows are unlikely to achieve the recommended target values for sunlight, and to 

Page 79



this effect, the residential layouts within the proposed development have been 
designed to provide as many apartments with dual-aspect as possible. This was the 
similar issue to the extant scheme but this proposal providing a larger amount of 
private amenity space and dual aspect and duplex apartments where possible 
addresses the issue of internal sunlight.

Overshadowing

5.174The report concludes the following regarding overshadowing in the courtyard of 
E01.

The availability of direct sunlight to the shared courtyard outdoor amenity area 
within accordance with BRE guidance. Results show that this space would not 
achieve the BRE recommended 2 hours direct sunlight across 50% of the space on 
21 March; however, these recommendations are typically not achieved within 
courtyards of large residential developments (which are often used as games-
spaces, as well as amenity areas, offering a shaded space for outdoor play). 
Balconies or outdoor terraces will be provided to each unit, providing occupants with 
access to outdoor private amenity space that will have a view of direct sunlight 
throughout parts of the day, depending on orientation. Future occupants will also 
have access to the large public garden located adjacent to the development, St 
Andrews Garden, which will remain sun-lit throughout the year (as demonstrated in 
our assessment).  

5.175It is considered that the whilst the BRE recommended 2 hour direct sunlight is not 
achievable for the courtyard taking into account St. Andrews Gardens which 
adjacent to the development, the nature and location of the development the 
amenity for future occupiers is acceptable.

5.176In order to ensure the courtyard is best used, when looking at the soft landscaping 
planting that is hardy to shaded conditions  should be considered along with 
appropriately seating and hard landscaping to create an attractive environment for 
future occupiers. 

5.177In summary in regard to BRE test for Daylight, Sunlight and overshadowing it is 
considered that sufficient steps have been taken to design a development which will 
maximise the development on a brownfield site.

Air Quality

5.178Air quality constitutes a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications (as set out in paragraph 005 of the planning practice guidance) and this 
is reflected in Policy CS19 (LPCS) which requires new development to avoid 
adverse environmental impacts, which include air quality. This is reflected within the 
NPPF (2019) at paragraph 81, which states decisions should sustain and contribute 
towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, 
taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air 
Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas.

5.179This site lies adjacent to the A226 Air Quality Management Area (AQMAs). The 
A226 One-way System Gravesend AQMA declared for nitrogen dioxide emissions 
from urban traffic.

5.180In support of this application, an air quality assessment, considering the impact of 
the proposed development on the air quality during the construction and operation 

Page 80



phases and this report, has been reviewed by the Council’s Regulatory Services. 
During the course of this review, additional clarification form the applicant was 
required which then informed the final comments from Regulatory Services.

5.181As set out in air quality report (March 2020) appraisal and additional briefing note 
(June 2020) which required an emissions mitigation calculation to be undertaken 
and the ‘damage costs figure’ be used to show the implementation of mitigation 
measures.

5.182As a result of negotiations with the applicant, in order to mitigate the scheme the 
following will be achieved.

5.183In support of this application an 80 page draft construction management plan has 
been submitted which covers control of emissions to air (including odour) during the 
construction phase and the report states:
 Prior to commencement of construction, the contractor will liaise with Gravesham 

Council to confirm PM10 levels, monitoring regime, sampling locations and 
frequency and any proposed mitigation measures.

5.184The report outlines in detail what measures will be taken to minimise the impact 
during the construction phase. An extract from this report demonstrates the level of 
detail the management plan goes into :
 Use of water spraying, especially on access routes in order to reduce dust   
generation, as and when conditions dictate;  
 Unnecessary vehicle movements and manoeuvring will be avoided; 
 Locate plant machinery and vehicles away from sensitive areas where 

practicable, or housed in closed environments where possible; and
 Use of vehicles and plant with low emission levels.

5.185Mitigation measures will be included within a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) and implemented to prevent the release of dust entering 
the atmosphere and / or being deposited on nearby receptors.  

5.186Notwithstanding the draft construction management plan, in order to ensure that the 
impact of the development is adequately addressed during the construction phase, 
this will be a pre-commencement planning condition building on the basis of the 
draft construction management plan. It is worth noting that in tandem with this 
application, the applicant is having on-going discussions with Kent Highways & 
Transportation Services on how the construction phase impact on the surrounding 
highway network will be managed and mitigated.

5.187Following the completion of the development, the car park management plan and a 
contribution towards town centre car parking signage will minimise the possibility of 
cars queuing in Bank Street to access MSCP which could lead to noise and air 
quality issues within Bank Street.

5.188 The Air Quality assessment concluded that there would be no exceedance of Air 
Quality on any of the apartments but to the applicant has confirmed all residential 
apartments will benefit from Mechanical Ventilation Heat Recovery (MVHR) which 
will give all residents the option to open or close windows and still benefit from 
acceptable living conditions.

5.189 The damage cost calculation based on the 232 daily vehicles trips generated by the 
Development. For a conservative assessment, the 232 trips were added to all road 

Page 81



links included within the air quality assessment. According to the air quality 
assessment the Development would generate 0.075 tonnes of NOX and 0.005 
tonnes of PM2.5. The Council’s Regulatory Services agreed with this conclusion.

5.190Using the Road Transport Central Present Value of the Defra Damage Costs 
Appraisal Toolkit results in a total contribution of £5,780 over a 5-year period.

5.191 The mitigation measures for the development when completed are as follows:
 Production of a travel plan including mechanisms for discouraging high emission 

vehicle use.
 Welcome Packs for all new residents online and as a booklet, containing 

information and incentives to encourage the use of sustainable transport modes 
from new occupiers.

 Designation of parking spaces for low emission vehicles.
 Solar PV and all electric heating/ hot water to minimise emissions and allow the 

development to move towards carbon neutrality as the grid decarbonises as stated 
in the energy strategy submitted with the application.

 This commitment to install the Electric vehicle charging provision would be 
provided for 10% of spaces. The remaining 90% of spaces would have the ability to 
install cabling and ducting in the future.

 Solar PV and all electric heating/ hot water to minimise emissions and allow the 
development to move towards carbon neutrality as the grid decarbonises

5.192In conclusion the effective implementation of proposed mitigation measures (which 
will be conditioned), it is considered that air quality should not present a constraint 
to the granting of planning permission for the proposed Development

Noise

5.193The application site is located within a town centre which is surrounding by various 
existing noise constraints which are as follows:

 Blake’s nightclub
 The Three Daws Public House
 The George Public House
 Gravesend Market
 Commercial yards to the rear of the High Street
 Traffic on all surround roads
 Waste collections
 Deliveries
 Tilbury 2

5.194In addition to the above constraints the issues of noise impacts from the proposed 
car park nestled between E02 and E03 needs to be considered along with any 
plant/machinery associated with the development.

5.195 The report seeks to detail the potential effects of both the existing environmental 
noise on the development proposals and the potential noise impacts during typical 
day-to-day operation of the development, and proposes mitigation measures where 
considered appropriate to safeguard existing and future residential amenity.

5.196It states that the main noise sources affecting the site are from road traffic and to a 
lesser extent, noise from movements in the existing car parks as well as noise, 
during the night-time, from industrial activities on the River Thames, occasional 

Page 82



vessel movements and operations associated with Tilbury Docks, which were 
discernible during lulls in road traffic noise.

5.197 It is unfortunate no mention is made of noise arising from the existing commercial 
activities in this town centre location, including those specifically outlined in the pre-
application comments.  Such noise, will typically include loud music and behavioural 
noise from established licenced premises during the evening and night-time 
economy period, and vehicular/impact noise from waste collections/deliveries, etc. 
including during the early morning; all of which is often very noticeable due to the 
impulsive nature of the noises against low background noise levels, and are difficult 
to mitigate at source.

5.198The report at 4.11 looks at Tilbury2 and states that noise from night-time dock 
operations were audible during both noise surveys during lulls in road traffic noise.  
Whilst it had no noticeable effect on the overall measured night-time levels, this is 
not necessarily reflective of the potential impact on future residents who are most 
likely to notice the change in the prevailing background noise levels arising from 
impulsive noises, such as those from dock operations; including the Tilbury 2 
development.  

5.199 The Council’s Regulatory Services are still concerned about the exceedance of the 
predicted rating sound level above the background noise levels during both the 
daytime and night time in this location arising from Tilbury 2 and consider that 
further assessment is needed in relation to this with reference to Tilbury 2 noise 
assessments.

5.200With regard to road noise from the surrounding road section 4.2 of the report states 
considers operational road traffic noise, and predicts that the change in ambient 
levels at the nearest noise sensitive receptor is expected to be less than 1dB for 
both the daytime and night-time period. It is therefore expected that the potential 
effects of road traffic attributable to the development would be negligible.

5.201 With regard to noise emissions from fixed mechanical plant serving the 
development, Regulatory Services are satisfied that there will no adverse impact 
from plant machinery and appropriate conditions can be used to control the use.

5.202 With regard to E02 and E03 in terms of the potential effects of car parking noise on 
the proposed residential areas of the Development, the residential areas are 
protected from car parking noise by the proposed internal layouts. Within both 
blocks E02 and E03 noise is either directly incident upon the facades of non-
sensitive areas (i.e. corridors) or upon façades where no glazing has been 
proposed, block E01 would also be protected by shielding afforded by block E02. It 
is therefore considered that noise from the MSCP would have a negligible effect on 
the residential areas of the Development. 

5.203To ensure the car park is appropriately  managed, a management plan will be 
covered by condition/legal agreement. 

5.204To summarise, there is no objection to the proposal in regard to noise impacts and 
no further assessments are required prior to the application being determined and 
the Council’s Regulatory Services recommend the following:

 All recommendations in the applicant’s assessment report should be considered 
and implemented.

 Windows should be openable, but an alternative ventilation system should 
provided through a passive, mechanical or hybrid system in accordance with the 

Page 83



report recommendations and in accordance with any additional comments 
provided by the council in relation to air quality.  It is recommended that a suitable 
means of alternative ventilation is provided to all dwellings to best ensure future 
amenity of residents. 

 Noise from plant associated with the development must be at a level at least 
10dB below the existing background sound level when measured and assessed 
in accordance with BS4142:2014 1m from the façade of the nearest noise 
sensitive property.

 A full assessment of façade performance requirements should be undertaken at 
the further design stages, and recommendations should take into account all 
sources of potential noise including those arising from traffic, Tilbury 2 and other 
river-based activities, noise from or associated with existing commercial uses in 
the locality to ensure that the Internal ambient noise levels and Internal maximum 
noise levels set out in BS8233:2014 and Professional Practice Guidance on 
Planning & Noise/WHO Guidelines for Community Noise respectively will not be 
exceeded.

 Any additional works identified at any stage of the development as being required 
to meet these requirements shall be implemented and evidence provided for 
approval by the Local Authority prior to first occupation

 Consideration should also be given to low noise surfaces on roads and car parks/

5.205Subject to the above recommendations the proposal is deemed to provide acceptable 
living conditions for future occupiers and there is no conflict with local or national 
planning policy in regard to the amenity of future occupiers.

Neighbouring Amenity

5.206 To follow in supplementary report due to neighbour comments being received on 10 
July 2020 and in order that the applicants response on the impact on Gravesend 
Medical Centre is fully considered.  

Open Space

5.207As many of the dwellings proposed could be occupied by families’ weight is attached to 
the need to provide open space to meet the needs of future residents as required 
through Policy CS13 (LPCS) and Saved Policy LT6 (LPTR). At a national level The 
NPPF (2019) recognises that access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for 
sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-being of 
communities.

5.208The nature of the site, being a town centre location and the size of the site being 
dictated by the surrounding highway network, has required the architect to carefully 
consider how to provide as much amenity space for future occupiers whilst enhancing 
the area for future occupiers and wider residents of the borough.

5.209With this application, a variety of different spaces are proposed, including nodes at 
Bank Street, New Swan Yard and Market Yard; private amenity spaces in the Charter 
House courtyard; roof gardens and private balconies. Street side planting is also 
proposed along Crooked Lane as so to create a more pleasant pedestrian 
environment, and to visually connect the development with the waterfront.  

5.210 On the periphery of the Site, the proposed development has sought to deliver spaces 
for adjacent land uses to utilise, such as in front of the market.  Providing such spaces 

Page 84



will provide a more attractive streetscape, whilst increasing footfall and dwell time in the 
town centre.

5.211 The below open space plan shows there will be 2480.61m² around the building with 
1564.55m² of private amenity space at ground floor and 4 roof gardens with a 
combined space of 1102.1m².

5.212The supporting Design & Access Statement provides details of the landscaping scheme 
for the public realm as well as the private amenity space and states ‘the proposed 
development results in a unified landscape of sequential spaces with clearly defined 
functions and character the different spaces and places will satisfy the need of the 
different people, age groups, residents and visitors alike, whilst responding positively to 
the surrounding land uses’.

5.213It is considered that the open space will cater for the different needs of people and 
create an inviting environment for residents and visitors alike and respond positively to 
the surrounding area.

Page 85



5.214As demonstrated by the above extract, this will create a vastly improved environment 
for both existing occupiers of the surrounding area and future residents of the scheme. 
Great care and attention has been taken to ensure that unlike other parts of Gravesend 
riverside frontage, the height behind the floor wall is such that it gives future occupiers 
open views of the Thames.

5.215The provision of high quality and accessible leisure facilities in the Borough is essential 
to improving the health, community cohesion, prosperity and wellbeing of its residents. 
Although the development itself will provide for enhanced open space and additional 
public realm, which is recognised and which in itself will afford residents and visitors 
with some informal recreational opportunities, the application also needs to respond to 
the more formal provisions as highlighted. Due to the constrained nature of the site it 
would not be expected that the developer would be expected to provide formal leisure 
provision on site, but it is reasonable to expect the applicant to offset the impact of its 
development on existing leisure facilities in the area. 

5.216The approach promoted by officers is to secure a financial contribution towards the 
upgrading of existing local sporting facilities located within a reasonable distance of the 
application site, such that it will be directly related to the development and will 
contribute to offsetting the impact of the increased population.

5.217GBC Leisure Services have identified some projects that the development could 
contribute towards, including:
 Tired leisure facility stock at Cascades Leisure Centre and Cygnet Leisure Centre.
 junior/youth grass pitches and ancillary buildings 
 Tired existing artificial sand based pitch and no existing 3G pitch facility in the area.
 Future requirements for additional mini and youth football provision.
 Improvements to the leisure side river area
 Improvements to St. Andrews gardens.

5.218The above requests will be explored further in the planning obligation chapter of the 
supplementary report.
 

Page 86



5.219In summary, taking into account the developments location within the borough and 
need and deficiencies on the ground and the physical constraints on site the 
development the development would be expected to make a financial contribution 
towards upgrading and improving existing leisure provisions.

Wind / Microclimate

5.220 In support of this application, a wind microclimate desktop assessment has been 
submitted.

5.221The report identifies all external spaces relevant to pedestrian wind comfort. The site 
description is used mainly to identify building massing and features that are pertinent 
to the wind microclimate on-site.  The expected main flow interactions around the Site 
are then described and categorised in terms of the Lawson Comfort Criteria for 
pedestrian comfort and safety. The meteorological data for the Site indicates 
prevailing winds predominantly from the south-west throughout the year.  Winds from 
other directions do occur, and are considered within the assessment; however, their 
impact on the overall wind microclimate conditions tend to be low, due to being 
relatively infrequent (compared to the prevailing directions).

5.222The overall analysis of the report concludes that wind conditions at the site would 
generally be suitable for intended use at both ground and upper levels, however 
several isolated locations would result in windier than desired locations that are 
identified to the be the following: 
 Entrances to the lobbies of E01 on the southern and western elevations
 Balconies from the fourth floor upwards at the following locations:

o North-west balconies of E01 near the corner;
o South-west balconies of E03 near the corners;
o South-east balconies of E02 on the corners;

 South-western roof terrace of E01 (this would include seating if proposed)

5.223Within the report, mitigation measures are discussed which conclude details of 
screening around lobbies, details of solid balconies apposed to balustrades, 
increasing the balustrade to a 1.5m high solid option would provide additional shelter 
to the terrace area.  Furthermore, landscaping in the form of planters or trellises (50% 
porous) near the building corner would diffuse the corner accelerations.  

5.224The report suggests porches for the communal entrances but this would not be 
possible without encroaching onto highway land or being detrimental to the overall 
design.

5.225To ensure all the appropriate mitigation measures are in place this will be 
appropriately conditioned and will include details of how all balconies and roof 
gardens will ensure children and adults risk to being blown over balconies in strong 
winds will be minimised. 

Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

5.226Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate facilities for the storage 
and recycling of wasted generated further clarification is provided in Planning 
Guidance on Waste Collection Requirements (2019).  In order to ensure this proposal 
complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS) a refuse strategy has been submitted with this 
explication.

Page 87



5.227The applicant has confirmed that for the entire development the management company 
would bring all refuse bins to the road side for collection.

5.228 The proposed development will be served by 6 bin stores with a total of 40 bins which 
would require twice weekly collections (242 flats at 6 per waste type is 80 bins for a 
weekly collection). The below plan shows the location of the 6 bin stores located within 
the development. You will note that each bin stores are located adjacent to the 6 main 
core accesses to the building and are all at ground level.

5.229Residents would bring their own waste to the bin stores and each of these would be via 
an internal door.

5.230The supporting Transport statement (May 2020) provides details of refuse collection for 
the development as some initial concern was raised with how refuse trucks would 
service the development. For the avoidance of doubt, the following is proposed which 
is deemed acceptable.

The proposed development provides for refuse to be collected from the Site by refuse 
collection vehicles (RCVs) entering and exiting the Site via Bank Street and Queen 
Street or using Crooked Lane. The RCVs and the servicing vehicles will be able to 
enter and exit the Site in forward gear and to turn within the turning head as shown on 
the tracking drawings at Appendix F including for a 12 metre vehicle and showing the 
overhang on the Bank Street corner that its over 5.4 metres above the carriageway. 
Refuse stores will be accessed from Queen Street, Crooked Lane and New Swan Yard 
will suitable bin routes to the refuse vehicles for manual bin handling.     

5.231The applicant confirms refuse bins will be moved for collection where necessary by the 
development’s facilities management team and then returned after.

5.232With refuse external doors being at street level to ensure the bin store remains secure 
this door would be required to be fitted with an appropriate lock via a key or key code. 
To ensure this happens details of securing the refuse stores for the development will 
be appropriately conditioned. 

5.233Gravesham Waste Services have been consulted and their initial concerns regarding 
access for refuse vehicles and collection of waste has been adequately addressed. 
The proposal, subject to a condition being included, that prior to above ground works 
as waste management strategy for the entire development is agreed, which would 
cover the following aspects:

Page 88



 Servicing of waste bins;
 Number of composition of bins;
 Provision of bins

5.234Subject to the appropriate condition for a waste management strategy including 
securing the bin stores the proposed development complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS).

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

5.235The proposed development needs to be considered against Policy CS11 (LPCS) which 
states that new development should mitigate their impact on the public highway and 
that transport assessments should be provided and implemented to ensure delivery of 
travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Furthermore, it states that 
sufficient car parking in new developments will be provided in accordance with adopted 
standards which will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport 
accessibility to services and facilities. This is also reflected by Saved Policy T1 (LPFR) 
which requires proposed development to be adequately served by the highway 
network and Saved Policy P3 (LPFR) which sets out highways parking standards for 
development.

5.236At a national level the NPPF (2019) states at paragraph 103, significant development 
should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting 
the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. The NPPF (2019) 
goes on to state development should only be prevented or refused on transport 
grounds where the cumulative impact of development is severe.

5.237Prior to this application being submitted, the applicant had extensive discussions with 
both the borough and county highways officers on both how the development would 
impact on the surrounding highway network during construction and once the 
development is completed. The scheme which has been submitted has been 
influenced by these extensive discussions.

Proposed Highway Layout & Arrangements

5.238Vehicular access for the development will be via Bank Street which will be accessed as 
per existing arrangements with Crooked Lane/The Terrace and Queen Street with part 
of Bank Street being slightly re-aligned. The changes to the adopted highway will need 
to be subject to Section 278 / Section 38 Agreements to be approved by KCC 
Highways.

5.239Visibility at the junctions of Bank Street with Crooked Lane / The Terrace, Bank Street 
with Queen Street and Bank Street / New Swan Yard and the access to the proposed 
MSCP accords with the splays required for a 30mph speed limit on the main 
carriageway, stated within the Department for Transport’s Manual for Streets guidance.  

5.240The site will have pedestrianised access to High Street to the west (using existing 
alleyways and Bank Street). To the north a new pedestrian access is created linking 
New Swan Yard with Crooked Lane. Bank Street between E02 and E03 will have 
pavements and provide a further east/west link through the site.

5.241To the north of E01 is Market Alley which will be pedestrianised but capable of 
accommodating vehicles but will be prevented from doing so by lockable bollards.

Page 89



5.242The MSCP will provide 186 spaces of which 75 will be dedicated to the proposed 
residential flats apartments, 9 will be dedicated to the Gravesend Medical Centre to 
replace the existing on street medical centre parking. For the general public parking 
and 102 will be for use by the general public. A further 7 disabled parking spaces and 
one loading bay are proposed on-street for public use with the intention of dedicating 
three of these spaces to the Gravesend Medical Centre with these three disabled 
spaces forming a private island in the adopted highway allowing exclusive medical 
centre use off New Swan Yard for disabled users of the medical centre.  Electric 
vehicle charging provision will be provided for 10% of spaces (active) and 90% 
(passive with the ability to install cabling and ducting at a later date). Therefore 19 
active car parking spaces will be provided.     

5.243 The proposed parking spaces within the MSCP along with the on street parking and 
laybys are deemed acceptable layout and raise no concern from the Borough or 
County Highways officers.

5.244In regard to the parking provision this requires a maximum of: 1 car parking space per 
dwelling for 1 bed dwellings; 2 car parking spaces per dwelling for 2 and 3 bed 
dwellings and 3 car parking spaces per dwelling for 3 bed dwellings. As these are 
maximum standards and the 75 spaces in the proposed multi-storey car park will be 
dedicated to the proposed residential use the provision meets the standards while 
providing appropriate parking for a town centre development.  

5.245The development does not provide any dedicated visitor parking but with this 
development being within a town centre location and containing an element of public 
parking this gives visitors sufficient options.

5.246Within the development, all occupiers will have access to secure bicycle storage which 
will help move the reliance away from car dependency. The details of secure bicycle 
storage will be appropriately conditioned.

5.247 Regardless of the above parking provision, it should be noted that as this is a town 
centre location within walking distance of public transport links (bus, railway and ferry) 
and within walking distance of the primary shopping area of Gravesend if the proposal 
was a car free development for future occupiers it would still comply with national 
planning policy due to its highly sustainable location.

5.248 Servicing for the proposed development and the surrounding commercial properties 
has been acknowledged by the applicant and in support of this application a Service 
and Delivery Management Plan has been submitted with this application.

5.249Refuse servicing will take place on street from the refuse stores incorporated in the 
development. The enlarged turning head at the southern end of New Swan Yard can 
accommodate Gravesham refuse waste collection vehicles and delivery vehicles up to 
12 metres long.          

5.250With this proposal being 242 BTR apartments servicing this development will 
principally refuse, home deliveries and the relatively frequent movement of household 
goods in and out of the apartments as tenants change.

5.251Deliveries for future occupiers (excluding multiple deliveries as such Royal Mail) would 
primarily use the loading bay on Bank Street and New Sawn Yard turning head.

Page 90



5.252With existing highway network being retained the development will adversely impact on 
the existing delivery arrangements apart from vehicles could not use the existing car 
park to unload goods.

5.253With Crooked Lane not being altered, this development would not have any impact on 
any possible future proposals for Fastrack. 

5.254 Bank Street and New Swan Yard will continue to be used by vehicle traffic servicing 
the surrounding buildings, principally Gravesend Market, the Gravesend Medical 
Centre and the adjacent properties. The Market will be serviced from the enlarged 
turning head near the western end of the Market building at the southern end of New 
Swan Yard while the Medical Centre will be serviced from New Swan Yard.   

Impact on public car parking.

5.255The two existing car parks provide 211 public spaces and there will be reduction to 102 
public spaces. The NPPF (2019) and supporting planning practice guidance seeks to 
move away away from reliance on private motor vehicles. However it is still 
acknowledged that in order to support surrounding businesses and the market an 
element of public car parking is required in this location is needed to help support the 
commercial elements within this sector of town. 

5.256Neither Gravesham or County highways officers object to the reduction of public car 
parking as the supporting Travel Assessment demonstrates that there is substantial 
unused parking capacity in several car parks in the town centre (both public and 
private) to absorb the reduction of public car parking at the application site.

5.257This is demonstrated by the parking accumulation data supplied by Gravesham 
Borough Council indicates that whilst Horn Yard and Market Square car parks become 
full at times during weekdays and Saturdays that there is substantial unused capacity 
in the town centre parking stock as a whole amounting to several hundred spaces. This 
is demonstrated table 10 extracted from the supporting TA.

Peak Parking Demand

Page 91



5.258To ensure the future occupiers of the development reduce dependency on private 
motor vehicles the applicant has submitted a draft travel plan. To ensure the travel plan 
is implemented and takes into account the relevant issues relating to the on-going 
issue of Covid-19 this will be the subject to a pre-occupation condition. 

Impact on surrounding properties

5.259The Transport Assessment (TA) indicates that there have been only two minor crashes 
on the local roads, one in Crooked Lane and one in Queen Street, during the past 3 
years. It is therefore not considered likely that the proposed development would have 
any significant impact on highway safety. The County Highways officer confirms this 
proposal will have no adverse impact on highway safety.

5.260A concern raised by 3rd party representations is this development would result in an 
increase in vehicle movements and would be detrimental to the surrounding highway 
network.

5.261The Supporting TA has considered the impact of the residential development on the 
highway network along with the reduction of public car parking and concludes the 
residential development is predicted to generate around 227 vehicle movements per 
day with around 21 movements in the morning peak hour and 19 in the evening peak. 
Furthermore, the overall number of traffic movements on the site with the development 
is predicted to be fewer than in the existing situation due to the reduction in public car 
parking at the site and consequent transfer from the site of trips related to other public 
car parks.

5.262In order to ensure that vehicles looking to park within the town centre do not approach 
and queue on Bank Street (this may have a noise, air quality, highways impact) if 
vehicles were backed up on this road. To avoid this, the applicant will be required to 
contribute towards a new town centre signage system to indicate town centre parking 
captivity. This will be similar to the previous scheme that was in place within the town 
centre.  This will be covered further within the planning obligations chapter of the 
supplementary report.

Previous town centre car park capacity sign

Page 92



 

Highway Impact during construction 

5.263 The supporting TA and draft construction management plan, submitted with this 
application, outlines how the applicant intends to construct the development. With the 
development possibly involving temporary road closure (such as Bank Street) the 
access to New Swan yard for servicing and access needs to be maintained. The 
applicant acknowledges that even though a draft construction management plan has 
been submitted, the final details will need to be conditioned and require both the 
consent of Gravesham and KCC.

5.264 It is worth noting that the applicant is having on-going discussions with KCC on how 
any temporary road closures would be catered for during the construction phase.

5.265In order to ensure this development does not have an adverse impact on the 
surrounding highway network during construction, a management plan will be 
conditioned which shall include the following issues relating to highways

 Route of construction and delivery vehicles to and from site
 Parking and turning areas for construction,  delivery vehicles and site personnel
 Timing of deliveries
 Provision of wheel washing facilities
 Temporary traffic management/signage
 Car park signage during construction.

5.266The construction management plan will be the subject to a pre-commencement 
condition that will require the input from the borough and county and highways officers. 

Public Rights of Way

5.267To the west of the application site linking New Swan Yard and High Street and two 
Public Rights of Way (NGX 4 & 5) and these will not be adversely impacted by the 
proposal.   The location of NGX 4 and 5 are shown below:

Page 93



5.268In conclusion, the parking provision for the site and the impact on the highway network 
during the schemes’ full occupation, it is unlikely to have insignificant impact on the 
highway network which has been confirmed in the applicants transport assessment and 
in the formal comments from Kent Highways and Transportation Services and 
Gravesham Highway Development Management Officer. There is no conflict with local 
or national planning policy.

Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage

5.269 In support of this application a Flood Risk Assessment and Sustainable Drainage 
Strategy has been submitted.  The application site lies outside flood zone 3 as 
identified on the below image. 

 

5.270The Environment Agency (EA) has been consulted and raise no objection to the 
proposal as it complies with the NPPF (2019) in relation to flood issues.

Page 94



5.271It is worth noting that even though E03 is just outside Flood Zone 3 the lower ground 
floor level flush with Crooked Lane contains no apartments and complies with the 
Environment Agency requirement that the finished floor level (FFL) of the apartments 
shall not be lower than 8.80m above ordnance Datum as detailed in the Flood Risk 
Assessment.  As per the EA request, this will be appropriately conditioned. 

5.272Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage 
and surface water run-off.  Kent County Council (KCC) is the Lead Local Flood 
Authority and has reviewed the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Sustainable 
Drainage Strategy and raise no objection to the proposal and they welcome the 
proposal for a green/brown roof within the design to attenuate surface water from the 
building area. The design of this feature have not been provided at this stage and 
therefore acknowledge that further work is likely required prior to construction and this 
will be dealt with through the appropriate planning condition covering the following 
issues:
1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 

scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council.
2. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system.

5.273Southern Water have been consulted and raise no objection subject to a condition 
being included regarding details and the means of foul and surface water sewerage to 
be conditioned. In addition Southern Water has confirmed they can supply water to the 
development. 

5.274Southern Water, in their comments, recognises its obligations under the new charging 
regime to provide capacity in the existing sewerage system to accommodate the needs 
of the proposed development. Any such network reinforcement will be part funded 
through the New Infrastructure Charge with the remainder funded through Southern 
Water’s Capital Works Programme.

5.275As shown on the below extract from Southern Water, running through the centre of 
Bank Street is a large sewer and this proposal will not impact on this sewer pipe. 

5.276In summary, it is not considered that the proposal would not conflict with Policy CS18 
(LPCS) in regard to drainage matters.

Page 95



Contaminated Land

5.277Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF (2019) require new development 
to avoid adverse environmental impacts of land contamination and remediating 
contaminated land. 

5.278The previous uses of the proposed development site present a medium risk of residual 
contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute controlled waters. 
Controlled waters are sensitive in this location because the proposed development site 
is located upon Principal aquifer possibly locally overlain by a Secondary aquifer.

5.279The EA has reviewed the contaminated land report and state ‘The reports submitted in 
support of this planning application provides us with confidence that it will be possible 
to suitably manage the risk posed to controlled waters by this development. Further 
detailed information will, however be required before built development is undertaken. 
It is our opinion that it would place an unreasonable burden on the developer to ask for 
more detailed information prior to the granting of planning permission but respect that 
this is a decision for the Local Planning Authority.

5.280Subject to the recommended conditions, as suggested by the EA there is no conflict 
with Policy CS19 (LPCS) or Paragraph 170 of the NPPF (2019) is considered to occur 
in terms of land contamination issues.

Ecology and Biodiversity 

5.281The application site falls within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive which 
requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed on 
Annex 1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European 
context, and also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  It 
is also listed as a Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention 
(Ramsar Site).  Studies have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in 
areas that are busiest with recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found 
that additional dwellings were likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing 
disturbance to protected bird species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and Ramsar 
Site.  The studies found that 75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent coast 
originate from within 6 km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts of 
recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the status and distribution of key 
bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of the 
European Sites. 

5.282The Borough Council has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 6km zone 
since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and Monitoring 
Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £250.39 per dwelling) or the applicant is 
to provide an appropriate assessment to indicate why such mitigation is not needed.  
The tariff approach is supported by Natural England for all new residential 
developments. 

5.283For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats) which does not 
require any other contributions to be secured through a s106 legal agreement or 
unilateral undertaking the tariff has been secured through a contribution agreement.

5.284Irrespective of the above, a Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling means a 
screening assessment as to whether the development either alone or in combination, is 

Page 96



likely to have significant effects on a designated site is required.  The CJEU sees a 
distinction between “the plan or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or 
reduce the harmful effects of a plan or project on a European site”. This means that 
mitigation measures, which are intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be 
assessed within the framework of an AA and cannot be taken into account at the 
screening stage.  

5.285In this case, a contribution of £60,594.38 has been agreed by the applicant, which will 
be secured through a s.106 agreement and a screening for Appropriate Assessment 
(AA) will be undertaken.

5.286The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the proposal would put in place adequate 
measures to mitigate potential significant adverse effects on the Thames Estuary and 
Marshes SPA/Ramsar site.

5.287The car park is currently void of any vegetation, apart from some isolated locations 
around the edge of the car parks. This development will provide significant increase in 
biodiversity net gain which will be appropriately conditioned. As outlined by responses 
received bird boxes and other enhancements for wildlife will be conditioned. 

5.288In summary, no conflict with Policy CS12 (LPCS) and paragraphs 175 and 176 of the 
NPPF (2019) subject to the appropriate conditions and clauses within the S.106 
agreement to secure long term management of the site and off-site tree planting.

Fire Safety/Tall Buildings

5.289See Supplementary Report 

Suggested Conditions 

5.290See Supplementary Report 

Planning Obligations
 
5.291See Supplementary Report 

Financial Considerations

5.292In terms of other financial benefits, it is noted that these will accrue to the area as and 
when permissions are granted. The Government wishes to ensure that the decision 
making process for planning applications is a transparent as possible, so that local 
communities are more aware of the financial benefits that development can bring to 
their area. In this instance the proposed new residential units would generate the New 
Homes Bonus and Council Tax receipts. 

6. Conclusion 

6.1 See Supplementary Report 

Recommendation

Page 97



See Supplementary Report 

Page 98



SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20200343

Site Address:
Land At Market Square And Horn Yard Car Parks 
New Swan Yard, Gravesend, Kent

Application 
Description:

Erection of 242no. residential units for Build to Rent (C3 Use 
Class), within three blocks ranging from 3 to 10 storeys, together 
with multi-storey car park as well as access, pedestrian, 
landscaping, highway and other associated works.

Applicant: Reef Group

Agent: Knight Frank

Ward: Riverside 

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 28.8.2020

Publicity Expiry 
Date: 19.05.2020

Decision Level: Planning Committee 

Reason for referral: Major Development Proposal 

Recommendation:
It is recommended that the application is DELEGATED to the 
Service Manager (Development Management) in consultation 
with the Chair, for the issue of planning PERMISSION subject 
planning conditions, the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement.

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

This is a major planning application for 242 apartments for a Build to Rent (BTR) scheme 
including 20% affordable housing consisting of 48 units, and consists of three residential blocks 
and a multi storey car park (MSCP). The proposed development is over 4 structures which are as 
follows:

- E01 - 172 Units (up to 10 storeys in height)
- E02 - 42 Units (up to 7 storeys in height)
- E03 – 29 Units (up to 8 storeys in height)
- MSCP – 6 split level providing 186 spaces.

Page 99



Planning approval 20120931 was lawfully implemented on the site in 2019, but works were 
halted on site whilst this revised scheme is considered.  Whilst these works have ceased they 
can be commenced at any point and are material planning consideration for this proposal and 
represents a fall-back position.

With the adoption of Gravesham Core Strategy (2014) the site has been allocated for 
development being within a town centre opportunity area as set out in Policy CS05 (LPCS) and 
the principle of development on this site is deemed acceptable.

The proposal is deemed to be a sustainable form of development that accords with national and 
local planning policy. The agent has confirmed they will provide the required 20% on site 
affordable housing and all the S.106 contributions which meet the relevant tests set out within the 
NPPF (2019).

All representations received from both 3rd parties and consutlees and have been taken into 
account when considering this proposal and the development is considered to comply with local 
and national planning policy.

Permission is recommended subject to the S.106 being signed appropriate planning conditions 
being included.

1. Additional 3rd Party comments 

1.1 Following  the publication of the report up until midday of 19 July 2020 3 additional 
comments have been received stating the following:
 The applicant has failed to serve notice on all relevant  land owners;
 the viability report associated with proposal is not publicly accessible; 
 development is too tall and dense;
 existing market will be overshadowed;
 design is not in keeping with the area; and
 lack of amenity space.

2. Procedural Issues 

2.1 A third party representation has been received stating that the covering letter of 31 
March 2020 by the agent makes reference to a viability report and questions why 
this has not been made publicly available. 

2.2 With this application a viability assessment was never formally submitted as the 
applicant has agreed to meet all the required planning obligations (including 
affordable housing) and this is outlined in section 8 of this supplementary report. 

2.3 A third party representation stated that incorrect notice had been served on land 
owners. Following clarification with the third party it was clarified that the land in 
question was outside the redline boundary and correct notice had been served on 
the relevant land owners. 

3. Neighbouring Amenity

3.1 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including 
privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties 
and land and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019) requires development to have a high 
standard of amenity for existing users (In this case surrounding properties).

Page 100



3.2 A key issue in considering this application is the extent to which the new development – 
principally the new buildings themselves but also the associated impacts such as 
vehicle movements – will impact upon the living conditions of the adjoining residents. 
Whilst in most cases an inevitable consequence of redeveloping a town centre location 
will be a detrimental impact upon some nearby residents, it is necessary to be able to 
ascertain the level of harm to resolve whether the merits of redevelopment outweigh 
the harm that may be caused.

3.3 Whilst any development on this site will affect views from surrounding residential 
properties enjoying views across the site and onto the river Thames, it is important to 
highlight that ‘loss of a view’ is not a material planning consideration. However, adverse 
effects such as ‘overshadowing, loss of day/sunlight, loss of privacy, loss of outlook and 
general appearing overbearing are valid planning concerns, that require consideration 
in assessing the proposed development. These concerns have been raised by adjacent 
residents. 

3.4 Careful consideration needs to be given to the impact on existing residents, during the 
construction phase and this would be secured through an appropriate condition and 
would cover such issues as hours of work, external lighting, dust suppression, pest 
control and delivery arrangements.  Notwithstanding the draft construction 
management plan, which has been submitted a formal construction management plan 
will be conditioned. At this stage a construction management plan cannot be agreed as 
the applicant is having on-going discussions with Kent Highways & Transportation 
Services how the development will be accessed from the surrounding highway network 
during the construction phase.

3.5 Members need to be aware that the principle of development on the site has been 
agreed with the implementation on site of 20120931 and the site is allocated for 
development as set out in Policy CS05 (LPCS).

3.6 A number of third party representations have been received, which make reference to 
the car parks being used for antisocial behaviour. This development by redeveloping 
both surface car parks will eliminate this issue and with active frontage within the 
development will provide natural surveillance to the surrounding area. The soft and 
hard landscaping for this development will be conditioned and careful consideration will 
be taken to ensure secure by design principles are incorporated into the development

3.7 In addition with Bank Street and Market Alley turning into active streets this will create a 
pleasant environment for residents travelling through the site who currently have to 
walk across a open air car park which is unpleasant environment during unsociable 
hours.

E01

3.8 To the north of Bank Street is E01 which varies in height between 5 and 10 storeys and 
surrounding this building is a variety of commercial and residential buildings. North of 
E01 is the market; there will be no adverse impact from this development on the 
operators of the Market.

3.9 To the east of E01 is Queen Street which contains mix of commercial premises and 
residential properties consisting of 4 storey post war flats, a public house (with 
residential above) and retail units further south.

Page 101



3.10 The following image shows the properties to the east which will directly face E01.

         Queen Street

3.11 Between the above properties, and the eastern elevation of E01 a distance of between 
16m and 20m is maintained. Whilst this distance is less than the 21m recommended 
within the residential layout guidelines, the existing road combined with the close nit 
urban environment would not make the 21m distance achievable. To achieve this would 
compromise the design of the development, and not make the most efficient use of the 
site (which is a requirement of the NPPF (2019)). In addition, Members have previously 
accepted the close proximity of development fronting Queen Street with the 
implemented scheme. 

3.12 To appreciate the height differences between the implemented scheme and the 
proposed scheme, the following plan shows the differences in height fronting Queen 
Street (the redline marks the outline of the implemented scheme). Overall, the height is 
an additional 4 storey’s in north east corner of E01, with the southern portion of E01 
being only 1 storey higher than the implemented scheme. 

Eastern Elevation

3.13 It is considered, that the additional height will not result in an overbearing development 
that will harm the outlook or amenity of existing occupiers along Queen Street. 
Currently the residents of Queen Street are faced with a vacant car park which 3rd party 
representations make reference to be a source of anti-social behaviour occurring at 

Page 102



night. This development will replace the car park with active frontage and natural 
surveillance which will create a safer environment, and will make Queen Street feel a 
more inviting street. 

3.14 The western elevation of E01 fronts New Swan Yard and apart from the medical centre 
there are only service yards fronting this elevation and sufficient distance is maintained 
between this development and existing properties along the High Street.

3.15 As demonstrated below, E01 is actually one storey smaller than the implemented 
scheme where it fronts the medical centre and is the same height as the implemented 
scheme as the building moves south. 

Western Elevation

3.16 With regard to the impact on the medical centre it was a concern from the occupiers 
and landlord, that this development will have an adverse impact on the medical centre. 
When the medical centre was originally designed it was on the basis to ensure good 
levels of daylight would be available internally, and that there was awareness that the 
neighbouring site would be developed in the future.

3.17 With E01 fronting the medical centre being smaller than the height of the implemented 
scheme by 1 storey the impact from this development will be less than the implemented 
scheme.

3.18 Whilst the new development will place some residential development adjacent to it, the 
hours of use combined with the separation distance suggests that this will not 
significantly compromise the function of the medical centre or impact on the amenity of 
visitors or the staff when the building is in use. 

E02 and E03

3.19 E02 fronts the rear yards of the High Street, apart from 12-14 High Street which is a 
residential block that was under construction when the implemented scheme was 
approved. This proposal, and the implemented scheme have a similar distance to 12-
14 High Street. However, the difference is this scheme is reduced in height than the 
implemented scheme, and thus the impact on 12-14 High Street is reduced.  The 
following image shows the western elevation of E02/MSCP/E03.

E02/MSCP/E03 West Elevation

Page 103



3.20 As the above image shows, the MSCP results in there being no windows looking into 
the east facing windows of 12/14 High Street. The windows fronting 12/14 High Street 
on the western elevation of E02 are secondary windows. To protect the occupiers of 
12/14 High Street these windows being secondary windows will be conditioned to be 
obscure glazed and top hung only.

Floor plan showing secondary bedroom window in E02

3.21  To the north of MSCP is E03 which fronts onto the northern end of the High Street and 
onto Crooked Lane.  E03 will not result in any adverse impact on any of the existing 
surrounding properties.

MSCP

3.22 The top deck of the MSCP is open deck and this has not been enclosed in order to 
ensure that the overall mass of the development north of Bank Street is not 
compromised. Secondly the open decks assists with natural ventilation which is 
common practice in MSCP design and helps reduce the carbon footprint (natural 
ventiliaiton of the development. For these reasons having the MSCP open deck is 
deemed acceptable. 

3.23 To ensure the MSCP does not have an adverse impact on the surrounding properties 
the agent has provided the following clarification: 

Page 104



As the top two split decks are open, light pollution from both cars using the car park 
and from car park lighting has been considered. To avoid light pollution from cars, the 
car park is to receive metal mesh cladding which has angled faces to allow for air 
movement whilst restricting visibility into the car park and light out. As well as 
neighbouring properties, there are a number of proposed residential units within the 
development site which overlook the car park and consideration has been given to 
their window placement in relation to car park layout to avoid significant light impact. 
For example windows are placed at high level and not directly at the top of ‘UP’ ramps 
where the vehicle’s angle and therefore headlights will be inclined. 

The proposals for the car park lighting are to utilise the surrounding vertical surfaces of 
the car park cores and adjacent residential facades to fix wall mounted lighting. This 
will allow lighting to be directed so as not to cause excessive pollution to surrounding 
areas. Proposals for this will be developed further as the designs progress.

3.24 It is considered that the design of the car park is acceptable and subject to the above 
issues being conditioned which will include a robust management plan for MSCP, 
lighting conditions and screening details on the elevations there will be no adverse 
impact on the amenity of existing residents. With the redevelopment of both car parks 
the increase security of the MSP will create an overall safer environment for existing 
residents. 

3.25 With the agent agreeing to the MSCP capacity signage this should minimise any 
vehicles queuing to enter the MSCP. Queuing vehicles may lead to impacts on air 
quality and noise to surrounding residents.

Daylight/Sunlight

3.26 With the site being in a town centre location, being in proximity to surrounding residential 
and commercial properties the agent acknowledges that there may be an impact on 
daylight/sunlight to surrounding existing properties. To address this, the agent has 
submitted a daylight sunlight technical assessment with the application.  It should be 
noted that the report submitted is based on professional judgement and needs to be 
interpreted with a degree of flexibility.  BRE Guidelines provide three methodologies for 
daylight assessment, namely:

 The Vertical Sky Component (VSC);
 The No Sky Line (NSL); and
 The Average Daylight Factor (APSH)

3.27 The following image shows the location of properties in relation to the application site 
which have been taken into account when considering the daylight and sunlight impacts. 

Page 105



Daylight

3.28 With regard to daylight the report carried out an inspection of the following properties:

St Andrews Art Centre 
The Mission House 
Thames House 
Clarendon Court 
25 To 36 St Andrews Court 
13 To 24 St Andrews Court 
1 To 12 St Andrews Court 
The George Inn 
32 Queen Street 
34 Queen Street 
36 Queen Street 
36A Queen Street 
23 Queen Street 
Old Town Hall 
3 High Street 
4 To 5 High Street  
6 To 10 High Street 
12 To 14 High Street 
17 High Street 
18 High Street 
19 High Street 
20 High Street 
21 High Street 
22 High Street 
23 High Street 
Gravesend Medical Centre * A further detailed analysis was carried out on this site*
1 To 10 Market Court 

Page 106



1 Bank Street 
1 To 23 Thames View Court 
Three Daws Public House

3.29 The findings of this survey were that of the 502 windows tested 389 (77%) will continue 
to meet the aspirational target values as set out in the BRE guidelines.  This illustrated 
on the following table. (It should be noted that below results are prior to the additional  
detailed analysis undertaken on medical centre).

3.30 The biggest impact is on St. Andrews Court where of the 60 windows assessed for this 
development, 30 (50%) will fall short of the target values recommended in the BRE 
Guide.  

3.31 Whilst on the face of it 50% seems a high number the report adds context by stating:

1 to 12 St. Andrews Court
 At least 8 windows are thought to serve bedrooms and it should be borne in mind 

that 
 The BRE Guide deems bedrooms to be less important due to their nocturnal use. 
 The architectural form of St Andrews Court features external projecting balconies, 

which limit access of daylight and sunlight into some of the rooms in the building.  

13 to 24 St Andrews Court
 The BRE Guide states that circulation spaces and bathrooms need not to be tested 

as they are not considered to require good levels of daylight. Of the 30 windows 
that do not meet the BRE target criteria, 8 appear to serve either a stair core or a 
bathroom; albeit in the absence of certainty, we have included these windows in our 
assessment as a precaution. 

 At least 8 windows are thought to serve bedrooms and it should be borne in mind 
that the BRE Guide deems daylight and sunlight amenity to such rooms less 
important.

 The architectural form of St Andrews Court features external projecting balconies, 
which limit access of daylight and sunlight into some of the rooms in the building.

Page 107



3.32 The report concludes that ‘St Andrews Court has a disproportionately high reliance on 
daylight and sunlight light from relatively low angles of elevation over the application 
site, which is currently vacant land in use as a car park. This should be borne in mind 
when judging the effects of the development’.

Sunlight

3.33 In accordance with the BRE Guide, the analysis of the plans provided and 
according to the applicants assessment the observations on site, a number of the 
surrounding buildings required Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) testing.

3.34 The report concludes that of the 221 windows tested 197 (77%) will continue to meet 
the target set out in the BRE guidelines.  

3.35 The report concludes 17 windows would continue to achieve or exceed the BRE target 
for annual sunlight, falling short only on winter sunlight, which is harder to achieve in 
town-centre locations. A further 11 windows would retain annual sunlight values of 
between 20% and 24%, marginally below the BRE recommended 25%. The majority of 
remaining transgressing windows are located within Gravesend Medical Centre, where 
the windows assessed appear to serve reception areas/waiting rooms and circulation 
areas, which are not considered to have a requirement for sunlight amenity but are 
included for completeness.  

Overshadowing

3.36 The report concludes that no gardens or surrounding amenity space will be adversely 
affected by overshadowing and concludes that St. Andrews Gardens, using the BRE 
recommended assessment dates of 21 March (the vernal equinox) and 21 June (the 
summer solstice). Results show that over half of the park area will retain at least two 
hours of direct sunlight across on both assessment dates.

Impact on Gravesend Medical Centre

3.37 To address the specific concerns from the medical centre the agent was supplied with 
the floor plans for the building (as approved) and undertake a revised daylight/sunlight 
assessment for this building and concluded the following:

It is evident that the Gravesend Medical Centre was designed to ensure good lighting 
levels would endure following the development of the neighbouring site, as the 
Gravesend Medical Centre includes large areas of glass and a void between the 
ground and first floor to enable light to permeate through the building from above.   To 
demonstrate this, we have undertaken further Average Daylight Factor (ADF) testing, 
which we consider is appropriate due to the design of the Gravesend Medical Centre, 
given the interrelationships between the façade glazing and the interior room 
arrangements.  

The ADF results show that all the rooms within the Gravesend Medical Centre either 
exceed the BRE target of 1.5% ADF (this target is set for living rooms in dwellings so 
seems appropriate for the waiting areas in the Gravesend Medical Centre) or that 
where this target is not currently achieved, the proposal results in negligible reductions 
of between 0.03% and 0.05% ADF.

In relation to sunlight, the main front elevation of the Gravesend Medical Centre faces 
almost due east and therefore it can only receive half of the available sunlight in the 

Page 108



current situation.   However, the south facing windows at ground, first and second floor 
levels do retain levels of sunlight that accord with the BRE targets.  

In summary, the Gravesend Medical Centre’s design anticipated that the neighbouring 
site would be developed in the future and made provision for that in terms of daylight 
design.   While some individual windows are affected by the proposed development, 
the large glass areas in the façade design and the internal layout incorporating the void 
or ‘lightwell’ result in adequate levels of light remaining available.

3.38 It is considered that the above information shows that any impact on the medical centre 
is deemed acceptable. Furthermore, the use of task lighting in commercial buildings 
such as this building is a common and not unreasonable requirement. It is concluded 
that the impact upon the medical centre due to some lost daylight/sunlight is not 
overriding in the context of this application. 

Conclusion 

3.39 The daylight sunlight technical assessment concludes ‘ that due to the open nature of 
the application site and the fact that St Andrews Court, Gravesend Medical Centre and 
Market Court overlook the site, the vast majority of the rooms tested currently achieve 
Daylight Distribution excess of BRE recommendations (and far above those typically 
achieved in town centre locations).For this reason, the Daylight Distribution excess of 
BRE recommendations Daylight Distribution excess of BRE recommendations will 
inevitably be reduced when the site is developed. Such reductions manifest as 
significant BRE transgressions when expressed as a percentage oft he former high 
value, whereas the retained levels are largely in-line with expectations of occupants in 
town-centre locations’.

3.40 Having regard to the economic and regenerative benefits of the scheme and the 
appreciation that an inevitable consequence of redeveloping a town centre location is 
often an adverse impact on existing properties, it is considered that the extent of 
adverse impact to the adjoining residents identified is not sufficient to refuse consent of 
this application. The issue of ‘right to light’ is not a material planning issue and has not 
been considered during this assessment.  

3.41 In summary, it is considered that taking into account the extant scheme and Paragraph 
123 of the NPPF (2019) which states when considering applications for housing, 
authorities should take a flexible approach in applying policies or guidance relating to 
daylight and sunlight, where they would otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site 
(as long as the resulting scheme would provide acceptable living standards). As such, 
no conflict with local or national planning policy and the scheme is deemed policy 
compliant.

4. Design, Character and appearance (Including Heritage)

Archaeology

4.1 The application site is identified to be an area of archaeological potential for below-
ground remains of prehistoric, Romano-British and including the more recent 
development in the town prior to the buildings being demolished and the car parks being 
constructed.  Within the redline boundary there are no recorded designated heritage 
assets. 

Page 109



4.2 In support of this application a comprehensive archaeological desktop assessment has 
been submitted. The report sets out the potential of the site and the nature and extent of 
below ground impacts.

4.3 In 2019 Wessex Archaeology undertook evaluation trial trenching on the site to the north 
of Bank Street and in 2020  a further 9 archaeological trial trenches were undertaken 
between the 30th March  and 20th May 2020. The reports initial findings concluded the 
following:

The fieldwork was successful in achieving the aims and objectives with the evaluation 
identifying that there has been significant levels of disturbance across the majority of the 
site with any pre-19th century archaeology removed by later development. In addition, 
the evaluation has found that were structural remains do survive, they too have been 
damaged by subsequent episodes of redevelopment which occurred from the 1860s to 
the 1990s.  

The exception to this was Trench 2 were a series of pits and postholes that do not 
correlate with post-1840 mapping were identified. These features dated between the 
medieval and post-medieval and represent an earlier phase of use for Archaeological 
Zone 3. They could represent earlier buildings; however, due to the lack of detail on pre-
1840s mapping, it is difficult to identify. The pits and postholes would imply a post-built 
structure, not of brick construction.

The excavation of Trench 3 has shed new light on the buildings that were present in this 
area of Gravesend. Originally it was thought that the former buildings that lined Horn 
Yard were not basemented. However, this has been proven to be incorrect. The 
excavation of Trench 3 has also confirmed that there is potential for wells within the 
cellars. It would not have been uncommon for particular houses to have a private well 
where they did not have access to fresh water.

4.4 The following plan shows the locations of the 9 archaeological trail trenches overlaid on 
an historic OS Plan prior to the car parks being in existence.

Page 110



4.5 The initial findings from these works suggest some survival of archaeological remains but 
show much more modern disturbance.

4.6 Notwithstanding the archaeological trial trenches that have been undertaken to ensure 
any archaeology is adequately addressed on site a condition would be included to ensure 
any impact on archaeology is adequately addressed.

Conclusion

4.7 In summary (taking into account additional 3rd party representations being received) this 
proposal has been designed to enhance the urban townscape of Gravesend and is a 
positive evolution from the extant scheme. With this proposal this part of Gravesend town 
centre historic fabric will be re-stitched and this will positively contribute to the 
surrounding heritage assets and the wider town centre. 

4.8 As such it is considered the proposal meets the requirements of paragraphs 190 to 196 of 
the NPPF (2019).

4.9 In respect of Heritage and design the proposal, subject to conditions, considered to 
protect the architectural and historic interest of the surrounding designated heritage 
assets and the scheduled monuments (the block house and fork). Therefore the proposal 
meets the requirements of Policies CS19 and CS20 (LPCS)  Saved Policies TC2 and 
TC3 (LPFR), Sections 12 and 15 of the NPPF (2019)  (which includes paragraph 190 to 
196)and Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990.

5. River Noise

5.1 Within paragraph 5.193 to 5.205 of item 5d the impact on noise on this development is 
considered. However, since the publication of the report the agent has provided further 
clarification on how the noise assessment has considered the impact of the River Thames 
and the associated activities at Tilbury. The agents comments are below:

in the noise assessment, the dominant noise source at all locations was road traffic 
noise.  Other sources noted were vessel movements and dock operations on the River 
Thames together with occasional aircraft.  

Noise from night-time dock operations were audible during both the initial; and 2018 
noise surveys.  Although this noise was audible during lulls in road traffic noise, it was 
noted that it had no noticeable effect on the overall measured night-time LAeq,T levels.  

Further to this, future development in the area, namely the Tilbury 2 development, has 
the potential to generate noise levels that could have an effect on the development.
 However, given the distance from the scheme to the Site, the Tilbury 2 Environmental 
Statement (ES) indicates that the operational noise of the scheme would have no effect 
at the nearest SRs.  As such the risk level from the Tilbury 2 scheme is expected to be 
negligible.  It is also expected that the Tilbury 2 development would be subject to controls 
on noise emissions and would thereby be expected to accurately assess and mitigate 
noise emissions so as to minimise disturbance to all sensitive receptors within the area.  
As such – and given that the only data on noise emissions available is that which has 
been predicted within the Tilbury 2 documents – it is considered the formation of 
mitigation measures for Tilbury 2 is outside the remit of this report.  However, further 
publications and assessments of the Tilbury 2 operations should be considered during 
the detailed design of the development. 

Page 111



5.2 The above information provides further reassurance that consideration of both the river 
Tilbury 2 has been taken into account and the mitigation measures set out in 5.204 of 
item 5d are acceptable. 

6. Fire Safety/Tall Buildings

6.1 Since Grenfell Fire, the way in which tall buildings are designed has changed. The agent 
has been asked to clarify how the Grenfell Fire tragedy has influenced this proposal and 
they have stated the following:

As you will note the proposed measures meet, or exceed building regulations. 

Since the Grenfell Tower tragedy happened in 2017 the fire regulations within the United 
Kingdom have been under significant scrutiny. Building regulations have been changed 
with further changes to Part B of Building Regulations guidance incoming at the end of 
2020. A summary relevant to the scheme is as follows:

External wall build up – In late 2018 the first major change to Building Regulations took 
place since Grenfell which required that any material within the external wall build of a 
residential building exceeding 18m in height to topmost habitable storey to be at least 
Class A2,s1-d0 non-combustible, except for a number of materials exceptions. Where 
previously combustible materials, most infamously combustible insulation, could be 
placed within the external wall build up in buildings of this height and then justified either 
by the system being tested or a desktop review on the external wall build up being 
undertaken. This is no longer the case with an outright ban on these products in 
residential buildings over the 18m threshold, this applies to all three residential blocks 
within The Charter, Gravesend.

Sprinkler suppression – Changes to the Building Regulations guidance that require the 
height of residential buildings that are required to be provided with sprinkler suppression 
throughout the building is lowering from 30m to 11m in November 2020. With any 
projects that do not begin on site before January 2021 therefore having to meet this 
requirement. As The Charter, Gravesend scheme is to start in 2020 this does not apply 
to the scheme. However, based on the internal layouts of the apartments throughout the 
scheme, the majority of apartments within the scheme will be provided with sprinkler 
suppression throughout. Suppression is provided in all upper floor apartments, single and 
duplex. The only areas that are not provided with sprinkler suppression are the duplex 
apartments, MSCP and Ground Floor ancillary areas which are separated adequately 
from the other residential areas. Further to this, the most onerous residential sprinkler 
suppression system is being provided within these areas, a BS 9251 Category 3 system 
with an enhanced 60 minute duration.

6.2 It is considered that there is sufficient legislation in place to minimise the danger for future 
occupiers of the development in the event of a fire.

7. Suggested Conditions 

7.1 At this stage the full wording of each condition is not available and additional conditions 
may be required. It is recommended that the final conditions once drafted are in 
consultation with the chair.

7.2 In order to aid Members the following conditions headings are listed below and broken 
down into the different phasing of the development. 

Page 112



7.3 Please note that applicant would need to agree to in writing to any pre-commencement 
conditions and officers will consult with the agent on the suggested conditions and where 
possible pre-commencement conditions will kept to an absolute minimum. 

 Time Limit.
 Approved Plans.
 Construction Management Plan.
 Highway Works.
 Archaeology Works.
 Land Contamination and Protection of Groundwater.
 Managing the closure of public car parking during the construction phase (including 

signage).
 Temporary Pedestrian and Vehicular Accesses to and through the site.
 Surface Water Drainage Scheme.
 Foul and surface water sewerage disposal.
 Phasing plan.
 Water supply demand.
 Foul and Surface water disposal.
 Public Realm and Landscaping scheme (soft and hard landscaping)
 Long term management of public realm
 Crime Prevention Strategy
 Broadband provision 
 External facing materials
 Air Quality & Noise Mitigation Measures
 Plant equipment
 Bird/bat boxes mitigation measures. 
 Details and arrangements for deliveries and servicing the proposed development
 Secure bike storage
 Access from New Swan Yard to Crooked Lane to be opened.
 External Lighting
 MSCP Management Plan (including open times)
 Travel Plan 
 Secure Refuse Storage
 External finish to balconies 
 Allocation and safeguarding of parking spaces
 Details of roof gardens
 Electric Charging Points
 Restriction of roof plant requirement
 Restriction Dishes/telecommunication restriction on the roofs.
 Obscure glazing
 Refuse and secure bike storage retained.

INFORMATIVES

1. Statement of positive and proactive approach to decision taking
2. Agreement of imposition of pre-commencement conditions
3. Building Regulations and Party Wall Act
4. Deviation from approved plans
5. Refuse contact details
6. Kent County Council Highways and Transportation contact
8. Southern Water requirements
9.   Naming and numbering 

Page 113



10. Kent Police Crime Prevention Design 

8. Planning Obligations

Procedural Issues 

8.1 Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism that we as a 
Council, often use to secure financial contributions or other forms of mitigation such 
as affordable housing from developers, make a development proposal acceptable in 
planning terms.  

8.2 In order for the Local Planning Authority to request financial contributions on behalf of 
third parties any contributions will need to meet all of the tests relating to paragraph 
56 of the NPPF (2019) which are as follows:

(A)    necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

(B)    directly related to the development;

(C)    fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development; and 

(D)    that: (i) the obligation (obligation A) provides for the funding or provision of an 
infrastructure project or type of infrastructure; and (ii) five or more separate 
planning obligations that: (a) relate to planning permissions granted for 
development within the area of the charging authority; and (b) which provide for the 
funding or provision of that project, or type of infrastructure, have been entered into 
before the date that obligation A was entered into.

Affordable Housing 

8.3 The Borough Council’s position on affordable housing, as set out in Policy CS16 
(LPCS) is that affordable housing will be required at a provision of 30% on sites in the 
urban area proposing 15 or more dwellings.  Policy CS16 (LPCS) seeks a broad mix 
of 70% rented and 30% shared ownership (negotiable), although the tenure mix 
should meet local needs and achieve a socially inclusive development.

8.4 Notwithstanding Policy CS16 (LPCS) requirements for affordable housing this policy 
and the core strategy is silent on BTR. As such BTR affordable housing requirements 
will be in accordance with information/guidance within the NPPF (2019) Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG).

8.5 With this application the proposal (BTR) which is defined in paragraphs 1.5 to 1.7 of item 
5d.

8.6 With regard to affordable housing the agent has confirmed they will provide the required 
20% of the proposed apartments as affordable (private rented) housing, meeting the 
criteria set out in paragraph 002 (Build to Rent) of the PPG. paragraph 002 states that if 
local authorities wish to set a different proportion of affordable housing they should justify 
this using the evidence emerging from their local housing need assessment, and set the 
policy out in their local plan. 

8.7 Policy CS16 (LPCS) is silent on BTR. In the absence of any evidence based local 
Policy, the nationally recommended minimum 20% level of affordable housing is 

Page 114



deemed to be the appropriate level. For this development 20% affordable housing 
equates to 48 units.

8.8 In order to be appropriately ‘affordable’ (as defined by the Government) the minimum 
rent discount for the 48 units will need to be 20% below private rent relative to local 
market rents. The PPG states that the discount should be calculated when a 
discounted home is rented out, or when the tenancy is renewed. Furthermore the rent 
on the discounted homes should increase on the same basis as rent increase for the 
market tenancies within the development.

8.9 A further requirement of the PPG is how the affordable private rent properties are 
marketed and managed. The PPG states that the affordable private rent should be 
under common management control, along with the market rent BTR homes. The 
affordable homes should be distributed throughout the development and physically 
indistinguishable from the market rent homes in terms of quality and size. As such 
BTR will not need the separate involvement of a registered landlord. Combining the 2 
tenures this way improves viability and any alternation of units between affordable 
private rent and market rent over time is made easier.

8.10 The agent has confirmed that the entire development will be managed by one 
Management Company and the following would be included within the development 
and would be secured by within the S.106 agreement.
 The property manager shall be a member of a recognised ombudsman scheme. 
 Each apartment shall be let separately, as self-contained C3 for private residential 

use. 
 Each tenancy agreement shall be offered at a minimum of three years but may be 

shorter if the tenant does not require a period of this length. Where refurbishment 
works are planned and a committed date is set out, shorter tenancies may be 
offered within 3 years leading up to the refurbishment works. 

 A complaints procedure will be put in place for residents. 
 There will be on-site management, including measures in place for prompt 

resolution of issues and some daily on-site presence, as a minimum. 
 As set out in paragraph 008 of the PPG a claw back arrangement would be 

included that if any homes within the BTR scheme are disposed of including the 
withdrawal of affordable private rent homes at any time, or conversion of private 
market rent homes to another tenure before the end of a covenant period.

8.11 To assist Members the agent has provided the following information on affordability to 
demonstrate how affordability on the 20% discount mark rent would work using 
Shelter definition (https://blog.shelter.org.uk/2015/08/what-is-affordable-housing/)  for 
affordable Housing

Affordable Private Rent (or Discount Market Rent) is provided at least 20% below local 
market rents (including service charges where applicable).

The proposed development will therefore provide 20% of residential units as Discount 
Market Rent, with these units offered at 20% below local market rents (including service 
charges where applicable in accordance with the NPPF. 

With regards to the ‘affordability’ of the proposed Discount Market Rent units for future 
residents, Shelter define ‘affordable’ as where residents can pay rent without being 
forced to cut back on the essentials or falling into debt.  Shelter therefore suggest that a 
maximum of 35% of Net Income should be spent on rent if a home is to be ‘affordable’ 
(https://blog.shelter.org.uk/2015/08/what-is-affordable-housing/).   

Page 115

https://blog.shelter.org.uk/2015/08/what-is-affordable-housing
https://blog.shelter.org.uk/2015/08/what-is-affordable-housing


The following table therefore seeks to quantify the ‘affordability’ of the Discount Market 
Rent units against average net incomes within the borough. 

For the purpose of the 2 Bed (Three Person), 2 Bed (Four Person) and 3 Bed (6 Person) 
Discount Market Rent units, it is assumed that these will have (at least) dual incomes.

On this basis, all proposed Discount Market Rent units will meet Shelter’s definition of 
‘affordable’ (highlighted in green).

It should also be noted that the larger units will meet Shelter’s definition of ‘affordable’ for 
households with dual incomes even before a 20% discount being applied – 
demonstrating the inherent ‘affordability’ of the proposed Discount Market Rent units.

8.12 Gravesham Housing Strategy Manager has reviewed the above statement and agrees 
with the figures.

8.13 The proposal complies with the requirements for affordable housing and will be 
secured via the S.106 agreement.

Developer Contributions 

8.14 It is important to ensure that sufficient infrastructure is provided to meet the needs of 
new residents, employees and businesses in the Borough.  As recognised in the 
NPPF (2019), the provision of new infrastructure is an important part of new 
development and the Council has worked with local service providers to identify their 
infrastructure needs over the plan period.  Policy CS10 (LPCS) states that where new 
development generates a need for new infrastructure, developers will have to provide 
or contribute towards such provision, subject to viability consideration.

8.15 KCC have requested the following contributions:

Page 116



8.16 In support of the requests specific projects have been requested for Secondary 
Education, Community Learning, Youth Services and Libraries that are related to the 
impact of the development.

8.17 The request towards the monitoring of a travel plan is deemed acceptable as this 
application is accompanied with a travel plan and the request by KCC cover the 
monitoring of this travel plan is deemed acceptable.

Page 117



8.18 The final highways request relates to car park signage (see 5.187 and 5.262 of item 
5d) will be required that prior to the MSCP being first used by the public. 

8.19 It is considered that the above KCC planning obligations meet the statutory tests of 
paragraph 56 of the NPPF (2019).

8.20 The request from KCC towards Social Care is a figure of £35,542.54. The money is 
shown to be invested in the following and no specific site is mentioned.

8.21 KCC are requesting £53,706.64 towards Household Waste Recycling Centres 
(HWRC) within the Ebbsfleet area and they state the following:

8.22 With regard the Waste request Policy CS06 (LPCS) states ‘facilities will be provided to 
support development of the Springhead Quarter and Northfleet Rise Quarter Key 
Sites and will be accessible to both existing and future communities. These will 
include the provision of educational, health, social care, sports and community 
facilities, open space to meet a variety of needs and recycling and waste transfer 
facilities. These will be provided in accordance with the phasing schedule set out in 
the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule’.

8.23 The request towards Fastrack improvements to the proposed Barrack Road bus 
interchange is not accompanied by any supporting information. The request for bus 
travel and cycle purchase is vague as it states ‘contribution to residents bus travel 
(season ticket?) and/or cycle purchase’. This scheme provides sufficient secure bike 
storage and future residents are within walking distance of all amenities and there is 
sufficient fastrack links from Gravesend to Ebblsfleet station and Bluewater. 

8.24 In summary no site specific schemes and combined with a lack of supporting 
information the KCC financial requests for Waste, Social Care, fastrack improvements 
and the season ticket/ cycle purchase. As such these requests do not meet the 
requirements of paragraph 56 of the NPPF (2019) and cannot be lawfully requested.

Dartford and Swanley Commissioning Group (NHS)

Page 118



8.25 Dartford and Swanley Commissioning Group (NHS) conclude that this development 
will result in around 431 new patients which will have an impact on surgeries within 
the town centre.  To offset this impact the NHS are requesting £155,232 towards the 
expansion or reconfiguration of Gravesend Medical Centre or Springhead Health 
(Fleet Campus). This requested is deemed to meet the relevant tests. The LPA would 
collect the money on behalf of the NHS and when the exact details of these two 
schemes are presented the money would be released.

8.26 Gravesham Regulatory Services are requesting £10,400 towards air quality 
monitoring and the figures of £10,400 is derived from the following:

‘the provision of passive air quality monitoring in the locality of the development, the 
operation of the air quality station at Painters Ash which is used for the verification of 
the diffusion tube data used in LAQM and in the planning process.as well as the 
review and assessment of that data and the implementation of the measures in the 
Final Action Plan – made up as follows:

£2400 towards the diffusion tube monitoring of five local sites to the development, some 
or all of which may be existing, for a period of five years commencing as soon as 
possible £4000 contribution towards the operation of the council’s roadside analysers 
and£4000 contribution towards the implementation of the measures in the council’s 
action plan 

8.27 This request is directly related to the development and meets the required tests. 

Gravesham

8.28 Gravesham Leisure Services are requesting £285,268 towards open space and 
leisure by stating the following:

Based on all the assessment data currently available including, the Open Space, Sport & 
Recreation Assessment compiled by Knight Kavanagh & Page in 2016; there is particular 
shortage in the provision of 3G artificial pitches, junior/youth grass pitches and ancillary 
buildings, swimming pool lanes and an overall ageing leisure centre facility stock at 
Cygnet and Cascades Leisure Centres (of which a feasibility study will be commissioned 
in the near future looking at refurbishment and new build options). There is also the need 
for major capital improvements to play equipment across the borough, of which the 
number of total sites available within the borough is remarkably less when compared to 
other areas. A planned approach for future investment has been developed by 
Operational Services across a number of specific sites. Areas close to this particular 
development site include the Riverside Leisure area, which is anticipated to require 
further investment in the next 3-5 years.

8.29 With this scheme the nearest open spaces St. Andrews Gardens and the Riverside 
Leisure Area. Whilst the request is directly related to the development by providing 
enhanced off site amenity space the money will be released when the exact details of 
the projects are provided. 

Management Scheme

Page 119



8.30 The S.106 will also include details of the management scheme for the entire 
development including all communal areas (internal and external) and the long term 
management of the car park.  

Highway Improvements

8.31 The highway improvements will relate to the full costs of Highway Works including and 
traffic orders. 

8.32 Below is the list of contributions being sought for this development and the trigger 
points will be agreed with the applicant during the S.106 negotiations.

8.33 The applicant has agreed to all the requests and these are summarised in the below 
Heads of Terms. 

Obligation Sum

KCC Secondary Education £158,900

KCC Community Learning £3,973.64

KCC Libraries £13,418.90

Travel Plan £948

Dartford and Swanley 
Commissioning Group  

£155,232.00

Gravesham Leisure 
Services

£285,268.00

Financial contribution 
towards SAMMS

£60594.38

Affordable Housing 48 Apartments 

Air Quality Monitoring £10,400.00

Management Scheme N/A

Highway Improvements N/A

Car Park Signage N/A

Total Figure: £688,734.92

9. Conclusion 

9.1 The proposal is deemed to be a sustainable form of development that accords with 
national and local planning policy. The agent has confirmed they will provide the 
required 20% on site affordable housing and all the S.106 contributions which meet 
the relevant tests set out within the NPPF (2019).

Page 120



9.2 All representations received from both 3rd parties and consutlees and have been 
taken into account when considering this proposal and no further amendments to 
this proposal are required.

9.3 Permission is recommended subject to the S.106 being signed appropriate planning 
conditions being included.

Recommendation

It is recommended that the application is DELEGATED to the Service Manager 
(Development Management) in consultation with the Chair, for the issue of planning 
PERMISSION subject planning conditions, the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement.

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

4TH FLOOR, CANNON BRIDGE HOUSE, 25 DOWGATE HILL, LONDON EC4R 2YA 

Telephone 020 7973 3700 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

 

 
 

Richard Hart          Direct Dial: 02079733637 
Gravesham Borough Council    
Civic centre 
Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU     
Gravesend Our ref: BL41   
DA12  1AU      
     
 20 May 2020 
 
Dear Mr Hart  
 
T&CP (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
& Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Regulations 1990  
 
Land At Market Square And Horn Yard Car Parks New Swan Yard Gravesend DA12 
2EN 
Application No. 20200343 
 
Thank you for your letter of 20 April 2020 regarding the above application for planning 
permission. On the basis of the information available to date, we offer the following 
advice to assist your authority in determining the application.  
 
Historic England Advice 

Gravesend flourished as a medieval settlement because of its role as a port at a 
strategic location on the River Thames.  The High Street is the core of Gravesend’s 
historic town and was laid out on a north/south alignment terminating at the river 
landing.  As the town developed other major streets were also laid out on a north/south 
alignment including Queen Street with small alleys and lanes connecting back to the 
High Street.  A hierarchy of streets with a grid like layout are therefore important 
characteristics of the historic town and the character and appearance of the 
conservation areas.  Historic mapping shows that development between the main 
streets was focussed around a series of small yards and open spaces suggesting 
some commercial activity and probably low scale development.  While the historic 
townscape on the High Street and Queen Street remains intact (and is protected 
through conservation area designations) the backlands development which once 
existed on the site for the eastern heritage quarter development has now been 
replaced by surface car parking. 

This proposal is a revised scheme for the eastern half of a major development in 
Gravesend known as the Heritage Quarter. It is proposed to construct three blocks of 
3 to 10 storeys comprising of 242 residential units as well as car park, landscaping and 
associated works on either side of Bank Street. The site lies within the immediate 
setting of two conservation areas, the High Street, Queen Street Conservation Area 
and the Gravesend Riverside Conservation Area, both of which also contain listed 
buildings.   

Page 123



 
 

 

 

 

4TH FLOOR, CANNON BRIDGE HOUSE, 25 DOWGATE HILL, LONDON EC4R 2YA 

Telephone 020 7973 3700 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

 

 
 

We provided pre-application advice on this proposal in January 2019 in which we 
supported the principle of re-developing the site as it has the potential to contribute 
positively to the Gravesham’s regeneration objectives by bringing increased activity to 
the northern end of the High Street.  Development here also has the potential to reveal 
and reinforce our understanding of the historic layout and character of the historic town 
by improving permeability to the High Street and by contributing positively to the 
townscape as a whole with a high quality development. 

We do not have concerns regarding the development north of Bank Street, which we 
think is sympathetic to the adjacent conservation areas and listed buildings. The 
design is varied and dynamic, with interesting rooflines and elevations which draw on 
historic wharfs for inspiration.  

We have some small concerns regarding the southern block that could be addressed 
through changes to the design in order to meet the criteria of NPPF paragraphs 127 
(c) and (d) which note that decisions should ensure that developments are 
“sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment 
and landscape setting’ and that they should be ‘attractive, welcoming and distinctive 
places’. These tie into paragraph 192 (c) which notes the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.  

We acknowledge that the block south of Bank Street is an improvement on the 
proposal seen at pre-application stage in terms of its massing, and the inclusion of 
double pitched roofs in the central bays are positive. However, it remains not as lively 
as the proposed block north of Bank Street, and creates a rather monotonous 
elevation on the approach to the High Street and Queen Street conservation area. The 
elevation of the block facing Bank Street, bar the central bays with double pitched 
roofs, does little to create a sense of rhythm such as that which enlivens the elevation 
on the northern side. For example, the rigid pattern of projecting balconies is quite 
relentless. Providing interspersed projecting and recessing balconies could be a way 
of breaking this up and providing more interest in this elevation.    

These changes would provide a more welcoming approach to the conservation area 
and core of Gravesend. We also think that the success of the overall scheme will 
largely rest in the quality of materials and detailed design. We suggest that a condition 
be included that detailed plans at a suitable scale and sample panels are submitted to 
the local authority prior to construction. If these small changes are undertaken, we do 
not think that the development would cause harm the historic environment and 
therefore paragraphs 190 to 196 of the NPPF would not apply.  

However if your Council concludes that there is some harm then the criteria set out in 
paragraphs 190 to 196 would need to be fulfilled. Your Council would need to consider 
if the proposal has avoided or minimised harm to avoid conflict between the 
conservation of heritage assets and any aspect of a proposal (Paragraph 190) and if 
so whether any unavoidable harm has clear and convincing justification (Paragraph 
194). Your Council would also need to weigh the harm against the public benefits of 

Page 124



 
 

 

 

 

4TH FLOOR, CANNON BRIDGE HOUSE, 25 DOWGATE HILL, LONDON EC4R 2YA 

Telephone 020 7973 3700 
HistoricEngland.org.uk 

 

 

 

 
 

the proposal in the manner described in Paragraph 196. 

Recommendation 
Historic England has some minor concerns regarding the application on heritage 
grounds. 
 
We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be 
addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 127 (c) 
and (d) and 192 (c) of the NPPF. 
 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 
66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have 
special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess. As well as 
section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to 
pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of conservation areas. 
 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the 
application. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you would like 
further advice, please contact us. Please advise us of the decision in due course. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 

 
Isabelle Ryan  
Assistant Inspector of Historic Buildings and Areas  
E-mail: Isabelle.ryan@historicengland.org.uk 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council – Decisions taken by the Planning Committee on Wednesday, 22 July 2020

Agenda 
Item No

Topic Decision

Set out below is a summary of the decisions taken at the meeting of Planning Committee on Wednesday, 22 July 2020.
The wording used does not necessarily reflect the actual wording that will appear in the minutes. Please note that the conditions and grounds will
be detailed in the decision notice issued by the Planning Department.

5a. 20190504 - Former Gravesend & 
North Kent Hospital (M Block), Bath 
Street, Gravesend, DA11 0DG - 
report herewith

Resolved that application 20190504 be DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Development 
Management) in consultation with the Chair of the Planning Committee, for the issue of 
planning PERMISSION subject to the conditions outlined in the report, and the completion of a 
Section 106 Legal Agreement.

5b. 20200001 - Fleet Leisure, Nelson 
Road, Northfleet DA11 7EE

Resolved that application 20200001 be PERMITTED subject to conditions as set out in the 
officer’s report with amendments as discussed by the Committee relating to noise limits, hours 
of use, code of conduct and green credentials. 

5c. 20200478 - 100C Wrotham Road, 
Gravesend DA11 0GH

Resolved that application 20200478 be REFUSED.

5d. 20200343 - The Charter, Land at 
Market Square and Horn Yard Car 
Parks, New Swan Yard, Gravesend 
DA12 2EN - report herewith

Resolved that application 20200343 be DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Development 
Management) in consultation with the Chair of the Planning Committee, for the issue of 
planning permission subject to planning conditions as set out in the report and the completion 
of a Section 106 Legal Agreement.

5e. 20191122  - Clifton Slipways, West 
Street, Gravesend DA11 OBW - 
report herewith

Resolved that application 20191122 be DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Development 
Management) in consultation with the Chair of the Planning Committee, for the issue of 
planning permission subject to planning conditions and informatives and the completion of a 
Section 106 Legal Agreement.

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 22 July 2020 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Elizabeth Mulheran
Steve Thompson
Emma Elliott
Frank Wardle

Note: Councillors: John Burden, Baljit Hayre, Shane Mochrie-Cox and Jenny Wallace 
were also in attendance

Vicky Nutley Deputy Head of Legal Services (Place)(Medway Council)
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Myles Joyce Service Manager (Development Management)
Richard Hart Principal Planner (Major Sites)
Peter Price Principal Planner
Faye Hobbs Senior Planner
Dave Herrington Digital Officer
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

8. Apologies for absence 

An apology absence was received from Cllr Jordan Meade and Cllr Frank Wardle attended 
as his substitute. An apology for absence was received from Cllr Tony Rice and Cllr Emma 
Elliott attended as his substitute.

9. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 17 June 2020 were signed 
by the Chair.

10. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Conrad Broadley made a voluntary announcement of an other interest in respect of his 
interest in nautical matters in that he owned several types of boats and was the Chairman of 
Dartford and Crayford Creek Restoration Trust, Chairman of Broadness Cruising Club, 
Secretary, Director of Northfleet Harbour Restoration Trust and a member of Gravesend 
Sailing Club. 

Page 129



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

2

11. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

11.1 20190504 - Former Gravesend & North Kent Hospital (M Block), Bath 
Street, Gravesend, DA11 0DG - report herewith 

Further to the meeting of the Committee on 17 June 2020, the Board considered an 
application reference 20190504 which proposed the conversion of the existing building with 
an 11 storey side extension and a single storey roof extension, the construction of a new 
residential building ranging from 3 to 6 storeys to provide 115 residential units consisting of 
47 one bed units, 59 two bed units and 9 three bed units, together with associated parking 
for 69 cars, 6 motorcycles and 212 cycles, amenity space, private gymnasium and waste 
and a B1, D1 and D2 flexi use space.

The Senior Planner gave a brief recap of the proposal confirming the description had not 
changed since the last meeting of the Committee. The application had been deferred to 
enable negotiations with the applicant and/or applicant’s agent to address the Committee’s 
concerns with regard to the following subjects:

 Green initiatives – The Sustainability Report had been expanded to take account of 
comments made at the last meeting.

 Noise – The Committee was advised that a noise assessment had been carried out 
in 2019 and the noise as a result of the proposal had not been found to be excessive. 
Attention was drawn to Condition 17 which required a post completion report to be 
submitted, prior to occupation of the units, to ensure that the noise levels were not 
exceeded within the development. 

 Affordable Housing provision – The proposal provided 16 units and it had not been 
possible to increase this number. It was confirmed that to date, there had not been 
any successful discussions with affordable housing providers and ongoing 
discussions were continuing with other registered providers. Should a registered 
affordable housing provider not be secured, a commuted sum included in the Section 
106 Agreement had been agreed as an alternative. 

 Overlooking – The degree of overlooking was considered to be appropriate for a 
town centre development and the design of the building had been staggered to 
ameliorate this issue.

 Heritage and Archaeology – At the last meeting of the Committee a request had been 
made for a contribution to the heritage of the town centre, with a specific suggestion 
of restoring the hand on the statue of Queen Victoria. Members were advised that it 
was not considered that this suggestion could be taken forward as it did not meet the 
tests outlined in the report. In relation to archaeology, the officer advised that the site 
had the potential for remains all of which would be protected by conditions.

 Parking – the comments raised by Design: South East in September 2019 has 
already been addressed with all car parking spaces fully accessible with sufficient 
turning areas. The parking provision is satisfactory given the sustainable location of 
the site. 

In conclusion, the officer stated that the application was policy compliant and moved the 
recommendation as set out in the report.

Page 130



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

3

The Committee heard the views of the public speaker in support of this application who 
answered questions from Members.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Members were informed that although there were covenants on the site of the current 
Gravesend and North Kent Hospital, there were no restrictive covenants on the site 
which were rendered ineffective on transfer of the site to the NHS in or around 1948.

 Reassurances were requested on the ‘watching brief’ in relation to archaeology on 
the site and the Committee was advised that the site was considered to contain 
nothing unusual for a site of this type and Kent County Council had confirmed that 
the approach being taken was correct.

 Concern was raised on the design of the noise mitigating façade and it was noted 
that this would be controlled by condition in consultation with the Chair.

 Approval was voiced on the relocation of the balconies.
 Disappointment was expressed over the inability to increase the number of units of 

Affordable Housing and the applicant was asked to continue to pursue other 
registered providers. It was noted that it was not within the gift of the Committee to 
choose where the units were located within the development. 

 A request was made that the commuted money for the Affordable Housing be used 
for projects within a 2km radius of the town centre. It was agreed that this would be 
considered in relation to the S106 Agreement.

 It was suggested that the practicality of the siting of the proposed Toucan Crossing 
should be assured by consultation with KCC Highways.

 It was noted that it would be useful to have a Town Plan when considering major 
development proposals. However, it was also noted that the Committee must 
consider each planning application on its own merits.

Resolved that application 20190504 be DELEGATED to the Service Manager 
(Development Management) in consultation with the Chair of the Planning 
Committee, for the issue of planning PERMISSION subject to the conditions 
outlined in the report, and the completion of a Section 106 Legal Agreement.

Note: Mr Dalian Gill (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.

11.2 20200001 - Fleet Leisure, Nelson Road, Northfleet DA11 7EE 

The Committee considered an application reference 20200001 in relation to a new sports 
facility comprising mixed sized football pitches, including artificial playing pitches, a new 
clubhouse, play area and associated parking and lighting.

The Principal Planner introduced the application which had been submitted by EUFC Elite 
Ltd. The site was owned by the Borough Council and had been used for sporting activities 
since 1942. The site was enclosed and originally had grass pitches and a bowls green which 
had later partially been replaced with artificial pitches. A fire in 2017 had burned down the 
clubhouse and the site had closed. The Committee was shown various photos and diagrams 
demonstrating the proposed layout of the sports facilities, the clubhouse, the parking area 
and a boundary treatments including the continuous 2m high acoustic wall, tree and hedge 
planting etc. it was noted that the play space would be open for public use. The officer 
advised of public consultations that had been carried out and the main wish of the 
responders showed support for the retention of the sports ground together with some 

Page 131



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

4

concern about the possible noise levels from events at the clubhouse and from football 
games.

The proposals had been designed to reinforce the sporting uses which accorded with 
policies CS12 and CS13 and also conformed to the Council’s Corporate Objectives. The 
proposals had also attracted the support of Sport England following the alterations in the 
application to include community use which were also supported by the Council’s Leisure 
Manager. No highways objections had been received in relation to possible traffic or parking 
issues. The removal of a number of trees was needed as some specimens had been heavily 
pollarded, some were unhealthy and a few would need to be removed to permit the 
proposed layout and these would be replaced with other appropriate species. The officer 
confirmed that reptiles had not been found on the site.

In conclusion, the officer stated that the application was policy compliant and moved the 
recommendation as set out in the report.

The application had been referred for consideration as a major development at the request 
of Cllr. Lauren Sullivan – Chair of the Committee.

The Committee heard the views of the public speakers in support of and against this 
application who answered questions from Members.

The Committee heard the views of the Ward Member, Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Following a request that the green agenda be considered and to include such 
measures as rain water harvesting, the use of solar panels on the roof of the 
clubhouse and the installation of cables for the charging of electric vehicles. The 
officer advised that condition 24 in the recommendation required the incorporation of 
sustainable measured in the development in accordance with the applicant’s Energy 
and Sustainability Statement although they were objectives at this stage and the 
condition could be amended to be more specific. It was noted that electric vehicle 
cabling was already a requirement of condition 35 of the recommendation.

 Following a comment about the replacement of trees that would need to be  felled 
and the possible use as a sound barrier for neighbours, the officer confirmed that the 
trees would be replaced like for like in relation to the numbers felled. However, some 
species such Cypress would be replaced with the more appropriate types of trees. 
Hedge planting would also take place near one of the artificial pitches, the boundary 
of which was close to new bungalows, as an acoustic and a privacy measure.

 An issue was raised with regard to the decibel limit during events inside the 
clubhouse being limited to 85 decibels via the use of the noise limiter. Following a 
question on the efficiency of noise limiting equipment, the officer reported that 
detailed advice had been supplied by the Council’s Environmental Services. In 
relation to the decibel level experienced by nearby residences, it was noted that 
football had been played on the site since 1942 and good management should help 
the operators ensure that residents were not subjected to bad language and 
invasions of privacy by spectators together with the possible introduction of a proper 
code of conduct. It was requested that this include homophobia and transphobia.  
Members were also reminded that the Borough Council was the owner of the site. 
Following a comment from a Member about the need to consider the noise nuisance 

Page 132



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

5

to nearby residences from events in the clubhouse, the officer undertook to check the 
terms of the appropriate condition.

 It was confirmed that all facilities could be used be all age groups from school age, 
youths and adults. There would be a gymnasium in the clubhouse as well as other 
rooms on the ground floor for community activities. Walking Football, football for girls 
and women and a subsidised scheme for people with disabilities such as Down 
Syndrome and Cerebral Palsy would be available. Members noted that it was 
essential that the site was not run as a private members club.

 A concern was highlighted on the proposed costs of using the pitches which would 
prohibitive for the local community. The Principal Planner pointed out that community 
use had been included in the conditions and the Council as the landowner would 
have a say in how the facility was operated. However, it was noted that this was not a 
planning issue.

 A question was raised on whether the opening times of the pitches could be changed 
from the proposed 9am to 9.30pm weekdays and 9am to 8pm at weekends to 9am to 
8am weekdays and 9am to 9.30am at weekends for the benefit of residents with 
young families. Members noted that the applicant’s business plan and viability should 
be taken into account and that the busiest times for pitch use was post school time.

 The Committee was informed that the floodlights would be modern LED lighting and 
would be designed to prevent light spillage, glare and light pollution. The whole site 
had been innovatively designed and would have football education and a health hub 
with food available at reasonable prices. The site was also engineered as far as 
possible for use by people with disabilities and this approach would be checked with 
Sport England.

 A request was made that the clubhouse be built within the recommended timeframe.

Following conclusion of the debate on this application, the Principal Planner summarised 
amendments to conditions as follows: 

Condition 15 – Reduction in the hours of use of the artificial grass pitches with usage 
ceasing at 9.30pm on weekdays and Saturdays.

Condition 24 – The addition of a specific requirement for solar panels and a rainwater 
harvesting and recycling system..

Condition 29 – Noise condition to be amended in respect of the decibel limit from the point of 
view of neighbouring properties.

Condition 17 – Community use agreement that should include a code of conduct applicable 
to all users of the facilities and visitors to the site.

Resolved that application 20200001 be PERMITTED subject to conditions as set 
out in the officer’s report with amendments as discussed by the Committee 
relating to noise limits, hours of use, code of conduct and green credentials. 

Note: (a) Nathan Bullas (a supporter) addressed the Committee
(b) Ruth Pordage (an objector) addressed the Committee
(c) Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox spoke with the leave of the Chair.

Page 133



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

6

11.3 20200478 - 100C Wrotham Road, Gravesend DA11 0GH 

The Committee considered an application reference 20200478 at 100C Wrotham Road, 
Gravesend DA11 0QH for the continued use of the two outbuildings in the rear garden as 
two separate residential dwellings along with minor alternations to the existing buildings and 
garage.

The Service Manager (Development Management) reported that the two outbuildings had 
been continuous residential use and had undergone minor alternations with access being via 
the garage.  Members were shown the site plan and the ad hoc relationship of the 
application site with surrounding residences. The officer confirmed that there was an 
Enforcement Notice on the site in relation to the unauthorised change of use of the two 
outbuildings for residential use. The Enforcement Notice was not under appeal for planning 
merits of the case however. The planning history had highlighted refusals for continued use. 
The Council’s Private Sector Housing Service had expressed concern in relation to the 
access which was the only means of escape in the event of a fire, the internal arrangements 
of the proposed dwelling and the parking arrangements. The officer noted that whilst the 2 
one bed units had a good floor area, the minor contribution to housing numbers was 
outweigh by the poor design and the lack of integration with the local area.  

In conclusion, the officer stated that the application was contrary to Policy CS12 and moved 
the recommendation as set out in the report.

The application had been referred for consideration at the request of Cllr Jenny Wallace.

The Committee heard the views of the public speakers in support of and against this 
application who answered questions from Members.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Members noted that the garage had been split to provide separate entrances to the 
two units.

 A member of the Committee advised that he had received an email from the 
applicant’s agent and had read it out of courtesy but had not predetermined the 
application. 

 Following a question from a Member, it was confirmed that over 50% of the landlord’s 
portfolio was for this business model and the landlord was now seeking to regularise 
the site.

 It was confirmed that the internal space available in the two units complied with the 
space standards of the Government and the Borough Council.

 Further concern was raised in relation to escape in the event of a fire. However, the 
applicant’s agent confirmed that Unit 1 had a protected hallway and it would be 
simple of make a small amendment to the layout.

 The Committee was advised that numerous complaints had been received with 
regard to this site since 2012 and had included parking problems, noise nuisance, 
rubbish etc. 

 It was noted that the parking of vehicle by occupiers of the units had blocked the 
access of emergency vehicles.

Resolved that application 20200478 be REFUSED.

Page 134



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

7

Note: (a) Mr Dalian Gill (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(b) Ms Sarah Handley (an objector) addressed the Committee.
(c) Cllr Jenny Wallace spoke with the leave of the Chair.

(The Committee took a break at 21:00hrs and reconvened at 21:10hrs.)

11.4 20200343 - The Charter, Land at Market Square and Horn Yard Car 
Parks, New Swan Yard, Gravesend DA12 2EN 

The Committee considered application reference 20200343 for land at Market Square and 
Horn Yard car parks, New Swan Yard, Gravesend for the erection of 242 residential units for 
Build to Rent (C3 Use Class), with three blocks ranging from three to ten storeys, together 
with a multi-storey car park as well as access, pedestrian landscaping, highways and other 
associated works.

The Principal Planner (Major Sites) advised that the Market Square and Horn Yard car parks 
had been built in the 1980s and he described the layout of the roads adjacent to the site 
together with the location of the nearby public gardens. The Committee was reminded that 
the principal of development had already been accepted as set out in paragraphs 5.8 to 5.11 
of the main report. This stated planning permission 20120931 had been lawfully 
implemented. Notwithstanding this, the site was allocated as a key development site under 
policy CS05 (LPCS) with the site being allocated for development. The site was in the 
company of a number of high profile schemes in the town centre area including the M Block 
and Clifton Slipways. The proposed scheme had been the subject of extensive pre-
application discussions and the proposal had not resulted in an objection from Historic 
England.  

The Committee was shown various CGI Images of the proposed development including the 
new pedestrian link to Crooked Lane from New Swan Yard. Concern had been highlighted 
about the loss of views of the River Thames but the officer noted that these views had only 
become available with the construction of the open air car parks in the late 1980’s  The 
development had been designed to fit in with the urban streetscape and St Andrew’s 
Gardens. Paragraphs 8.1 to 8.33 of the report detailed the mitigations and developer 
contributions and advised that some subjects do not meet the test for example, social 
services.

In conclusion, the officer stated that the application was policy compliant and moved the 
recommendation as set out in the report.

The application had been referred for consideration as a major development proposal.

The Committee heard the views of the public speakers in support of and against this 
application who answered questions from Members.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Following a question in relation to the St George’s Centre, Members were reminded 
that the Committee should only consider the application that was before them.

 A question was asked about the possible consideration of the applicants about the 
town’s links with the River Thames. The Committee was advised that the applicant 
recognised that the river was a key attribute of the town and it was hoped that the 

Page 135



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

8

development would increase activity in relation to the river in this area of the town 
and he undertook to consider this matter.

 A concern was highlighted in t the initial pre-application plans had included long dark 
corridors which were likened to those at large hotels. It was noted that a great deal of 
work had been done on the internal layout which had been provided with windows 
and natural light. The four cores had been split in half which allowed for alternative 
means of access and egress.

 The officer showed a drawing of the western elevation which demonstrated that the 
line of the proposed scheme was lower than the implemented scheme in certain 
sections. In relation to the overlooking issue a condition would be included that any 
secondary windows on E02 fronting the residential buildings on Bank Street would be 
conditioned to be obscure glazed and fixed shut. Members were also advised that 
the external finish to the building would be conditioned including the external finish to 
the balconies 

 Following a request from the Chair with regard to privacy and final design details, the 
officer agreed that appropriate surrounding properties would be consulted on 
discharge of condition applications such as those relating to the external finish of the 
development.

 With regard to the perceived issues in relation to the car park, Members were 
advised that a management plan would be in place and this would include details of 
how the car park would be secured both day and night.

 It was noted that the area was already heavily built up and the proposed 
development would be in keeping with the historic grain of the area. The concerns 
regarding daylight had been balanced by the advantages bought by the regeneration 
of the area and taking into account the implemented scheme on the site. It was noted 
that this area of the town centre would have previously been densely populated and 
the views had been created by the construction of car parks. However, it was 
considered important to preserve the heritage of the town and the river frontage. 

 The height of the proposed development was commented on in that height could add 
variety and enhance a skyline or a riverside and could guard against a bland outlook. 

 With regard to the S106 Agreement it was requested that arts, culture and the 
performing arts in the town centre be considered.

 A question was raised on the whether the projects funded by the S106 Agreement 
contributions could be conditioned to be located within 2km of the development. The 
Committee was advised that that the report set out the requirements for S106 
Agreement proposed projects to meet relevant tests and that some suggestions did 
not fall within the criteria. For example, some of the requests from Kent County 
Council and the Port of London Authority. With regard to the arts etc, schemes 
directly related to the proposal might be considered and this could be dealt with 
within the recommendation.

 A concern was raised about the ability of facilities such as medical, dental and 
schools to be able to cope with the influx of people caused by this development. The 
Committee was informed that the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group had requested £155k towards the Gravesend Medical Centre 
and the Ebbsfleet Campus. It was intended to hold the monies at the Borough 
Council for release when details of a specific scheme were submitted to the Borough 
Council. 

 It was noted that a Kent County Council Youth Services S106 contribution relevant to 
the site would be requested.

Page 136



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

9

Resolved that application 20200343 be DELEGATED to the Service Manager 
(Development Management) in consultation with the Chair of the Planning 
Committee, for the issue of planning PERMISSION subject to planning 
conditions as set out in the report and the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement.

Note: (a) Mr Pete Langly-Smith (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(b) Mr Cos Constantinou (Architect)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(c) Mr Nick Diment (Planning Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(d) Mr Les Wollends (an objector) addressed the Committee.
(e) Mr Martin McKay (an objector) addressed the Committee.
(f) Mr Daniel Currant (an objector) addressed the Committee.

11.5 20191122  - Clifton Slipways, West Street, Gravesend DA11 OBW 

The Committee considered an application reference 20191122 and noted the revised 
description which included the erection of two buildings to provide a total of 227 dwellings 
with associated vehicle parking, cycle storage, highway works, and landscaping. Building 1 
to comprise the  erection of a 23 storey tower on the north side of West Street to provide 121  
dwellings with one business unit (B1a) comprising 90m² of floor space at ground floor level; 
and Building 2 from four storeys to twelve storeys on the south side of West Street which will 
provide 106 dwellings. The proposal to include the restoration and adaptation of the existing 
pier structure to provide public and private amenity space to include the erection of 16 
business units (B1a) comprising a total of 510 m² of floor space and a cafe (A1/A3) 
comprising up to 60 m² of floor space.

The Principal Planner (Major Sites) introduced the application and went through the key 
points of the revised description. One late objection had been received with regard to the 
overshadowing of a garden and the officer confirmed neither the extant scheme nor the 
current scheme would cause any material harm to that property.  It was noted that the 
principle of development had been accepted and the planning permission granted in 2016 
would be extant until April 2021.  

There were two parcels of land included in this application the first being the Victorian pier 
which had been built in the later part of the 19th century. The pier, which was classed as a 
non-designated heritage asset, had been built to serve the railway terminus which closed in 
the late 1960’s.

The proposed architecture of the extant scheme had been improved upon as it had been 
considered blocky and consultations had been undertaken with the public and other 
stakeholders prior to the application being submitted. The southern end of the site was 
overgrown and the viaduct linking both sites had been demolished in 2006. The external 
finish to the development would be dealt with by condition and neighbours would be 
consulted on the relevant discharge of condition applications. The caste-iron pier would be 
restored and would be carefully managed in relation to the safety of children and the 
avoidance of anti-social behaviour and it was intended that a management plan be 
introduced. The management plan would be secured through the S106 Agreement. 

The building to the south of West Street would have no greater impact on the surrounding 
properties in regard to overshadowing.  Following the submission of a viability report which 
was independently reviewed through negotiations with the applicant, they had agreed £160k 

Page 137



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

10

towards S106 contributions and 22 x one bedroom apartments for Discounted Market Rent. 
This would result in 10% of the scheme being delivered as affordable housing.

In conclusion, the officer stated that the application was broadly policy compliant and moved 
the recommendation as set out in the report.

The application had been referred for consideration as a major development proposal.

The Committee heard the views of the public speakers in support and against this 
application who answered questions from Members.

The Committee heard the views of the Ward Member, Councillor Baljit Hayre.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 The Committee was advised that the applicant was a proven developer who had 
delivered good quality builds across the County. The main obstacle had been the 
refurbishment of the pier which currently had no income stream. The proposed 
design had sought to ensure this income stream to protect the future of the pier.

The Pier

 It was confirmed that TonyGee & Partners was the marine consultant and the 
structural company was Manfire Associates.

 A question was raised on the possibility of the addition of a floating pontoon to the 
pier at a later date. The Committee was advised that the applicant had discussed the 
matter with the Port of London Authority who had been against the inclusion on a 
pontoon. It was noted that the pier had been designed for use by trains and therefore 
the gradient from pier to water level would be too steep for the addition of a pontoon. 
The applicant also had no legal right to provide a pontoon and it would provoke a 
competition issue with the Port of London Authority. 

 The Committee was informed that the top level of the pier had been used for trains 
however the Victorian landing stages on the levels below the pier had been used to 
dock boats. The agent advised that the landing stage had been considered for 
restoration but had found not to be DDA compliant. An informative to look at possible 
future renovation of the lower levels was suggested.

 The Committee was advised that investment in the pier would be significant and had 
impacted the viability of the project. However, its renovation it would have a positive 
impact in relation to the waterfront in the area. 

 There was some concern expressed that the seven page feasibility study on the 
restoration and future viability of the pier was not detailed enough and did not contain 
what was and was not achievable given the financial constraints. The following 
issues and questions were raised in respect of the pier:
-. A question was raised on the foundation of the new properties on the pier and the 

land purchase cost which equated to £3m causing the pier to be considered a 
liability. 

- Reference was made to the Port of London Authority being against a floating 
pontoon being attached to the pier. However, boating on the river and the ability of 
the boats to tie up at the pier, including historic vessels, had not been addressed 
in the report. 

-   It was asked if a Compulsory Purchase Order had been considered with regard to 
the ‘ransom strip’.

Page 138



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

11

-   Concern was expressed that the whole pier was not being utilised i.e. the lower 
levels for boating access. It was explained that the ability to moor at the pier was 
historic with two levels to enable access when the tide was both in and out 
therefore negating the need for a pontoon.

-   There was a very rare brick wharf around the base of the pier and it was felt that 
the viability report should have covered all of these aspects.

 In response to the above questions, Members were reminded that the agent had 
agreed to an informative on the subject of the pier. The applicant as part of the 
planning application, had submitted a viability assessment by Strutt & Parker which 
had been independently reviewed on behalf of the Council by BPS. The 
acknowledged the restoration of the pier  together with the wharf wall and the cost 
associated with it which would seriously affect the viability of the application and the 
potential for Affordable Housing

The Development

 The possibility of a 23 storey tower was considered to be an exciting landmark but a 
good quality finish would be required to ensure longevity. The applicant's architect 
confirmed that he understood the need for the development to look exceptional from 
the start but it would be problematic to keep it looking good in a marine environment 
and brick had been chosen as a high performing robust finish. The agent agreed to 
an additional condition with regard to the external finish of the building and its long 
term management.

 Some concern was expressed that the proposed tower would be out of keeping with 
the character of the properties opposite. Members were advised that the current 
proposal had taken into account concerns such as sunlight, design, the character and 
appearance of the area and the current proposal had taken shape from these 
findings hence the choice of a brick finish and the sloped roof design to reduce bulk.

 A feasibility study was suggested for the addition of another floor that could become 
a destination for visitors to the town. The additional floor could include a viewing 
point, perhaps a lounge bar or a restaurant. The Committee was advised of the 
possible issues with the access for a restaurant and the effect of the plant space in 
the building and therefore it would have to more bar than kitchen. However, the agent 
agreed to undertake a feasibility study in relation to a viewing point and a lounge bar 
as this might impact the design of the sloping roofline.

 In response to disappointment expressed at the application’s lack of social housing, 
the Committee was advised that the pier presented a huge, abnormal cost which 
would be difficult to deliver. A further explanation was given with regard to the viability 
of the scheme and the resulting lack of social housing and therefore a S106 
contribution had been offered. It was also noted that the proposed development 
would provide 20% of residential units as Discount Market Rent, with these units 
offered at 20% below local market rents (including service charges where applicable)  
in accordance with the NPPF.

 A consideration of a S106 contribution for arts and culture projects in Gravesend and 
Northfleet was requested. 

 It was noted that there had been a decline in the area and recent years had seen an 
increase in antisocial behaviour. It was hoped that the proposals might assist with the 
regeneration of the area including the opening of the riverside walk.

 The Ward Councillor requested that there be a robust review of the conditions and a 
strengthening of the Landscape Plan as it was felt that the application lacked green 
credentials.

Page 139



Planning Committee 22.07.2020

12

 The creation of 16 business units on the pier was welcomed. However, it was 
requested that the 20% rent discount be reconsidered starting at 30% to aid start-up 
businesses.

 The benefit of increased engagement with local people was highlighted and it was 
suggested that this could be achieved through consulting the residents of 
surrounding properties on applicable discharge of conditions applications. 

 An opinion was expressed that something needed to be done with the site, the 
landmark building was a good way forward and this was an opportunity to create an 
asset for the area. 

 Following a comment on the successful management of a locality that had riverside 
areas and heritage and landmark buildings, the officer advised that the condition with 
regard of the public realm and heritage strategy could include consultation with 
neighbours.

Resolved that application 20191122 be DELEGATED to the Service Manager 
(Development Management) in consultation with the Chair of the Planning 
Committee, for the issue of planning PERMISSION subject to planning 
conditions and informatives and the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement.

Note: (a) Mr Ben Geering (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Committee.
(b) Mr Alex Richards (Architect)(a supporter) was present and answered 

questions.
(c) Ms Deborah Charles (an objector) addressed the Committee.
(d) Cllr Baljit Hayre spoke with the leave of the Chair.

12. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Planning & Development) 
under delegated powers had been [published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 11.05 pm

Page 140



PEFULZ

Application: 20200343

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE) 

(ENGLAND) ORDER 2015 (AS AMENDED)

NOTIFICATION OF GRANT OF PERMISSION TO DEVELOP LAND

To: Reef Group
C/O Miss Kelly McCann, Knight Frank
55 Baker Street
London
W1U 8AN

TAKE NOTICE that the GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL, the Local Planning Authority under 
the Town and Country Planning Acts, has GRANTED PERMISSION for development of land 
situate at:

Land At Market Square And Horn Yard Car Parks 
New Swan Yard
Gravesend
DA12 2EN

and being Erection of 242no. residential units for Build to Rent (C3 Use Class), within three 
blocks ranging from 3 to 10 storeys, together with multi-storey car park as well as access, 
pedestrian, landscaping, highway and other associated works.  Your application dated 14th 
April 2020 is permitted subject to the following:-

CONDITIONS

Time limit

1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with 
the following schedule of approved plans:

3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-00005 D - Site Location Plan;
3732-LJA-E0-ZZ-DR-A-00006 D - Block Plan;
3732-LJA-E0-B2-DR-A-04000 D - Proposed GA Basement Level 02 Plan;
3732-LJA-E0-B1-DR-A-04001 D - Proposed GA Basement Level 01 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-00-DR-A-04002 D - Proposed GA Level 00 Plan;
3732-LJA-E0-01-DR-A-04003 D - Proposed GA Level 01 Plan;
3732-LJA-E0-02-DR-A-04004 D - Proposed GA Level 02 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-03-DR-A-04005 D - Proposed GA Level 03 Plan; 

Page 141



3732-LJA-E0-04-DR-A-04006 D - Proposed GA Level 04 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-05-DR-A-04007 D - Proposed GA Level 05 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-06-DR-A-04008 D - Proposed GA Level 06 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-07-DR-A-04009 D - Proposed GA Level 07 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-08-DR-A-04010 D - Proposed GA Level 08 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-09-DR-A-04011 D - Proposed GA Level 09 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-10-DR-A-04012 D - Proposed GA Level 10 Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-00-DR-A-04100 D - Proposed E01 Level 00 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-01-DR-A-04101 D - Proposed E01 Level 01 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-02-DR-A-04102 D - Proposed E01 Level 02 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-03-DR-A-04103 D - Proposed E01 Level 03 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-04-DR-A-04104 D - Proposed E01 Level 04 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-05-DR-A-04105 D - Proposed E01 Level 05 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-06-DR-A-04106 D - Proposed E01 Level 06 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-07-DR-A-04107 D - Proposed E01 Level 07 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-08-DR-A-04108 D - Proposed E01 Level 08 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-09-DR-A-04109 D - Proposed E01 Level 09 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E1-10-DR-A-04110 D - Proposed E01 Level 10 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-B2-DR-A-04150 D - Proposed E02&3 Basement Level 02 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-B1-DR-A-04151 D - Proposed E02&3 Basement Level 01 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-00-DR-A-04152 D - Proposed E02&3 Level 00 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-01-DR-A-04153 D - Proposed E02&3 Level 01 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-02-DR-A-04154 D - Proposed E02&3 Level 02 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-03-DR-A-04155 D - Proposed E02&3 Level 03 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-04-DR-A-04156 D - Proposed E02&3 Level 04 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-05-DR-A-04157 D - Proposed E02&3 Level 05 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-06-DR-A-04158 D - Proposed E02&3 Level 06 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-ZZ-07-DR-A-04159 D - Proposed E02&3 Level 07 GA Plan; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05000 D - Proposed North Elevations; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05001 D - Proposed North Elevations; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05002 D - Proposed East Elevations; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05003 D - Proposed South Elevations; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05004 D - Proposed South Elevations; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05005 D - Proposed South East Elevations E02&E03; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05006 D - Proposed West Elevations; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05200 D - E01 Façade Bay Studies 1/3; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05201 D - E01 Façade Bay Studies 2/3; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05202 D - E01 Façade Bay Studies 3/3; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05210 D - E02 Façade Bay Studies 1/2; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05211 D - E02 Façade Bay Studies 2/2; 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05220 D - E03 Façade Bay Studies 1/2; and 
3732-LJA-E0-XX-DR-A-05221 D - E03 Façade Bay Studies 2/2.  

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

Pre-commencement Conditions 

Phasing plan

3 No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until full details of the 
phasing of the development is submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason The Local Planning Authority needs to be satisfied that the development of the site is 
undertaken in a coherent and comprehensive manner and to ensure compliance with 
Policies CS05, CS19 and CS20 of Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Page 142



Code of construction practice

4 No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a 
comprehensive Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts of this 
development is provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local 
Planning Authority in consultation with the Local Highway Authority. The development 
hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Code of 
Construction Practice. For the avoidance of doubt Code of Construction Practice shall 
include, but not exclusively cover the following:

a) Construction Logistics Plan (CLP);
b) Parking of vehicles of site personnel and visitors;
c) Storage of plant and materials;
d) Dust management controls;
e) Location and height of cranes and scaffolding;
f) Measures of minimising the impact of noise and, if appropriate, vibration arising from
construction activities;
g) Predicted noise and, if appropriate, vibration levels for construction using
methodologies and at locations agreed with the Local Planning Authority;
h) Scheme for monitoring noise and if appropriate, vibration levels using methodologies
and at points agreed with the Local Planning Authority;
i) Scheme for location and appearance security fencing/hoardings, depicting a readily
visible 24-hour contact number for queries or emergencies;
j) Details of disposal of waste arising from the construction programme, including final
disposal points (the burning of waste on the site at any time is specifically precluded);
k) Hours of operation; 
l) Smoke management controls;
m) Odour controls;
n) Road cleaning and wheel washing facilities;
o) An aspiration to utilise the River Thames for the transport of construction and waste
materials to and from the site;
p) Any other matters relevant to this particular site; and
q) Temporary car park signage.

Reason To ensure the free flow of traffic on the highway and to minimise the impact on 
residential amenity and in accordance with Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

Archaeology works

5 No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until the applicant, or 
their agents or successors in title shall: 
a. Submit a written scheme of archaeological investigation for approval in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.   The written scheme of archaeological investigation shall 
include the programme, timetable and methodology of any necessary further 
archaeological investigation and recording (including the phasing of any archaeological 
investigations).

 
Prior to the commencement of any development within each phase, the applicant, or 
their agents or successors in title, shall:

 
b. Implement any necessary further archaeological field investigation for the relevant 
phase(s) in accordance with the written scheme of archaeological investigation, or as 
agreed with the local planning authority; and

Page 143



c. Implement any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in situ of important 
archaeological remains and/or further archaeological field investigation and recording in 
accordance with the written scheme of archaeological investigation.

Reason To protect the visual amenities of the building and the surrounding area and to preserve 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area in accordance with Policies 
CS19  and CS20 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014) and Saved 
Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994.

Highway works

6 Prior to the commencement of development a detailed highway scheme (to accord 
substantially with Drawing No.14364-WIE-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-950 Rev P01 and to include 
arrangements for an interim phased scheme if necessary, shall be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Local 
Highway Authority.  For the avoidance of doubt this shall include details of surface 
finishes for roads, footpaths, cycle-ways and car parking areas.  The development shall 
only be completed in accordance with the approved details to be delivered through 
agreement (including timeframe) with the Local Highway Authority.

Reason To ensure adequate highway improvement works are provided in a timely manner to 
ensure no adverse impact to the safe and free flow of traffic on the highway network; to 
ensure that the final external appearance of the public highway is acceptable and built to 
appropriate and recognised safety standards and in accordance Policy CS11 of 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Managing car parks during closure 

7 No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a programme for 
managing the existing and replacement public car parking during the construction phase 
(to include details of the access, signage and circulation), has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works affecting car parking shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved programme.

Reason In order to minimise the impact of the construction phase upon the availability of town 
centre car parking; to minimise the impacts upon existing town centre businesses and 
retailers and in accordance with adopted Policy CS11 Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

Maintaining existing pedestrian and vehicular accesses to and through the site

8 No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until such time that a 
scheme and timetable for maintaining access through the site
(include retaining access for existing servicing arrangements), during the construction 
has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason In order to minimise the impact of the construction phase upon town centre users and in 
accordance with adopted Policy CS11 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Contaminated land strategy

Page 144



9 No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a strategy to 
deal with the potential risks associated with any contamination of the site has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will 
include the following components:

1.  A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
all previous uses; potential contaminants associated with those uses; a conceptual 
model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; and potentially 
unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

2.  A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.

 
3.  The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in 
(2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full 
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

4.  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete 
and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 

The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Reason To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Prior to above ground works

Sustainable surface water drainage

10 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence details for sustainable 
surface water drainage shall be submitted to and approved, in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The detailed drainage scheme submitted shall 

(i) demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-
development will be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to 
and including the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm)

(ii) demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-routes and accumulation 
points will not be altered in such a way that the development places property at risk from 
flooding during any rainfall event, up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 
100yr storm,

(iii) demonstrate that infiltration features are not located on parts of the site where 
contamination might be present 

(iii)  include a timetable for its implementation, and

(iv) include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

Page 145



The surface water drainage scheme shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to first 
residential occupation of the development and thereafter maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal; 
to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, in accordance 
with policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Foul and surface water sewerage disposal 

11 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence details of the proposed 
means of foul and surface water sewerage disposal shall be submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal; 
to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, in accordance 
with policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Air Quality

12 a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence details for an air handling 
system shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.  
The air quality handling system shall then be installed in accordance with the approved 
details. For the avoidance of doubt the installation of the air handling system will ensure 
the indoor air quality of each apartment is good and will enable the windows to be kept 
closed to reduce disturbance from outside noise. The air handling system must bring in 
clean air to each residential apartment so as to create positive pressure to ensure that 
pollution from outside is prevented from entering the unit. The scheme must also include:

 i. An inlet flow greater than the outlet flow to ensure a positive pressure;
ii. heat recovery;
iii. sealed windows on all roadside elevations when required by the ventilation company 
to ensure the air system works as required;
iv. the air supply must come  from a suitable clean source e.g. a rear roof of building etc.  
Care must be taken to locate the inlet such that it ensures that  only clean air is brought 
into the residential units and that excessively hot or cold air  is not brought in; and

  v. sound attenuation such that there is no breakout noise or vibration from the system.

b) Prior to first occupation of the apartments, a suitable post-completion commissioning 
report by a competent ventilation engineer confirming that the approved system has 
been incorporated into the residential apartments and that the systems fulfil the purpose 
(i.e. that it prevents outside air entering the residential apartments) shall be submitted to 
and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt this 
shall include an inspection by an officer of the Local Authority to see the system is in 
place and in suitable working order.

The approved scheme shall be maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the 
development.

Page 146



Reason To ensure a satisfactory environment for future residents in accordance with Policy   
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Noise mitigation scheme

13 a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence, a revised noise impact 
assessment shall be carried out and shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local  Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt the revised noise impact 
assessment shall set out how the detailed design and construction of the development 
which will ensure compliance with the following requirements:
i. The internal ambient noise levels in all habitable rooms of the residential dwellings 
shall not exceed the guideline LAeq values in Table 4 of BS 8233:2014
ii. The maximum internal noise levels in all habitable rooms should not normally exceed 
45dB LAmax more than 10 times per night in accordance with the Professional Practice 
Guidance on Planning & Noise and the WHO Guidelines for Community Noise.
iii. The rating noise from fixed building services/mechanical plant/equipment associated 
with the development shall be at least 10dB below the existing LA90 background level at 
the nearest noise sensitive receptors (i.e. dwellings) when measured and assessed in 
accordance with BS4142:2014

Where compliance with these criteria will rely on closed windows, the development must 
include sufficient and suitable ventilation to affected residential dwellings by means other 
than opening windows to ensure that the internal noise levels required by the above 
conditions can be retained all year round. The revised noise assessment should not be 
limited to noise from traffic and plant, but should also take into account the impact of 
other existing audible noise sources such as music and behavioural noise from, and 
associated with, existing licenced premises (in the areas of Queen Street, High Street & 
Town Pier) during the evening and night-time economy period, Tilbury port operations, 
and early morning delivery noise to nearby commercial uses, as appropriate.

b) Prior to first occupation of the apartments, a suitable post-completion demonstrating 
compliance with (a) shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority

The approved details shall be maintained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason To ensure a satisfactory environment for future residents in accordance with Policy   
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Crime prevention measures 

14 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence, details of such measures, 
according to the principles and physical security requirements of Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design (CPTED) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The approved measures shall be implemented before the 
development is occupied or the multi-storey car park is opened and thereafter retained.

Reason To ensure the development protects the environment of the site and its locality generally, 
in the interest of security, crime prevention and community safety and is in accordance 
with Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

External facing materials

Page 147



15 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence additional details (and 
samples where requested by the Local Planning Authority) of all the external facing 
materials to be used in the construction of the development hereby permitted shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason To protect the visual amenities of the building and the surrounding area and to preserve 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area in accordance with Policies 
CS19  and CS20 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014) and Saved 
Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994.

Section details

16 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence, details of the external 
envelope of each building type in the form of plan and section drawings, at a scale of 
1/20 and showing details of the external walls and openings including windows, doors, 
balconies, eaves, parapets, roof, dormer and rooflights at a scale of 1/2 or full size shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason To protect the visual amenities of the building and the surrounding area and to preserve 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area in accordance with Policies 
CS19  and CS20 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014) and Saved 
Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994.

Prior to occupation

Broadband

17 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used a fibre to 
premises (FTTP) Statement shall have been submitted to and approved by the local 
planning authority in writing for the installation of a high speed wholly FTTP connection to 
the development hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority (where supported by evidence detailing reasonable endeavours to 
secure the provision of FTTP and alternative provisions that been made in the absence 
of FTTP). Thereafter, the infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with the approved 
details and be available for use on the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby 
approved.

Reason To ensure that the new development in Gravesham is provided with high quality 
broadband services enhancing Gravesham as an attractive location in accordance with 
Policy CS19 and CS20 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014.

Verification Report

18 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used a verification 
report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation 
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate 
that the site remediation criteria have been met. 

Reason To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the water 
environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan 

Page 148



have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with paragraph 
170 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments

19 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  For the 
avoidance of doubt the details shall include the following: 
 proposed boundary treatments, 
 delivery /drop off areas;
 hard surface finishes to the vehicle parking areas (including the multi-storey car park, 

pedestrian accesses and amenity areas;
 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other supporting 

structures (including the boundary treatment for the multi-storey car park);
 details of the pedestrian access and circulation areas;
 Internal courtyard;
 Roof terraces/gardens; and
 Pedestrian link from New Swan Yard to Crooked Lane.

The approved works shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to 
the completion of the development or the first occupation of any of the residential units or 
opening of the multi-storey car park, whichever is sooner.

Reason To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and to ensure a 
satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in accordance with Policies 
CS19 and CS20 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014)

Soft Landscaping Scheme 

20 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, a scheme detailing the proposed soft landscaping shall be submitted to 
and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the 
type and species of planting to be carried out, to include their quantity and size as well as 
arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft landscaping scheme shall be 
carried out in full during the first available planting season following first occupation of the 
development. Any trees or plants that die, are damaged, removed or become diseased 
within five years from the date that the development is first brought into use shall be 
replaced with a species of a similar size and species during the next available planting 
season. 

Reason To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests of the 
visual amenity of the development, in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Formation of Parking Spaces

21 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, the vehicle parking areas shown on the approved plans shall be 
formed, surfaced, drained and marked out in accordance with a scheme first to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, 
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country (General Permitted 

Page 149



Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any provision equivalent to it in 
any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order, with or without 
modification, no development shall be carried out on the site in such a manner or in such 
a position as to preclude the use of or access to the reserved vehicle parking and turning 
areas. For the avoidance of doubt this includes the multi-storey car park.

Reason To ensure sufficient off street car parking provision is available to serve the development, 
in accordance with Policy CS11 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 
2014) and saved Policy P3 of Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994).

Allocation and safeguarding of parking spaces

22 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, a strategy for the allocation and safeguarding of parking spaces for the 
occupiers of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The approved strategy and measures to safeguard the use of the 
spaces shall be implemented and maintained thereafter. 

Reason In order to ensure an acceptable standard of development upon completion, in 
accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

External Lighting

23 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, details of all proposed external lighting shall be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall thereafter 
be carried out in accordance with these approved details and no additional external 
lighting shall be provided on the site. For the avoidance of doubt this shall include details 
of the pedestrian route from New Swan Yard to Crooked Lane, the multi-storey car park, 
Bank Street and Market Alley.

Reason In order to ensure the development does not cause harm to residential amenity by 
reason of the installation of intrusive lighting and in accordance Policy CS19 Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Cycle Storage

24 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, details of the proposed cycle storage facilities shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved cycle storage 
facilities shall be provided prior to first occupation of the development and thereafter be 
retained for such purposes at all times.

Reason In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policy P3 of 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994).

Refuse arrangements

25 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, details of the refuse arrangements shall be submitted to and approved 

Page 150



in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted details shall ensure adequate 
provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste and security 
arrangements for the refuse stores. The approved refuse arrangements shall be provided 
prior to first occupation of the development and thereafter be retained for such purposes 
at all times. 

Reason In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area in the 
interest of amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: 
Core Strategy (September 2014).

Electric Charging Points

26 Prior to the first use of the multi-storey car park hereby approved details for provision of 
cabling to enable charging facilities to be installed for electric vehicles for the future 
occupants and public of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the first use of the multi-storey car park hereby 
approved to which the cabling applies. 

Reason To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable modes of 
transport, and in accordance with Policy CS11, CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Sound Insulation 

27 Prior to the first occupation of the apartments, a sound insulation assessment shall be 
carried out, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Assessment shall include details of the assessment methodology and of the substantially 
enhanced sound insulation performance of the construction that separates the residential 
and multi-storey car park which shall resist the transmission of airborne sound such that 
the weighted standardised difference (DnT, W + Ctr) is not less than 53 decibels (i.e. an 
enhancement of the minimum levels stated in the Building Regulations of 10dB). 

Any works identified as being required in order to achieve a weighted standardised 
difference of not less than 53 decibels as required above shall be implemented and 
evidence provided (if necessary, by way of a further sound insulation assessment report) 
for approval by the Local Authority prior to first occupation.

Reason In order to protect the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

Details of balconies and balustrades

28 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, details of the balconies and balustrades for the development shall 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details of the 
balcony shall include information on how future occupiers will have sufficient privacy 
when using the balconies and to protect the privacy of surrounding properties. The 
approved details shall be provided prior to first occupation of the development and 
thereafter be retained for such purposes at all times. 

Page 151



Reason In order to ensure an acceptable standard of development upon completion, in 
accordance with adopted Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Bat/Bird roosting opportunities

29 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, a scheme for providing bat/bird roosting opportunities at the site shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the residential units or 
use of the multi-storey car park hereby permitted.

Reason In order to enhance the biodiversity of the site in accordance with adopted Local Plan 
Core Strategy Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Crooked Lane link

30 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, details of a timetable for the opening of the pedestrian link from New 
Swan yard to Crooked Lane shall be shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved timetable shall then be implemented.

Reason In order to facilitate safe and commodious pedestrian movements between the 
development site and the adjacent St. Andrews Gardens and in accordance with adopted 
Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Management Plan

31 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, a management plan to ensure the long-term management and 
maintenance of all public realm and other areas with public amenity function within the 
ownership and/or management of the applicant shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The said management plan shall contain details 
of a mechanism to ensure that sufficient resources are made available to provide for the 
maintenance of the public realm in accordance with the approved strategy for the lifetime 
of the development. For the avoidance of doubt the said management plan shall include 
details of the maintenance regime to be applied in relation to:

(a) Hard and soft landscaping;
(b) The maintenance of the surface water drainage systems;
(c) Public car parking areas and external lighting;
(d) The cleansing of public areas (including the removal of litter and graffiti); and
(e) All internal and external internal communal spaces.

The approved management plan shall then be implemented in full prior to any part of the 
permitted development being occupied or used. 

Reason To secure measures for the long term management and maintenance of the public areas 
to ensure the development is of a satisfactorily high design standard during its lifetime 
and in accordance with adopted Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Page 152



Car parking management plan

32 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, a car parking management plan shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. This document should include arrangements for 
managing the private residential car parking spaces and public spaces within the multi-
storey car park to ensure they are used as efficiently as possible. The car parking 
serving the development shall thereafter be managed and operated in accordance with 
the approved management plan.

Reason To ensure the most effective and efficient management of the available private car 
parking spaces and in accordance with adopted Local Plan Core Strategy Policies CS11  
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Deliveries and servicing the proposed development

33 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, details and arrangements for deliveries and servicing the proposed 
development, shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority and shall thereafter be implemented as approved. The servicing strategy shall 
include the following:

(a) Details for the servicing of the residential apartments, communal spaces and the 
multi-storey car park to be provided as part of the development, to have regard to the 
phased delivery of the development and interim arrangements required until such time as 
the whole development is built out and operating;

(b) Details as to how existing properties will be serviced during the construction of the 
development and once it has been built out (if this differs).

Reason To ensure acceptable delivery and servicing arrangements to enable the efficient 
operation of the development and to minimise any potential impacts on the road network 
and existing properties and businesses and in accordance with adopted Local Plan Core 
Strategy Policies CS11 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014). 

Travel Plan

34 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, the applicant shall prepare and submit for the approval of the Local 
Planning Authority a final Travel Plan generally in accordance with the Framework Travel 
Plan submitted with this application. The Travel Plan shall include, amongst other things, 
the appointment of a Travel Plan Co-ordinator and the plan shall be monitored at yearly 
intervals; the measures approved in the Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details or any changes subsequently made under its monitoring review 
process.

Reason In accordance with adopted Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Obscure Glazing

Page 153



35 Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, a schedule and details of all windows within the development to be 
obscure glazed (and where applicable fixed shut) shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority and shall thereafter be implemented as 
approved. For the avoidance of doubt any obscure windows shall be glazed with obscure 
glass to a level equivalent to Pilkington Level 3 or above (or the nearest equivalent 
standard) and shall be permanently retained as such. All fixed shut windows shall be 
permanently retained as such.

Reason To protect the amenity and privacy of adjoining properties and in accordance with Policy 
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Prior to Installation 

Plant equipment

36 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and application form prior to 
the installation of plant equipment details of services and plant systems, including roof 
top plant, lift overruns shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details shall include the siting, external appearance and any 
proposed screening.  The works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details, to be completed prior to first occupation of the building to which it 
relates.

Reason In the interest of the amenities of neighbouring properties and the area generally and in 
accordance with Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

On-going Conditions 

Infiltration of surface water drainage

37 No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by 
mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019).

Watching brief

38 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this 
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with paragraph 170 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Piling

Page 154



39 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be 
permitted other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority, 
which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated by a 
piling risk assessment that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with paragraph 170 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Dishes/telecommunication 

40 No satellite antenna, apparatus or plant of any sort (including structures or plant in 
connection with the use of telecommunication systems or any electronic communications 
apparatus) shall be erected on the site or roof/wall of the development hereby approved.

Reason In the interests of the visual amenity of the development and in accordance with Policy 
CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Generators

41 The diesel generators shall only be used for emergencies only and for testing purposes 
only.

Reason In order to protect the amenity of the occupants of the development and the neighbouring 
properties and in accordance with Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2019, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment and 
determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has worked 
pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the 
Development Plan for the area.

2 REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS

Pursuant to Articles 35 (1) and (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the requirements of 
conditions 3,4,5,6,7,8 and 9  (including the timing of compliance) are so fundamental to the 
development permitted that such details must be submitted prior to the works commencing on site.  
Due to the importance attached to these details, it is reasonable and necessary to seek full 
approval in advance of works commencing. The applicant has agreed in writing on 16th September 
to all the pre-commencement conditions.

3 DISCHARGING CONDITION (CONSULTATION) 

Page 155



For the avoidance of doubt when the applicant applies to discharge conditions 3, 4, 7, 8, 15, 19, 
20, 28 and 35 the Local Planning Authority will consult surrounding residential properties. 

4 DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS

It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as a 'material' 
change requiring a further application/permission.  In the event that any change is proposed, 
applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority as proceeding without the 
necessary permissions could nullify this permission.

5 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby approved is 
commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are obtained and 
that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement action 
being taken by the Highway Authority.

Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not look like 
roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 'highway land'. Some of this 
land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party owners. 
Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have 'highway rights' over the topsoil.
Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-
enquiries 

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every 
aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important for 
the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works 
prior to commencement on site.

6 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building 
Regulations or under any other enactment or provision.  Nor does it override any private rights 
which any person may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the provisions 
of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.

7 UTILITIES

It should not be automatically assumed that permission will be given for utility services to be placed 
within the public highway, and early contact should be made with Kent County Council at 
roadworkswest@kent.gov.uk.  This will enable a proper consideration of available options in order 
that the optimum solution can be determined.

8 NAMING & NUMBERING 

As a result of the proposal, it appears that a change has to be made to the national property 
gazetteer.  It is a legal requirement that a property or premises is registered.
The Naming and Numbering Certificate, when issued, will reduce location or delivery problems via 
Royal Mail or other carriers, and importantly for the Police, Ambulance, and Fire & Rescue 
services.  Registration is also necessary to register to vote, for utility connections, and will avoid 
duplicate addresses.

Page 156



The Naming and Numbering service is provided by the Borough Council.  The on-line form is 
available at the Planning/House Numbering page of the council's web-site 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/street-naming.  Please submit the application and the requisite fee in 
accordance with the guidance on the form.

9 SOUTHERN WATER

A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order to service 
this development, please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, 
Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk.
Please read their New Connections Services Charging Arrangements documents which has now 
been published and is available to read on their website via the following link 
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges.

10 PILING

Piling can result in risks to groundwater quality by mobilising contamination when boring through 
different bedrock layers and creating preferential pathways. Thus it should be demonstrated that 
any proposed piling will not result in contamination of groundwater. If Piling is proposed, a Piling 
Risk Assessment must be submitted, written in accordance with the Environment Agency guidance 
document "Piling and Penetrative Ground Improvement Methods on Land Affected by 
Contamination: Guidance on Pollution Prevention. National Groundwater & Contaminated Land 
Centre report NC/99/73".

11 DISCHARGING CONDITION 14

For the avoidance of doubt when the applicant applies to discharge condition 13 (Noise mitigation 
scheme) consideration will need to be taken into account to the details required for condition 15 
(Section details) and condition 16 (Section details).

12 DRAINAGE/SEWERAGE

The foul sewage shall be removed by means of the mains drainage system and not by the use of 
non-mains sewerage systems, unless connection to the drainage system is not reasonably 
practicable.  If foul sewage is to be removed using non-mains sewerage systems, a sewage 
treatment plant or septic tank system will be considered in preference to a cesspool.  Such a 
system may require the prior consent of the Environment Agency under the terms of the Water 
Resources Act 1991.  Applicants are therefore advised to discuss their requirements with the 
Environment Agency at the earliest opportunity.  It should be ensured that the septic tank or 
cesspool is of adequate capacity to serve the proposed development and suitable access and 
hardstanding area shall be maintained to it on site.  

Dated: 

Civic Centre
Windmill Street
Gravesend
Kent
DA12 1AU

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

Page 157



NOTIFICATION TO APPLICANT

APPEALS TO THE SECRETARY OF STATE

 If you are aggrieved by the decision of your Local Planning Authority to refuse permission 
for the proposed development or to grant it subject to conditions, then you can appeal to 
the Secretary of State under Section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

 If this is a householder application* which has been refused and you want to appeal 
against your Local Planning Authority’s decision then you must do so within 12 weeks of 
the date of this notice.

 For all other applications, refused or permitted, if you want to appeal against your Local 
Planning Authority’s decision then you must do so within 6 months of the date of this notice.

 Appeals must be made using a form which you can obtain from the Planning 
Inspectorate at Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol BS1 6PN; 
telephone: 0303 444 5000; email: enquiries@pins.gsi.gov.uk or online at 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/pcs.

 The Secretary of State can allow a longer period for giving notice of an appeal, but he will 
not normally be prepared to use this power unless there are special circumstances which 
excuse the delay in giving notice of appeal.

 The Secretary of State need not consider an appeal if it seems to him that the Local 
Planning Authority could not have granted planning permission for the proposed 
development or could not have granted it without the conditions they imposed, having 
regard to the statutory requirements, to the provisions of any development order and to any 
directions given under a development order.

 In practice, the Secretary of State does not refuse to consider appeals solely because the 
Local Planning Authority based their decision on a direction given by him.

*Householder applications

These are:

(a) applications for planning permission for development of an existing dwellinghouse, or 
development within the curtilage of such a dwellinghouse for any purpose incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwellinghouse, or

(b) an application for any consent, agreement or approval required by or under a planning 
permission, development order or local development order in relation to such development 

but does not include – 

(i) an application for change of use; 
(ii) an application to change the number of dwellings in a building. 

PURCHASE NOTICES

If either the Local Planning Authority or the Secretary of State for the Environment refuses 
permission to develop land or grants it subject to conditions, the owner may claim that he/she can 
neither put the land to a reasonably beneficial use in its existing state nor can he/she render the 
land capable of a reasonably beneficial use by the carrying out of any development which has 
been or would be permitted.

Page 158



In these circumstances, the owner may serve a purchase notice on the Council (District Council, 
London Borough Council or Common Council of the City of London) in whose area the land is 
situated.  This notice will require the Council to purchase his interest in the land in accordance with 
the provisions of Part VI of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

COMPENSATION

In certain circumstances compensation may be claimed from the Local Planning Authority if 
permission is refused or granted subject to conditions by the Secretary of State on appeal or on 
reference of the application to him.

These circumstances are set out in Sections 114 and related provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



DRR2 – Delegated Report V2

PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT

Application Ref: 20200561

Site Address: Former St Johns Ambulance, Brigade H Q, Armoury Drive, Gravesend

Application 
Description:

Demolition of vacant brick buildings and erection of 2 no. one 
bedroom bungalows and a two storey block containing 4 no. two 
bedroom flats with associated access from Albert Murray Close and 
Armoury Drive, car parking, landscaped amenity and ancillary 
enclosures.

Applicant: Gravesham Borough Council

Agent: Ms Anna Kadziolka, BPTW

Ward: Central

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 30 October 2020; Extension of time until 27 November 2020

Publicity expiry date: 24 July 2020

Decision Level: Planning Committee - 16 December 2020

Reason for referral: The Council are the applicant.

Recommendation: PERMISSION subject to conditions
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

The proposal is to demolish the existing buildings and erect 2 no. one bedroom bungalows and 
a two storey block containing 4 no. two bedroom flats with associated access from Albert 
Murray Close and Armoury Drive, car parking, landscaped amenity and ancillary enclosures.

The application site is located within a residential housing estate close to the town centre.  It is 
also adjacent to the Windmill Hill Conservation Area.  Christ Church Crescent and Christ Church 
Road lie to the south of the site and contain predominantly late 19th century two storey terraced 
dwellings.

The properties surrounding the north and east of the site are of a 1990s construction and the 
proposed development is considered in keeping with these.  The pattern of development 
creates a good relationship between the surrounding dwellings.  The properties within the 
Conservation Area back onto the site however there is a clear distinction between the two 
areas and therefore the development is not considered to have a significant impact on the 
character and appearance of the adjoining Conservation Area.

Page 161 Agenda Item 5b



Page 2 of 23

The proposed development due to lower roof heights and land level differences will have no 
significant impact on surrounding properties in terms of amenity and no concerns are raised 
with regards to parking or highway safety.

Conditions to ensure no net loss of biodiversity occurs are recommended

This development proposal is considered to be compliant with the relevant policies in the 
Council’s adopted Core Strategy, the relevant saved policies contained in the First Review and 
accords with National policy and guidance. Planning Permission, subject to the imposition of 
appropriate conditions is recommended accordingly. 

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1.       Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 The application site is an irregular L shaped plot of land of some 0.127 hectares.  It is not 
in current use, and includes 2 buildings at the western edge, and an access drive extends 
to the vehicular access point on Armoury Drive to the east.  There are also pedestrian 
accesses to the nearby Parrock Street and Trinity Road.  The site is overgrown, with a mix 
of green areas and hardstanding. Ground levels fall across the site to the east, where there 
is also a short slope rising to the rear of properties in Christchurch Crescent.  There are 
three mature trees at the western edge of the site which are subject to a Tree Preservation 
Order. 

1.2 The site is adjoined by two storey semi detached dwellings on Albert Murray and Armoury 
Drive to the north and north east (on similar or lower ground levels), and mainly by terrace 
son Christchurch Crescent to the south (on slightly higher ground levels).  Adjoining the 
south eastern corner is the recently extended and converted Former Barracks.
  

1.3 The character of the area is generally two storey terraces and detached dwellings, most 
with off road parking. The application site is located within a residential housing estate 
close to the town centre.  It is also adjacent to the Windmill Hill Conservation Area.  Christ 
Church Crescent and Christ Church Road lie to the south of the site and contain late 19th 
century two storey terraced dwellings.

1.2 The site forms part of the Milton Barracks and the buildings on it are of historic interest.  
The Kent Historic Environment Record notes them:

Several buildings remaining from the Milton barracks complex, now mainly a housing 
estate. 3 buildings are an armoury, water tank and part of an enclosure wall (1860) and the 
officer’s mess, (c. 1936) with some traces of the internal barracks road network.

1.3 The whole barracks site was built in the early 1860s and used as a military site until the 
1990s when it was redeveloped for residential use.  The application site was then used as 
a depot by the St John Ambulance and has remained vacant and overgrown since 2014.

2.       Submitted Documents/Plans

2.1 The application comprises the following documents and plans:

Application form received 18 June 2020.

Page 162



Page 3 of 23

Design and Access Statement received 18 June 2020.
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal received 18 June 2020.
Preliminary Investigation Report, associated maps and photos received 18 June 2020.
Heritage Statement received 18 June 2020.
Bat Emergence Survey Report received 12 August 2020.
Aerial photo received 25 August 2020.
Tree Preservation Order details received 21 August 2020.
Drawing nos 
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2211 rev P02 received 14 October 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0107 rev P01 (proposed site layout block plan) received 25 
August 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2005 rev P01 (existing and proposed elevation comparison) 
received 25 August 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2211 rev P01 (site sections) received 25 August 2020.
AMD-BPTW-XX-00-DR-A-0106 rev P01 (existing tree indicated for removal) received 25 
August 2020.
AMD-BPTW-XX-00-DR-A-0001 (site location plan) received 18 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0101 rev P03 (proposed site layout) received 18 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0100 rev P01 (existing site plan) received 18 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-ST-A-5601 rev P03 (vehicle and pedestrian access strategy) 
received 18 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0103 rev P02 (proposed site layout – roof plan) received 18 
June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-01-ZZ-DR-A-1701 rev P02 (flats floor plan layouts) received 18 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0102 rev P02 (proposed site layout first floor) received 18 
June 2020.
 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-ST-A-5901 rev P03 (refuse strategy) received 18 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0105 rev P01 (proposed site layout) received 18 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-02-ZZ-DR-A-1702 rev P04 (bungalows floor plan layout) received 18 June 
2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2003 rev P01 (bungalows front and rear elevations) received 
19 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2002 rev P01 (flats side elevations) received 19 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2001 rev P01 (flats front and rear elevations) received 19 
June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2210 rev P01 (proposed site section) received 19 June 2020.
AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2004 rev P01 (bungalows side elevations) received 19 June 
2020.
AMD-BPTW-XX-ZZ-DR-A-2201 (existing site elevations) received 19 June 2020.
9329/1 (topographical survey) received 19 June 2020.

3.       Relevant Planning History

3.1 None relevant for this site.

4.       Development Plan

            Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):

 Policy CS01: Sustainable Development 
 Policy CS02: Scale and Distribution
 Policy CS10: Physical and Social Infrastructure

Page 163



Page 4 of 23

 Policy CS11: Transport
 Policy CS12: Green Infrastructure 
 Policy CS14: Housing Type and Style 
 Policy CS15: Housing Density
 Policy CS18: Climate Change 
 Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles
 Policy CS20: Heritage and the Historic Environment

4.1 Paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) sets out those policies 
within adopted local plans should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at 
least once every five years, and should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are 
also a legal requirement as set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) England Regulations 2012.

4.2 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and The review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02 due 
to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the 
need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved policies from 
the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019), the Council will also seek to replace these saved policies via the 
emerging Local Plan.

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):

• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• T1 – Impact of Development on Highway Network
• TC3 – Development Affecting Conservation Areas

5.      Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

•           Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
•           Section 4 – Decision-making
•           Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
•           Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
•           Section 11 – Making effective use of land
•           Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
•           Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
• Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance

 Kent Design Guide (SPG 5 published December 2005, adopted July 2006) 
 Kent Vehicle Parking Standards (SPG 4 published in 2003 and adopted in 2006) 
 GBC Residential Layout Guidelines (SPG2 February 1996) 
 Housing Standards Policy Statement 1st October 2015 
 Technical Housing Standards - Nationally Described Space Standards
 National Planning Practice Guidance
 Windmill Hill Conservation Character Appraisal

6.      Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Page 164



Page 5 of 23

Environment Agency

We do not have any objections to the proposal subject to the following conditions being 
applied to any planning permission granted.  

The previous use of the proposed development site presents a medium risk of residual 
contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute controlled waters. 
Controlled waters are sensitive in this location because the proposed development site is 
located upon Principal aquifer overlain by a Secondary aquifer and is in a Source 
Protection Zone. 

The Preliminary Risk Assessment report submitted with this application indicates a low to 
moderate risk, however given the underlying chalk aquifer and Source Protection Zone 1 
setting the risks may be higher. It is our opinion that it would place an unreasonable burden 
on the developer to ask for more detailed information prior to the granting of planning 
permission, but respect that this is a decision for the Local Planning Authority. 

In light of the above, the proposed development will be acceptable if a planning condition is 
included requiring the submission of a land contamination strategy, carried out by a 
competent person in line with paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Without  these conditions we would object to the proposal in line with paragraph 170 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework because it cannot be guaranteed that the 
development will not be put at unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of water pollution. 

Condition:

No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a remediation 
strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site has been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the 
following components: 

1.  A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
- all previous uses; 
- potential contaminants associated with those uses; 
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; and 
potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

(NB the submitted Soils Ltd report fulfils this part alone )

2.  A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 

3.  The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in 
(2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of 
the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

4.  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance 
and arrangements for contingency action. 

Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning 

Page 165



Page 6 of 23

authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in 
line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Condition:

Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied a verification report 
demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and 
the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the 
local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried 
out in accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site 
remediation criteria have been met. 

Reason:  To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the 
water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification 
plan have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Condition:

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 
site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this 
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Condition:
 

No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

Condition:

Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be 
given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated by a piling risk 
assessment that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning 

Page 166



Page 7 of 23

Policy Framework. 

The CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice (version 2) 
provides operators with a framework for determining whether or not excavated material 
arising from site during remediation and/or land development works are waste or have 
ceased to be waste. Under the Code of Practice excavated materials that are recovered 
via a treatment operation can be re-used on-site providing they are treated to a standard 
such that they fit for purpose and unlikely to cause pollution treated materials can be 
transferred between sites as part of a hub and cluster project some naturally occurring 
clean material can be transferred directly between sites. 

Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised 
both chemically and physically, and that the permitting status of any proposed on site 
operations are clear. If in doubt, the Environment Agency should be contacted for advice at 
an early stage to avoid any delays. 

The Environment Agency recommends that developers should refer to the Position 
statement on the Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice and the 
Environmental regulations page on GOV.UK.  

GBC Regulatory Services

Contaminated Land

No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a contaminated 
land assessment (in accordance with the CLEA guidelines and CLR 11 methodology) and 
if necessary an associated remedial strategy, together with a timetable of works, being 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval.

a)  An intrusive site investigation, based on the findings and recommendations of the 
Preliminary Investigation Report from Soils Limited dated August 2019 Ref 17753/PIR_R26 
shall be carried out by a suitably qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in 
accordance with a Quality Assured sampling and analysis methodology.

b)  A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site, together 
with the results of analysis, risk assessment to any receptors and a proposed remediation 
strategy shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  The Local Planning Authority 
shall approve such remedial works as required prior to any remediation commencing on 
site.  The works shall be of such a nature so as to render harmless the identified 
contamination given the proposed end-use of the site and surrounding environment 
including any controlled waters.

c) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a quality assurance 
scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed methodology and best practice 
guidance).  If during any works contamination is encountered which has not previously 
been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an 
appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the Local Planning Authority.

d)  Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be discharged until a closure 
report has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The closure 
report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and the quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in accordance with the 
approved methodology.  Details of any post remediation sampling and analysis to show the 
site has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the closure report 

Page 167



Page 8 of 23

together with the necessary documentation detailing what waste materials have been 
removed from the site.

e)  Where applicable, a monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the 
long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over an agreed period of time, and the 
provision of reports on the same, must be prepared and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.

Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme, and when the remediation 
objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the 
monitoring and maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the local 
planning authority.

Drainage

The foul sewage shall be removed by means of the mains drainage system and not by the 
use of non-mains sewerage systems, unless connection to the drainage system is not 
reasonably practicable.  If foul sewage is to be removed using non-mains sewerage 
systems, a sewage treatment plant or septic tank system will be considered in preference 
to a cesspool.  Such a system may require the prior consent of the Environment Agency 
under the terms of the Water Resources Act 1991.  Applicants are therefore advised to 
discuss their requirements with the Environment Agency at the earliest opportunity.  It 
should be ensured that the septic tank or cesspool is of adequate capacity to serve the 
proposed development and suitable access and hardstanding area shall be maintained to it 
on site.  

Electric Vehicle Charging Point(s)

This Service would wish to see the inclusion of suitable electric vehicle charging facilities at 
the proposed dwellings in support of the Council’s commitment to become carbon neutral 
by 2030.

Smoke Control

The property is located with the smoke control area and we would therefore ask for the 
following Informative to be included:

The proposed development is situated in a smoke control area.  As such, only authorised 
smokeless fuels as listed in the Smoke Control Areas (Authorised Fuels) Regulations 1991 
shall be burnt or fireplaces/appliances exempted by Smoke Control (Exempted Fireplaces) 
Orders shall be utilised.  Exempt appliances are appliances (ovens including pizza and 
tandoori ovens, wood burners and stoves) which have been exempted by Statutory 
Instruments (Orders) under the Clean Air Act 1993. These have passed tests to confirm 
that they are capable of burning an unauthorised or inherently smoky solid fuel without 
emitting smoke. They must be fitted and used according to manufacturer’s instructions and 
they can only be used for the fuel for which they are designed.

 
When purchasing fuels and fireplaces the applicant should clarify with the vendor their 
suitability with respect to use in Smoke Control Areas. For further information, including 
confirmation that an appliance and/or fuel is suitable for use in a smoke control area, the 
applicant should contact the Council’s Regulatory Services by emailing: 
air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk

Code of Practice on Construction and Demolition

Page 168

mailto:air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk


Page 9 of 23

Please apply

KCC Archaeology

On the basis of the information that is available (including the informal response from 
Historic England) that the tower could be argued to be of local or regional significance. In 
weighing up the benefits of the proposed development against the retention of the water 
tower I could see it being argued that the development is the more important, socially and 
economically. I would like to have seen consideration for the incorporation of the tower into 
the development of the site but that does not seem to have been an option.

The ability to record the water tower should not be seen as a justification for its loss but 
certainly if it is to be demolished then it will need detailed archaeological recording before 
demolition. This historic building recording work and below-ground archaeological 
recording at the site could be secured by use of conditions and I recommend the following:

AR7    No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of a programme of building recording in accordance 
with a written specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that historic building features are properly examined and recorded.

And

AR1    No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in 
title, has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written specification and timetable which has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and 
recorded.

GBC Highway Development Management Officer

The proposal is for small units with car parking that complies with car parking standards. It 
would be useful to have secure and weatherproof storage for 6 bicycles, but given the tight 
nature of the development and the proximity of the town centre they may not be required.

Neighbouring Properties 

The application has been advertised by site notice, press notice and individual letters to 40 
properties.  18 letters of representation have been received.  Main concerns:

- Noise and disturbance
- Impact on local wildlife
- Lighting
- Restricted access during construction
- The bungalows are two storey, concerns regarding the flexible living space
- Loss of privacy, light and amenity
- Overdevelopment / Density too high
- Bats in the water tower

Page 169



Page 10 of 23

- Too close to rear of Christchurch Crescent
- Detrimental to the Conservation Area
- Cramped living conditions
- Loss of open views
- Involves demolition of buildings of interest
- Concerns regarding the build process due to proximity to neighbours
- Bin storage adjacent to residential properties and vermin issues
- Loss of green space
- Impact on public services
- Rights to light and impact on sunlight (rights to light is a private matter)
- Potential loss of trees

One letter of support has been received stating that the derelict buildings are an eyesore 
and raise no objection provided that the planned development is in keeping with the 
character of the area which borders the Conservation Area.

7.       Planning Analysis

7.1 Proposal 

This application seeks planning permission for the demolition of structures on site and the 
construction of two detached bungalows and a block of four flats with private amenity 
space and associated parking.  The brick boundary wall to the west will be retained as well 
as the trees along this boundary.

The block of flats will be approx. 21m wide and 11.6m deep.  It will be 7.7m high.  At 
ground floor there will be 2no. two bedroom flats, and the lower level comprising 
kitchen/diner to the 2no. two bedrooms maisonettes.  At first floor there will be two 
bedrooms and a living room to each of the maisonettes.  Each of the flats will have an area 
of outside space to the rear and parking spaces to the front.

The bungalows will be approx. 10.9m deep and 7m wide.  They will be 6.5m high at the 
highest point and will have offset dual pitched roofs (i.e. – not sharing a ridge line, but 
comprised of mono pitches at different heights).  Internally there will be a bedroom, 
bathroom, kitchen/living/dining room at ground floor and a flexible living space at first floor.  
They will have rear gardens and an off road parking space for each dwelling.

A section of the enclosure wall has recently been rebuilt to the southern boundary and the 
proposal will be to extend this section to the southwest corner to the same specification to 
complete the boundary edge.

Vehicle access to the easternmost house will be to a parking space fronting Armoury Drive, 
and otherwise access to the remaining dwellings and further 6 car parking spaces will be 
via an extended carriageway on Albert Murray Close.

7.2 Principle of Development / Housing Need

The site is not currently in residential use, and has been in abeyance for an extended 
period of time.  Given the very particular function of the prior use, and the constraints of the 
unusually shaped site and its residential surroundings, no objection is raised to the principle 
of residential use on the site.  In regard to housing need, Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the 
Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) 

Page 170



Page 11 of 23

and finds that there is a need for at least 6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence 
now available shows that the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply. 
This engages the first part of footnote 7 of the NPPF (2019) and this means for decision-
taking that planning permission for applications involving the provision of housing should be 
granted in line with the requirements of the NPPF (2019) Para 11(d) unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed. 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

The proposed development for a net increase of 6 dwellings would offer a useful, but 
minimal contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, officers considers 
that this should be accorded minimal weight in support of the application. However, this has 
to be balanced against other requirements of the NPPF (2019)  and in particular paragraph 
127, 130 and 133 -  of the NPPF (2019)  which requires development to be add to the 
overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and create 
acceptable amenity for future occupiers.  

7.3 Character and Appearance

The application site is located within a residential housing estate close to the town centre.  
It is also adjacent to the Windmill Hill Conservation Area.  Christ Church Crescent and 
Christ Church Road lie to the south of the site and contain late 19th century two storey 
terraced dwellings.

The site forms part of the Milton Barracks and the buildings on it are of historic interest.  
The Kent Historic Environment Record notes them:

Several buildings remaining from the Milton barracks complex, now mainly a housing 
estate. 3 buildings are an armoury, water tank and part of an enclosure wall (1860) and the 
officer’s mess, (c. 1936) with some traces of the internal barracks road network.

The whole barracks site was built in the early 1860s and used as a military site until the 
1990s when it was redeveloped for residential use.  The application site was then used as 
a depot by the St John Ambulance and has remained vacant and overgrown since 2014.

The proposed development will result in two bungalows on the narrower strip of land to the 
west and a block of four flats to the east.  There will be off road parking and private garden 
spaces for each dwelling.  To the west of the site is a historic wall which is being retained.  
There will be a small part that will need to be rebuilt where the current building forms the 
boundary and will be demolished.  The wall shall be rebuilt to match the existing and a 
condition can be imposed to ensure this.

The trees to the western boundary are protected by a Tree Preservation Order and will not 
be affected by the construction of the proposed scheme.  A condition is recommended that 
tree protection measures are put in place during construction.

The proposal reflects the local vernacular outside of the Conservation Area and will not be 
readily visible from Christ Church Gardens.  The closest dwellings were built in the 1990s 
are similar but not uniform with low eaves and low horizontal roof planes.  The proposed 
scheme seeks to maintain a continuity of an active frontage and therefore a relationship 

Page 171



Page 12 of 23

between the existing and proposed dwellings by aligning the properties.  The proposed flat 
building is of a similar form and the bungalows are of a modern design.  This design 
approach is not considered out of character with these more modern surrounding 
dwellings.  The properties within the Conservation Area back onto the site however there is 
a clear distinction between the two areas and therefore the development is not considered 
to have a significant impact on the character and appearance of the adjoining Conservation 
Area.  Full details of materials have been provided and can be controlled by condition.

Policy CS15 expects new residential development to achieve a minimum density of 40 
dwellings per hectare.  The proposed development is approx. 46 dwellings per hectare and 
therefore meets this criterion.  The surrounding houses to the northeast as a comparison 
are at a density of 55 dwellings per hectare.  The properties within the area are a mixture 
of type and size and the proposed properties reflect this character.  The proposal does not 
therefore represent overdevelopment, and is considered to accord with Policies CS14 and 
CS15 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

Archaeology

The site has been identified as a high potential for previously unrecorded military remains 
following an Archaeological Desk Based Assessment but no further remains were 
observed during a walkover survey.  A process to monitor the identification, assessment 
and recording of any remains found on the site will be undertaken as part of the 
construction phase and a record of the buildings origin and use prior to demolition 
completed.  This can be secured by condition.

The water tower on the site does have some historic interest, however, on consultation 
with Historic England, it was not felt worthy of listing.  On balance, it is considered that, 
providing the water tower is adequately recorded prior to its removal, no objection is raised.

The proposed development therefore accords in these regards with the objectives of 
Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 and Policy TC3 
of the Gravesham Local Plan 1994 and section 16 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019.

7.4 Amenity of Future Occupiers

Flats:

GFA actual/Housing 
Standards

Double bedrooms 
11.5sqm

Garden area 
37.2sqm

Plot 4 flat 2b, 
4p 

70.4sqm/61sqm Y 75sqm

Plot 3 flat 2b, 
4p

87.9sqm/70sqm Y 37sqm

Plot 2 flat 2b, 
4p

87.9sqm/70sqm Y 37sqm

Plot 1 flat 2b, 
4p

70.4sqm/61sqm Y 69sqm

Bungalows:

GFA actual/Housing 
Standards

Double bedrooms 
11.5sqm

Garden area 
37.2sqm, 7.6m 

Page 172



Page 13 of 23

depth
Plot 5 bungalow 
1b, 2p

70.4sqm/58sqm Y 90sqm, approx. 5.5m 
depth

Plot 6 bungalow 
1b, 2p

70.4sqm/58sqm Y 85sqm, approx. 5.5m 
depth

As can be seen from the table above, all the units meet the National Space Standards in 
terms of floor area and Gravesham’s Residential Layout Standards in terms of garden 
area.  The shortfall in regard to garden depth is not considered to be harmful, given the low 
level of buildings proposed, which would not lead to poor levels of outlook or privacy due to 
that limited depth.

It is acknowledged that the retention of the protected trees on the western boundary will 
have an effect on the use of the flat gardens, and upon the light reaching several rooms 
within those flats.  However, the gardens are of an adequate size, the accommodation 
exceeds the relevant internal space standards, and the main living spaces are not single 
aspect, so on balance the impact of the trees is not considered to be unduly limiting in 
regard to residential amenity.  The flats provide for satisfactory levels of privacy and 
outlook otherwise.

The levels of light, outlook and privacy within the detached dwellinghouses is considered to 
be satisfactory.  The rear gardens will be subject to a greater degree of overlooking than is 
typically seen, due to the short gardens, elevated land levels and angle of no.18 and 19 
Christchurch Gardens in particular.  However, subject to adequate landscape planting on 
the southern flank boundaries of the proposed gardens, adequate levels of privacy are 
considered to be able to be provided.  

7.5 Neighbouring Amenity

Internally within the development the distance between the plot 5 bungalow and the flats is 
less than 21m, at approx. 17.2m and therefore there is a level of overlooking.  There is also 
technically insufficient distance between the first floor windows of the ‘flexible’ space in the 
bungalows and the private outside space of the bungalows.  On balance, the spacing 
between the front window of Plot 5 and the flats is considered acceptable.  The rear 
windows of the flexible space can be fitted with obscure glass and fixed shut in order to 
avoid mutual overlooking of the rear gardens.  This can be controlled by condition.  There 
are rooflights in the southern flank.  Plan no. 2211 shows that the outlook from these 
windows is skywards and will not result in overlooking into rear windows or gardens of 
Christchurch Crescent.  

The houses in Christchurch Crescent are located to the south of the site.  These have 
small gardens bounded by brick walls.  The eastern bungalow (plot 6) will be single storey 
at approx. 3m in height at its closest edge, sloping up away from these properties.  The two 
storey element will be approx. 6.5m high and approx. 9m away from the rear first floor 
windows of no. 18.  The submitted section drawing shows that, due to the land level 
changes, any loss of outlook and daylight to these properties will not be significant.

Page 173



Page 14 of 23

No. 11 Christchurch Crescent is approx. 9.6m from the proposed two storey part of the 
western bungalow.  Again, the submitted section drawing shows that there will be some 
loss of outlook to ground floor windows but this will not be significant.

The proposed flats are approx. 12.8m from the first floor rear elevations of 1-9 Christchurch 
Crescent and therefore no concerns are raised with regards to loss of outlook.  The first 
floor roof will be pitched away from these properties and, due to the lower land level of the 
site, will not appear overly dominant.  There are no habitable room windows proposed 
facing these properties and therefore no concerns are raised with regards to loss of 
privacy.

6 Albert Murray Close is located to the north of the western bungalow (plot 5).  The single 
storey element is closest to this property.  No concerns are raised with regards to impact 
on amenity to this property.  

14 Albert Murray Close is located to the north of the application site.  The rear elevation will 
be over 11m away from the northern flank of the flats.  There are no habitable room 
windows proposed in this northern flank and therefore there will be no impact on privacy.  
The flats will be further away from this dwelling than the existing water tower and therefore 
will not have a significant impact on outlook from the rear windows of this property.  Due to 

Page 174



Page 15 of 23

the path of the sun there will be no significant loss of sunlight or daylight to this dwelling.

No. 106 Armoury Drive is located to the north of the eastern bungalow (plot 6).  The two 
storey element is to be built approx. 4.5m away from the southern flank of this property.  
Whilst the new building will be visible from this property it is not considered to result in any 
significant detrimental impact in terms of loss of outlook from bedroom windows to the rear, 
loss of sunlight, daylight or privacy.

Due to the path of the sun and the low height of the buildings proposed, any loss of 
sunlight or daylight is not considered significant.

The proposed development therefore accords with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy 2014 and para. 127f of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

7.6 Ecology and Biodiversity

Trees

There is a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) which runs along the western boundary of the 
site.  One tree on site is proposed to be removed shown as T4 on the plans and is an acer.  
This tree is however not covered by the TPO and therefore no objection is raised to its 
removal, subject to adequate replacement planting.  The Design and Access Statement 
states that the removed trees will be replaced on a 1:2 ratio and this can be controlled by 
condition to ensure no net loss of biodiversity.

Landscaping

No details have been provided of hard and soft landscaping and therefore a condition is 
required to ensure this is submitted at a sufficiently early stage.

Ecology and Biodiversity

A preliminary ecological appraisal has been undertaken and the site was assessed to be 
low to negligible ecological value.  There was low potential to support roosting bats, high 

Page 175



Page 16 of 23

potential to support nesting birds and low potential to support hedgehogs.  The report 
advises that a re-entry survey is recommended to confirm presence/likely absence of 
roosting bats and inform mitigation, compensation and enhancement actions.  It is also 
recommended that any clearance of vegetation on site should be undertaken outside of the 
nesting bird season (March-August inclusive).  This can be controlled by condition.  Bird 
and bat boxes and invertebrate features are proposed to be incorporated and this can be 
controlled by condition.

A further bat survey was commissioned as the preliminary appraisal identified low potential 
for roosting bats.  This survey was undertaken on 27 July 2020 and confirmed likely 
absence of roosting bats, moderate levels of bat commuting and foraging common 
pipistrelle and Nathusius’ pipistrelle and a single pass by a soprano pipistrelle and a 
noctule.  No further survey or formal mitigation actions are considered to be required, 
however enhancements to be implemented as part of the wider site development to 
improve opportunities of the site to both roosting, foraging and commuting bats post 
construction are encouraged.

The Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar site and Special Protection Area (SPA) are 
internationally important for nature conservation as the area is a wetland and supports 
important numbers of wintering waterbirds and migrating birds.  There has been a decline 
in the number of birds using these sites in recent years. Studies show that this could be 
due to people using the estuary and marshes for recreation purposes. The North Kent Bird 
Disturbance Report concludes that all new housing development within 6km of the North 
Kent Ramsar Sites or Special Protection Areas (including the Thames Estuary and 
Marshes) and larger housing development beyond 6km from the sites could have an 
adverse impact on them. This is because new housing development is likely to lead to 
further increases in recreational use of the sites which means that further declines in the 
bird population cannot be ruled out.  Possible mitigation measures are set out in the 
Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and Monitoring 
Strategy.  Having considered a number of options, the Council have decided to impose a 
tariff on new housing development. Developers will need to pay £250.39 for every new 
dwelling provided within 6km of the Ramsar site and SPA and for larger housing 
developments beyond 6km from them. The money raised will be used to pay for schemes 
to avoid the adverse impacts of new housing development on the birds. 

Whilst the development would not exert a significant impact in isolation upon the SPA, the 
applicant has paid a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures within Special 
Protection Areas, and therefore the development, subject to the above conditions, 
complies with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and Section 14 (specifically 
paragraphs 175 and 176) of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and Policy 
CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

7.7 Refuse

Details of reuse collection have been provided and are considered acceptable.  An 
informative is recommended reminding the applicant of the refuse requirements.

7.8 Parking and Highways

The proposal is for small units with car parking levels that complies with car parking 
standards.  There will be one visitor space in addition to the single parking space 
designated for each dwelling.  Secure and weatherproof storage for 6 bicycles will also be 
secured by condition. 

Page 176



Page 17 of 23

No objection is raised in terms of parking or highway safety.

The proposed development, subject to conditions, is therefore considered to comply with 
the objectives of Policy CS11 (LPCS) and Policies T1 and T5 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
1994.

8.       Conclusion

8.1 The proposed development, subject to conditions listed below, is not considered to have 
any significant detrimental impact on the character or appearance of the street scene or 
adjacent Conservation Area, neighbouring amenities, biodiversity, parking or highway 
safety and therefore accords with the abovementioned Policies and is recommended for 
approval. For the avoidance of doubt the agent has agreed to inclusion of pre-
commencement conditions.

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

RECOMMENDATION 

PERMSSION subject to conditions, reasons and informatives 

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:

Application form received 18 June 2020.
Design and Access Statement received 18 June 2020.
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal received 18 June 2020.
Preliminary Investigation Report, associated maps and photos received 18 June 2020.
Heritage Statement received 18 June 2020.
Bat Emergence Survey Report received 12 August 2020.
Aerial photo received 25 August 2020.
Tree Preservation Order details received 21 August 2020.
Drawing no AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2211 rev P02 received 14 October 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0107 rev P01 (proposed site layout block plan) 
received 25 August 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2005 rev P01 (existing and proposed elevation 
comparison) received 25 August 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2211 rev P01 (site sections) received 25 August 
2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-XX-00-DR-A-0106 rev P01 (existing tree indicated for 
removal) received 25 August 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-XX-00-DR-A-0001 (site location plan) received 18 June 2020.

Page 177



Page 18 of 23

Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0101 rev P03 (proposed site layout) received 18 
June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0100 rev P01 (existing site plan) received 18 
June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-ST-A-5601 rev P03 (vehicle and pedestrian access 
strategy) received 18 June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0103 rev P02 (proposed site layout – roof plan) 
received 18 June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-01-ZZ-DR-A-1701 rev P02 (flats floor plan layouts) received 
18 June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0102 rev P02 (proposed site layout first floor) 
received 18 June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-ST-A-5701 rev P03 (fire strategy) received 18 June 
2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-ST-A-5901 rev P03 (refuse strategy) received 18 June 
2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-0105 rev P01 (proposed site layout) received 18 
June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-02-ZZ-DR-A-1702 rev P04 (bungalows floor plan layout) 
received 18 June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2003 rev P01 (bungalows front and rear 
elevations) received 19 June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2002 rev P01 (flats side elevations) received 19 
June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2001 rev P01 (flats front and rear elevations) 
received 19 June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2210 rev P01 (proposed site section) received 19 
June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-ZZ-00-DR-A-2004 rev P01 (bungalows side elevations) 
received 19 June 2020.
Drawing no. AMD-BPTW-XX-ZZ-DR-A-2201 (existing site elevations) received 19 June 
2020.
Drawing no. 9329/1 (topographical survey) received 19 June 2020.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. No development shall commence until a plan is submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval showing a scheme of landscaping (hard and soft) and boundary treatment.  
The planting shall include two trees for every tree lost to the development including tree T4 
shown for removal on drawing AMD-BPTW-XX-00-DR-A-0106 .  All planting, seeding and 
turfing comprised in the approved scheme of landscaping shall be implemented during the 
first planting season following occupation of the buildings or completion of the 
development, whichever is the earlier.  Any trees or plants which within 5 years of planting 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless the Authority gives written 
consent to any variation.  The hard landscaping shall include details of the permeable drive 
surfaces.

Reason: To protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 127 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019).

4. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a remediation 

Page 178



Page 19 of 23

strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site has been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the 
following components: 

1.  A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
- All previous uses; 
- Potential contaminants associated with those uses; 
- A conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; and 
- Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 
NB the submitted Soils Ltd report fulfils this part alone 

2.  A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 

3.  The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in 
(2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of 
the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 

4.  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance 
and arrangements for contingency action. 

Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in 
line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

5. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied a verification report 
demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy and 
the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, by the 
local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried 
out in accordance with the approved verification plan to demonstrate that the site 
remediation criteria have been met. 

Reason:  To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health or the 
water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification 
plan have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

6. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 
site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this 
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 179



Page 20 of 23

7. No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

8. Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be 
given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated by a piling risk 
assessment that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

9. No development shall commence above ground until details of the facing materials 
including bricks, tiles, rainwater goods, windows and doors, to be used in the construction 
of the external surfaces of the dwelling hereby permitted shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:  To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory and without 
prejudice to conditions of visual amenity in the locality, in accordance with Policy CS19 of 
the Gravesham Local Core Strategy 2014.

10. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 Class A of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
provision equivalent to those Classes in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting 
that Order, with or without modification), no windows, doors or other openings (other than 
those shown on the approved plans) shall be formed at any time in either flank elevation of 
the detached dwellinghouses (Plots 5 & 6) hereby approved without the prior written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority having first been obtained.

Reason:  In order that any proposal to insert openings into the flank elevations of the 
dwelling shall be subject of a planning application that the Local Planning Authority would 
wish to determine on its merits, having particular regard to protecting the privacy and 
amenity of adjoining properties.

11 The bathroom windows shown in the flank walls at first floor of the flats (Plots 1 & 4) and 
the first floor rear windows of the detached dwellinghouses (Plots 5 and 6) shall be fitted 
with obscure glass (to a level at least equivalent to Level 3 on the Pilkington Scale) and, 
apart from any top-hung light above 1.7m above internal finished floor level, shall be non-
opening.  This work shall be carried out and completed before the rooms are occupied and 
shall be retained at all times thereafter.

Page 180



Page 21 of 23

Reason:  To ensure the development does not prejudice conditions of amenity by reason 
of unneighbourly overlooking in accordance with Polices CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014.

12 Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, AA, B, C and E of Part 1 of Schedule 2, 
Article 3 the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or 
any order amending, revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no 
development shall be carried out to the approved dwellinghouses (Plots 5 & 6) without the 
prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority having first been obtained .

Reason:  To enable the Local Planning Authority to control such development in the 
interests of amenity, in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Core Strategy 2014.

13. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, vision splays of 2.0m x 
2.0m shall be provided on both sides of the vehicular access points (excluding at the 
northern side of the vehicle access to Plot 6) and no obstruction of sight more than 0.6m 
above carriageway level shall be permitted within the splays thereafter.

Reason:  To safeguard highway safety in accordance with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

14. The vehicle parking areas shown Drawing no. 0105 rev P01 shall be formed, surfaced and 
drained prior to first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved.  Thereafter, 
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country (General Permitted Development) 
Order 2015 as amended, or any provision equivalent to it in any statutory instrument 
revoking and re-enacting that Order, no development shall be carried out on the site in 
such a manner or in such a position as to preclude the use of or access to the vehicle 
parking areas.

Reason: To ensure sufficient off street car parking provision to serve the development, in 
accordance with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

15. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of a programme of building recording in accordance with a 
written specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that historic building features are properly examined and recorded, in 
accordance with Policy CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

16. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with 
a written specification and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and 
recorded, in accordance with Policy CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Page 181



Page 22 of 23

17. Any repairs to the boundary wall to the west and south of the site shall be made using 
materials matching those that are in situ unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason:  To safeguard conditions of amenity in relation to the adjoining Conservation Area 
in accordance with Policy CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

18. Site clearance shall be undertaken outside of the bird nesting season (March to August 
inclusive).  

Reason:  In the interests of ecology and in accordance with the provisions set out under 
Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy.

19. In this Condition "retained tree" means an existing tree which is to be retained in 
accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs a) and b) below shall 
have effect until the expiration of 5 years from the date of occupation of the building for its 
permitted use. 

a) No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained tree 
be pruned other than in accordance with the approved plans and particulars.  Any 
pruning approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998 (Tree 
Work). 

b) If any retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree shall be
planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and species, and shall e 
planted at such time as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

c) The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shall be undertaken in 
accordance with British Standard 5837:2012 and details submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority before any equipment, machinery or materials are 
brought on to the site for the purposes of demolition and development, and shall be 
maintained until all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been removed 
from the site.  Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance 
with this Condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor 
shall any excavation be made without the written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality, in 
accordance with Policies CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy
2014.

20. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of ecological enhancement 
measures including bat and bird boxes have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be provided before the building 
is occupied and shall be thereafter be retained.

Reason: In the interests of ecology and in accordance with the provisions set out under 
Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy.

21. Prior to the installation of any external lighting on the site, details of such lighting shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Details shall include 
height, position, external appearance, any shielding, light intensity, colour, spillage (such 

Page 182



Page 23 of 23

as light contour or lux level plans showing the existing and proposed levels) together with a 
report to demonstrate its effect on the landscaping of the site (including an overlay of the 
proposed lighting onto the site landscaping plans), nearby residential properties, bats 
(including reference to the recommendations of the Bat Conservation Trust) and of how 
this effect has been minimised.  Any external lighting shall be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details.

Reason: In order to limit the impact of the lighting on the landscaping of the site, nearby 
residents and wildlife and with regard to Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2014.

22. Within three months of the commencement of development, details of secure, covered and 
accessible cycle storage facilities (comprising a minimum of 6 spaces) to serve the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved cycle storage facilities shall be provided prior to first occupation of the 
development and shall be retained for such purposes at all times thereafter.

Reason: In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Local 
Plan: Core Strategy Policy CS19.

INFORMATIVES

 Statement of positive and proactive approach to decision-making;
 Code of Construction Practice
 Reason for imposition of pre-commencement conditions;
 Deviation from approved plans;
 Building regulations and party wall act;

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A: Application Site plan

Reference 20200561

Address Former St Johns Ambulance, Brigade H Q, Armoury Drive, 
Gravesend

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20200343 - Land At Market Square And Horn Yard Car Parks New Swan Yard, Gravesend, Kent - Erection of 242 no. residential units for Build to Rent (C3 Use Class), within three blocks ranging from 3 to 10 storeys, together with multi-storey car park as well as access, pedestrian links, landscaping, highway and other associated works - report herewith
	Appendix A  20200343 - The Charter  (Site Plan)
	Appendix B
	Appendix C  2020.07.22b - Supplementary Committee Report
	Appendix D  2020.07.22c - Supplementary (Historic England Comments)
	Appendix E  2020.07.22d - Decisions Sheet
	Appendix F  2020.07.22e - Printed minutes (page 7 onwards)
	Appendix G - Full list of conditions (draft Decision Notice)

	5b 20200561 - Former St Johns Ambulance, Brigade H Q, Armoury Drive, Gravesend - Demolition of vacant brick buildings and erection of 2 no. one bedroom bungalows and a two storey block containing 4 no. two bedroom flats with associated access from Albert Murray Close and Armoury Drive, car parking, landscaped amenity and ancillary enclosure - report herewith
	20200561 - Former St Johns Ambulance Armoury Drive - Appendix A (Site Plan)


